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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHRS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Neway Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Year") to our shareholders.

Our Manufacturing and Sales Business faced different types of
headwinds in international and domestic market which directly
impacted to the performance of this business. To tackle these
difficulties, a series of restructuring exercise was adopted during the
Year through disciplined cost management, operational efficiencies,
and strategic investments in our Shenzhen manufacturing facilities.
Our proactive readjustment of our products and sales strategies
placed on different markets have positive impact over the revenue on
this business. The positive revenue trend and reduced losses reflect
meaningful progress.

Moving forward, we are focused on optimizing our cost structure,
expanding into high-margin product lines, and investing in
automation and digital printing technologies to align with global
environmental standards, reduce operating costs, and enhance
competitiveness.

The Property Development Business, centered on industrial buildings
in Qingyuan, the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"), faced
significant challenges in 2024 due to the ongoing slowdown in the
PRC’s real estate sector. Liquidity challenges and cautious investor
sentiment resulted in a loss for this segment. Demand for leasing
and sales of our industrial facilities, including logistics hubs and
manufacturing complexes in Qingyuan, was subdued.

In response to these challenges, we proactively strengthened our
market position by prioritizing high-quality products and services
while streamlining overall operating costs for the business.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHRS

Looking ahead, our strategic priorities are to drive sustainable growth,
restore profitability, and reinforce our market positions across all
businesses of the Group. We will leverage our expanded global
presence to pursue opportunities in diverse markets while enhancing
product and service quality to meet evolving customer expectations
and environmental standards. Sustainability will remain integral to our
strategy. By maintaining a prudent financial approach and capitalizing
on stabilizing global and domestic markets, we are confident in our
ability to deliver long-term value to our stakeholders.

On behalf of the Board, | extend my heartfelt gratitude to our
shareholders, investors, business partners, and employees for their
unwavering support and dedication throughout the Year, despite
unprecedented challenges. We remain committed to pursuing
excellence and delivering value to our customers and shareholders.

SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie
Chairman

Hong Kong
26 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BREEmRO

OVERVIEW

The multiple challenges and opportunities in the global economy
have impacted the Group’s businesses to varying extents. For
the Manufacturing and Sales Business segment, the Group has
offered more competitive pricing to its customers by enhancing the
production and operational efficiency of its factories, which has
led to an increase in the number of purchase orders for printing
products from both overseas and domestic customers. Meanwhile,
the downturn in the property development market in the PRC
posed significant challenges to the Property Development Business
segment of the Group. Through careful adjustments to the sales
and marketing strategies of this segment, the Group successfully
delivered new industrial buildings and dormitories and entered into
new binding sales and purchase agreements with customers during
the Year. Furthermore, the revenue of other business segments, such
as the Property Investment Business and the Music and Entertainment
Business, has also increased.

The business and financial review of each business segment is detailed
below.

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
Total Revenue and Gross Profit Margin

During the Year, total revenue of the Group was approximately
HK$480.5 million (Year 2023: approximately HK$548.7 million)
and the gross profit margin was approximately 20.2% (Year 2023:
16.1%). The contribution of each business segment to the total
revenue of the Group is as follows:

Approximate %
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Approximate % to

to total total
2024 revenue 2023 revenue
CEl6 Rl e
—BCmE BaEAt St BB

HK$ HK$

AT BT
Lending Business BEER 4,982,330 1.0% 5,672,580 1.0%
Manufacturing and Sales Business ~ BiERIHEEH 365,060,228 76.0% 346,642,843 63.2%
Music and Entertainment Business 5 % {8 4 % 75 4,703,192 1.0% 3,985,706 0.7%
Property Development Business YRR RER 71,428,074 14.9% 160,429,227 29.3%
Property Investment Business MEREEE 7,615,773 1.6% 2,783,890 0.5%
Trading Business BRE% 26,754,258 5.5% 29,174,721 53%
Total revenue el 480,543,855 100% 548,688,967 100%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERE R

Lending Business

The Lending Business mainly refer to the Group’s money lending
business in Hong Kong.

The Group’s money lending business in Hong Kong is carried out by
Grand Prospects Finance International Limited GEZREAFE R ARRA
Z)) (“Grand Prospects”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and a licensed money
lender under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws
of Hong Kong).

All loan applications from potential customers are reviewed
and approved by the responsible officer in accordance with
Grand Prospects’ internal loan approval guidelines (the “Internal
Guidelines”). To assess whether a loan application should be
approved, the responsible officer will (i) collect and verify the
required information and supporting documents including but not
limited to identity documents, bank statements, business registration
documents, organisational chart and financial statements, etc. from
the potential customers; and (i) assess the value and quality of the
collaterals that the potential customers intend to provide, if any.
Due diligence search on the borrowers and collaterals will also be
conducted if necessary.

If the responsible officer intends to grant a loan upon the completion
of the entire credit approval process, he/she will determine the
terms of the loan in accordance with the Internal Guidelines and
with reference to various factors including but not limited to the
background and creditworthiness of the customers, the nature and
value of the collateral provided, if any, the prevailing market interest
rate and other relevant factors as the responsible officer deems
appropriate. Thereafter, loan documents will be prepared accordingly
and customers are required to provide signed and post-dated bank
cheques in accordance with the repayment schedules set out in the
loan documents.

In the event that the highest applicable percentage ratio (as defined
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”)) in respect of a grant of loan exceeds 5%, the loan
application will be forwarded to the Board and a meeting of the
Board will be convened to consider and, if thought fit, approve the
same.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERE R

Periodic assessments will be conducted on the recoverability of the
loans granted based on the creditworthiness of the customers, taking
into account their history of default, if any, ability to make timely
payment of interest during the tenure of the loans and the loan-to-
collateral ratios, to ensure appropriate follow-up action be taken to
avoid potential exposure to credit risks. Generally, a reminder letter
will be issued to the customer in the event of default. Depending on
the circumstances, if a loan is overdue for more than two months,
Grand Prospects may consider taking legal actions.

As at 31 December 2024, there were a total number of 9 borrowers,
which consisted of 2 corporate entities and 7 individuals and the
aggregate carrying amount of the loans receivable was HK$20.4
million and HK$10.5 million respectively. All of the loans receivable
were either secured by charge over properties located in Hong Kong,
pledges of shares or personal guarantee.

The total amount of new loans granted during the Year was
approximately HK$6.5 million (Year 2023: approximately HK$6.0
million) and the average loan interest rate of the Group’s loan
portfolio was approximately 16.1% per annum (Year 2023:
approximately 18.0% per annum). During the Year, the interest
income from loans decreased by approximately 12.2% to
approximately HK$5.0 million (Year 2023: approximately HK$5.7
million) and the segment loss was approximately HK$779,000 (Year
2023: segment gain of approximately HK$3.1 million). The decrease
in revenue and the segment loss were mainly due to (i) the decrease
in loan portfolio during the Year; and (ii) the net impairment loss
recognised on loans receivable of approximately HK$3.2 million (Year
2023: reversal of impairment loss of approximately HK$389,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has taken legal actions against
several borrowers of loans receivable with the principal amount
of approximately HK$29.8 million, of which an impairment loss of
approximately HK$26.8 million has been provided in previous financial
years. The court judgements have been granted in respect of the loans
receivable of approximately HK$27.2 million and no settlement has
been made as at 31 December 2024. The Board will provide further
update to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) as
and when appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BREEmRO

The Group has a concentration of credit risk as 63% (Year 2023:
53%) of the total loans receivable was due from two (Year 2023:
three) independent third parties, totalling approximately HK$19.4
million (Year 2023: approximately HK$25.4 million). The gross carrying
amount of loans receivable from the five largest borrowers was
approximately HK$25.9 million (Year 2023: HK$32.8 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the loans receivable had contractual
maturity within one to four years (Year 2023: within one to ten years),

xﬁlﬁﬂmﬁﬁqﬂﬂﬁmﬁ%ﬁ%
Ll B FABREF514919,400,00074 7T (Z
2E __EJ* #925,400,000%8 70) B
63% (ZE-=FE 153%) 54X B
ME (CEZ=ZFEF . =4)BiLE=
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#)7325,900,0008 T (ZTE-_=FE :
32,800,000 7T) ©

RoZE-mME+-—A=+—08 BK
BEFNENIEBEEA—ZENERN (ZE

details of which are as follows: T ZFEE—E+ERN) c BRAEBU
T
HK$
BT
Within one year R—FR 30,222,831
Within a period of more than one year HBa—FErBAMFENRBER
but not more than two years 487,692
Within a period of more than two years but HEAEMFEER BB AFNRABR
not more than five years 229,440
30,939,963
The estimated loss rates of loans receivable were based on historical FEWERFBHEAXEREZTHRNBE

credit loss experience of the customers as well as the fair value of the
collaterals they pledged in relation to the loans receivable. For those
loans receivable secured by charge over properties located in Hong
Kong with an aggregate amount of approximately HK$16,074,963
(Year 2023: approximately HK$29,171,479), the loss given default
was considered low by the Directors, given that the fair value of the
collaterals are higher than the carrying amounts of the respective
loans receivable. The Group has not recognised any loss allowance
for such loans receivable as a result of these collaterals. For the
remaining loans receivable with an aggregate gross carrying amount
of HK$18,645,000 (Year 2023: HK$19,114,080), the Group has
recognised a net impairment loss of approximately HK$3,239,000 on
these loans receivable after having considered the continuous non-
repayment from the debtors during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BREEmRO

Manufacturing and Sales Business

This segment represented the manufacturing and sales of printing
products, such as packaging boxes, labels, paper products and paper
shopping bags, with a worldwide customer base.

The segment revenue increased by approximately 5.3% to
approximately HK$365.1 million for the Year (Year 2023:
approximately HK$346.6 million), which was mainly attributable to
the increase in sales orders of packaging and label products from
both overseas and domestic clients. The increase in sales orders was
mainly due to the fact that (i) the Group has secured a number of new
customers which placed a higher number of sales orders during the
Year; (ii) more competitive pricing has been offered to customers by
enhancing the production and operational efficiency of the factories;
and (iii) some of our customers launched their new products during
the Year, which were postponed from Year 2023.

The segment loss margin of the Manufacturing and Sales Business for
the Year was approximately 4.7% (Year 2023: approximately 14.6%).
The decrease in segment loss margin was mainly attributable to the
following factors:

(i) the gross profit margin increased by 7.1% to approximately
18.5% for the Year (Year 2023: approximately 11.4%), which
was mainly due to (a) the decrease in material consumption
rate of approximately 3.2% as compared with that of Year
2023; (b) the decrease in total manufacturing staff costs and
other related expenses by approximately 3.5% as compared
with that of Year 2023 due to various cost saving plans
adopted in late Year 2023 and throughout the Year; and

(i) the decrease in selling and administrative staff costs and other
related expenses by approximately 4.2% as compared with
that of Year 2023 due to various cost saving plans adopted in
mid-Year 2024;

(i) the gain on disposal of fixed assets of approximately HK$1.9
million (Year 2023: loss on disposal of approximately
HK$397,000); and

(iv)  the reversal of net expected credit loss recognized during the
Year of approximately HK$524,000 (Year 2023: net expected
credit loss of approximately HK$727,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BREEmRO

Music and Entertainment Business

Revenue from this segment mainly consisted of income from concerts
and shows, album distribution income, promotion income and musical
work licensing income.

The revenue of the segment increased by approximately 18.0% to
approximately HK$4.7 million (Year 2023: approximately HK$4.0
million) and the segment profit for the Year was approximately
HK$433,000 (Year 2023: segment loss of approximately HK$3.4
million). The increase in revenue was mainly attributable to the
increase in the musical work licensing income and income generated
from organizing events. Approximately 75% of the segment revenue
was derived from the musical work licensing income from online
music platforms with low associated operating costs incurred,
resulting in an improvement in this segment.

Property Development Business

The Group had two property development projects as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: two). During the Year, one project involved
BrmhERMEREARAR (unoffical English name: Qingyuan
Zhongqing Property Development Company Limited) (“Zhongging”), a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and the other involved
FRRENRI (Biz) B RA B (unofficial English name: Zhongda Printing
(Qingyuan) Company Limited) (“Zhongda Qingyuan”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Zhongqing

Zhongging held the land use right of two commercial land parcels
in Qingyuan, the PRC (“"Qingyuan Land”). On 18 June 2014, &3l
MR ERRKELEEARAT (unofficial English name: Shenzhen
Zhongxing Guosheng Investment Development Company Limited)
("Zhongxing Guosheng”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
initiated civil proceedings against Zhongqing before the People’s Court
of Baoan District, Shenzhen (the “Court”) for, among other matters,
the repayment of the shareholder’s loan contributed by Zhongxing
Guosheng in an amount of RMB23,479,330 (the “Litigation”). On 19
June 2014, pursuant to the application made by Zhongxing Guosheng
for freezing and preserving the assets of Zhongging with a total value
of RMB23,400,000, an order was granted by the Court to freeze and
preserve the Qingyuan Land from 24 June 2014 to 23 June 2016
(the "Freeze Order”), aiming to ensure that Zhongging would have
sufficient assets for the repayment of the shareholder’s loan to the
Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BREEmRO

Two hearing sessions of the Litigation were held on 18 August 2014
and 25 September 2014, respectively. On 15 October 2014, the
Group received a civil mediation document dated 30 September
2014 (the "Document”) from the Court, acknowledging that: (i) the
Group and Zhongqging confirmed that Zhongging was indebted to
Zhongxing Guosheng in a sum of RMB23,479,330; (ii) Zhongqging
agreed to repay Zhongxing Guosheng a sum of RMB23,479,330,
together with interests accrued from 18 June 2014 to the date of
repayment which was supposed to be within 15 days of the effective
date of the Document; and (iii) where Zhongqing failed to repay the
agreed amount, Zhongxing Guosheng would be entitled to request
Zhongqging to pay default interests calculated at two times of the
lending rate of the People’s Bank of China over the same period.

As advised by the Group’s legal advisers in the PRC, the effective
date of the Document was 15 October 2014 and the deadline for
repayment by Zhongging was 30 October 2014 accordingly. As
at 30 October 2014, Zhongging had not repaid the outstanding
shareholder’s loan and accrued interests to Zhongxing Guosheng.

On 27 May 2016, Zhongxing Guosheng submitted an application to
the Court for the extension of the term of the Freeze Order and the
application was accepted. The extended term of the Freeze Order
started on 13 June 2016 and ended on 12 June 2019. The term of
the Freeze Order was further extended to 12 May 2022 by the Court
on 15 May 2019 and was further extended to 12 May 2025 on 14
April 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BREEmRO

In 2022, the Group commenced the compulsory enforcement
proceedings against Zhongging to put the Qingyuan Land for sales
in the auction (the “Compulsory Enforcement”). Further details
of the Compulsory Enforcement were disclosed in the circular of
the Company dated 24 June 2022. The Shareholders passed the
resolution to approve the Compulsory Enforcement at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 15 July 2022. The Group
submitted the application to the Court to commence the Compulsory
Enforcement in July 2022 and all internal verification procedures were
completed by the Court in Year 2023. However, due to the downturn
of the property development market in the PRC since late Year 2023,
the Company decided to suspend for the time being further action
after careful consideration. The Company will closely monitor the
market situation of property market in the PRC and will commence
the auction if considered appropriate. The Company will provide
further update to the Shareholders as and when appropriate.

Zhongda Qingyuan

The Group, through Zhongda Qingyuan, owns a land parcel in
Qingyuan City, the PRC, with a total area of approximately 208,000
square metres (“sq.m.”) and is developing an industrial park (the
“Zhongxing Industrial Park”) with an array of industrial buildings,
commercial buildings, apartments and dormitories. The buildings
thereon are intended for lease or sales. The development plan
was approved by the Guangdong Qingyuan High-Tech Industrial
Development Zone Management Committee Office in March 2020
and was highly supported by the Qingyuan Government.

Construction status:

As at 31 December 2024, the total construction area of the
Zhongxing Industrial Park was approximately 183,000 sg.m., of
which approximately 70% of the construction work was completed
and examined or being examined by an independent construction
company engaged by Zhongda Qingyuan. The Group expected that
an additional of approximately 10% of the construction work will be
completed in year 2025. The total construction area of approximately
183,000 sq.m. as mentioned above represents around 44% of the
estimated total developable area of the Zhongxing Industrial Park.
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Sales status.

During the Year, Zhongda Qingyuan has delivered several industrial
buildings and several units of dormitory to purchasers and revenue of
HK$71.4 million was recognized during the Year. Up to the financial
year ended 31 December 2024, Zhongda Qingyuan has delivered a
total gross floor area of approximately 83,000 sg.m. to purchasers
which represented approximately 20% of the estimated total
developable areas of the Zhongxing Industrial Park. More industrial
buildings and dormitories are expected to be delivered to the
purchasers upon the completion of the relevant construction works
and examination procedures in year 2025.

During the Year, Zhongda Qingyuan entered into several rental
agreements with independent third parties for a total gross floor
area of approximately 3,700 sg.m, comprising living quarters and
shops within the dormitory. These areas, which were designated for
leasing purpose, have been reclassified as investment properties in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, with further details
disclosed under the section “Property Investment Business” below.

Zhongda Qinyuan has entered into several cooperation agreements
with several banks in the PRC, pursuant to which Zhongda Qingyuan
has agreed to provide transitional guarantees in respect of the
repayment obligations of the purchasers under the mortgage loans
which may be granted by these banks to the purchasers for the
acquisition of the industrial buildings in the Zhongxing Industrial
Park. Zhongda Qingyuan’s guarantee obligation under the transitional
guarantees shall be released upon the completion of the relevant
mortgage registrations over the properties and/or the receipt of the
relevant registration proofs by the banks. It is a usual commercial
practice in the real estate industry in the PRC that property developers
shall provide transitional guarantees in favour of the mortgage banks
for the purchasers of properties which are still under development if
the purchasers will settle the purchase price of the properties partly by
mortgage loans.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BREEmRO

During the Year, several property ownership certificates of industrial
buildings have been issued by the local government and the relevant
mortgage registrations over the properties have been completed by
banks and those transitional guarantees have been released. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had contingent liabilities of approximately
HK$18.0 million (Year 2023: approximately HK$133.9 million)
relating to the transitional guarantees given by Zhongda Qingyuan in
favour of the mortgage banks while the related property ownership
certificates have not yet been issued.

The segment loss was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue
for the Year, which was due to the poor economic conditions in
the PRC, causing more purchasers to postpone their expansion or
relocation plans for their factories.

Property Investment Business

During the Year, the Property Investment Business included the leasing
of several commercial units, industrial building and dormitories in
Hong Kong and the PRC.

This business involved four properties of the Group as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: three). The first one was a commercial
property situated in Yuen Long, Hong Kong (the "Yuen Long
Property”) which has been leased to a connected person (having the
meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules) since 1 August 2023 to
operate a karaoke outlet. The second one was a commercial property
situated in Beijing, the PRC (the “Beijing Property”) which was leased
to an independent third party. The third one was a block of industrial
building of the Group’s self-owned factory situated in Shenzhen,
the PRC (the “Shenzhen Property”), which has been leased to an
independent third party since December 2023. The fourth one were
the properties in the Zhongxing Industrial Park.

During the Year, Zhongda Qingyuan entered into several rental
agreements with independent third parties to lease certain living
quarters and shops within the dormitory in the Zhongxing Industrial
Park. The areas being leased for longer term or under negotiation
have been reclassified to investment properties from properties for
sale as at 31 December 2024.
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The total rental income arising from the leasing of these properties
was approximately HK$7.6 million (Year 2023: approximately HK$2.8
million). The increase in revenue of this segment was mainly driven by
the Shenzhen Property which was newly leased out in late 2023 with
revenue recognised for the Year.

According to the Group's accounting standards, the investment
properties of the Group were carried at market value. A fair value
loss of approximately HK$22.2 million was recorded in “Other gains
and losses” of the Group during the Year (Year 2023: fair value loss
of approximately HK$6.1 million) which primarily attributed to the
segment loss of this business. The fair value loss for the Year mainly
arose from the Yuen Long Property. The decrease in fair value of the
Yuen Long Property was mainly due to the lowered market value and
rental value of adjacent locations.

Trading Business

Revenue from the Trading Business decreased to approximately
HK$26.8 million (Year 2023: approximately HK$29.2 million) mainly
due to the decrease in revenue derived from Hong Kong customers
during the Year. The segment loss recorded a slight decrease from
Year 2023 and amounted to approximately HK$2.2 million for the
Year (Year 2023: approximately HK$2.3 million). The decrease in
segment loss was mainly attributable to the decrease in operating
expenses by approximately 14% as compared with Year 2023 as a
result of the adoption of cost saving plans.

Securities Trading and Equity Investments Business

The Group's equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") as at 31 December 2024 amounted
to approximately HK$22.6 million (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$38.0 million). During the Year, the Group recorded a segment
loss of approximately HK$5.6 million for this business which was
mainly attributable to a fair value loss in investments of securities
listed in Hong Kong of approximately HK$5.2 million (Year 2023:
approximately HK$1.6 million), which was recorded in “Other gains
and losses”. A realized loss of approximately HK$74,000 was recorded
for the Year (Year 2023: nil).
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The Group’s investments as at 31 December 2024 included
investment in securities of 9 companies listed on the Main Board or
GEM of the Stock Exchange, an offshore investment fund, two Hong
Kong private companies and a PRC private company. The carrying
amount of each of the Group's investments accounted for less than
5% of the Group’s audited total assets as at 31 December 2024. The
top five largest investments amounted to approximately HK$28.4
million, representing approximately 1.8% of the Group’s audited total
assets as at 31 December 2024.

The largest investment was the investment in an offshore investment
fund named Zhong Wei Capital L.P. (“Zhong Wei"), which
represented 1.33% of the total share capital of Zhong Wei. Zhong
Wei has invested in more than 15 entities including public and
private entities incorporated in Hong Kong, the PRC, Indonesia and
Singapore. These entities are principally engaged in, including but not
limited to, intelligence technology, energy, healthcare, recreational
and financial technological sectors. The fair value of the investment
in Zhong Wei as at 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$8.5 million, representing approximately 0.8% of the Group's
audited total assets as at 31 December 2024. A fair value loss of
approximately HK$9 million has been recognised for the Year in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in “Investment revaluation
reserve”.

During the Year, the Group has received an investment income of
approximately HK$3 million which was payable in cash and equity
shares listed in Hong Kong and overseas from Zhong Wei which was
recorded in “Other income” of the Group.

The second to fifth largest investments were the investment in Wang
On Group Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code 01222), a private company incorporated in
the PRC principally engaged in trading of medical skincare equipment
and entertainment business in the PRC, Wang On Properties Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock
code 01243) and China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code
00149).
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The Group will carefully study the market and the information related
to prospective investees before dealing in any securities, and will
closely monitor the performance of the investments upon subscription
and adjust its investment strategy in a cautious manner as and when
necessary to minimize the impact of market volatility.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Other gains and losses for the Year mainly comprised the following
items:

REBRFESR > NERFHIEHAE
TEREERENRNARER > TR
RNEBEBYERRERE  TRKE
RrEEARKRERE UBERLTH
REHRE o

Hfth i = B2 6548

FEEEMBEakBEREIZEEUT
IH8

2024 2023
—EBmE “BC=HF
HK$ HK$
AT BT
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL BB EZHIZ A FENRZ
(Note a) ERIBE AT EEH
(Htzta) (5.185,687) (1,604,208)
Change in fair value of investment properties KEWMEQNTEEE
(Note b) (Htzth) (22,241,318) (6,125,444)
Net foreign exchange gain HMEE IR 2 5 B 578,315 1,010,013
Net gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and HEME -BERZHEZ
equipment W (B518) /$&8 1,888,818 (396,762)
Total HBEt (24,959,872) (7,116,401)
Notes. Mzt :
(a) The change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL consisted of (a) FRBHEATEIINRZEREEZA

the fair value loss of securities traded in the Stock Exchange of
approximately HK$5.2 million (Year 2023: approximately HK$1.6
million).

(b) The fair value loss of investment properties was mainly related to
the Yuen Long Property. For the reason of such loss, please refer to
the paragraphs headed “Property Investment Business” under the
"Business and Financial Review" section above.
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LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The following table sets out the Group’s current ratio, quick ratio and
gearing ratio as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

RBEE BLXBERRERRE
8
TREFAEER T _NE+ A

=+—BR-FE-=f+-A=+—
AHRBLE EB L EREES B

%
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Notes RIZM4E PR ZF
HraE +=—B=+—H +=ZA=+—H
Current ratio RENEEE (a) 2.0 timesfZ 2.6 timesf3
Quick ratio RIEEE (b) 1.1 timesfZ 1.5 timesf3
Gearing ratio EESMRLE () 34.1% 22.6%
Notes: Bzt :
(a) Current ratio is calculated by dividing total current assets by total (a) L RLIBEREELRAERNERS
current liabilities as at the end of the respective year. BERMUERBGETE
(b) Quick ratio is calculated by dividing total current assets less inventories (b) FEIEERLIBIEREELERNER
and properties under development for sale/properties for sale by total BERGERGERRERYE SEY
current liabilities as at the end of the respective year. ERBRUAEREAaESE
(@] Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total borrowings by total equity () BEAGERIIBERERFELERENGE

as at the end of the respective year and then multiplying it by 100%.
Total borrowings as at 31 December 2024 include: (i) the amount due
to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary; (ii) bank borrowings;
and (iii) lease liabilities.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had short-term bank
deposits, pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$182.1 million (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$196.1 million) and total borrowings of approximately HK$213.4
million (31 December 2023: approximately HK$163.4 million).

BRI m EEEERU100% 8 o
R_E_NEF+ZA=+—HHEER
BEEE ()F’Eﬁ 1M a8 A B — & FEERR
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R_E_WME+_B=+—H &%
BHEHETER BEHIETER
MURIRERIBEEEL 182,100,000
Br(CE=F+"HA=+—H:4
196,100,000 7T) * MEEBEELA A
213,400,000 (ZE_-_=F+_A4
=+—H : £163,400,0005 7T) °
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The current ratio and quick ratio as at 31 December 2024 were
lower as compared with the respective figures as at 31 December
2023, which was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in trade and
other payables and accruals of approximately HK$69.6 million which
included the accrued construction cost of the Property Development
Business of approximately HK$102.4 million (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$34.5 million) and (ii) the increase in bank
borrowings of approximately HK$53.8 million in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

The gearing ratio of the Group increased from 22.6% to 34.1% as at
31 December 2024, mainly due to the increase in total borrowings of
the Group, the details of which are stated below.

The Group's total borrowings as at 31 December 2024 included:
(i) an amount of approximately HK$15.9 million due to a non-
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$16.5 million); (ii) secured bank borrowings of
approximately HK$131.3 million (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$93.5 million); (iii) unsecured bank borrowings of approximately
HK$16.1 million (31 December 2023: Nil); and (iv) lease liabilities of
approximately HK$50.1 million (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$53.4 million).

As at 31 December 2024, secured bank borrowings included (i)
an amount of approximately HK$31.5 million (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$16.7 million) payable within six years and carrying
interest at the Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate plus 1.85%
per annum; (i) an amount of approximately HK$64.9 million (31
December 2023: approximately HK$51.6 million) payable within one
year and carrying interest at the Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate
plus 1.25% to 2.25% (Year 2023: 1.25% to 2.25%) per annum;
and (iii) an amount of approximately HK$34.9 million (31 December
2023: approximately HK$25.2 million) payable within three years
and carrying interest at 5.98% per annum. The unsecured bank
borrowing included an aggregate amount of approximately HK$16.1
million (31 December 2023: Nil) payable within one year and carrying
fixed interest in a range of 1.5% to 2% per annum. The amount due
to the non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary was unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. The weighted average lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate applied in lease liabilities was in a range
of 2.98% to 5.88% per annum (31 December 2023: 2.98% to
5.88% per annum).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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All borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB and
the majority of cash and cash equivalents were denominated in RMB,
Hong Kong dollars and U.S. dollars.

The Group generally finances its operation with cash flows generated
internally and bank facilities obtained in Hong Kong and the PRC.
Taking into account the amount of funds expected to be generated
internally and the available bank facilities, the Group will have
adequate resources to meet its future capital expenditure and working
capital requirements. The Group will continue implementing a prudent
policy in managing cash balances, thereby maintaining a strong
and healthy liquidity level to capitalize on any potential business
opportunity.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

Looking ahead to 2025, the Group is expected to face multiple
adversities as the global market remains overshadowed by economic
and political uncertainties. These challenges include prolonged
political and economic tensions between the PRC and other countries,
as well as the increase in trade tariffs across various nations, which
further elevate production costs and negatively impact the demand
for export goods. Additionally, these factors are likely to weaken
the purchasing power of customers across all product categories,
particularly in the Manufacturing and Sales Business and the Trading
Business segments. To navigate this complex and ever-changing
environment, the Group will carefully examine its strategies for all
business segments and take cautious steps to diversify and expand its
operations.

Lending Business

Due to the keen market competition, the Group will take calculated
risks when expanding the loan portfolio of the Lending Business.
The Group will continue to cooperate with other money lending
companies to attract more new customers. Given the changing
environment, the Group will continue to allocate more financial
resources to identify new loan deals in a prudent way.
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Manufacturing and Sales Business and Trading Business

In 2025, the Company's business is expected to face multiple
challenges and opportunities, particularly in the Manufacturing and
Sales Business. Intensified political and economic tensions between
the PRC, the United States of America, and other countries may
accelerate the relocation of production from the PRC to other nations.
Additionally, the increase in trade tariffs across various countries is
likely to further raise the prices of imported materials and goods,
potentially reducing consumer purchasing power to varying degrees.
These factors could adversely affect the Group’s export sales of
printing products.

In addition, competition among printing companies in the domestic
market of the PRC is expected to intensify further. In response, the
Group will strive to enhance its procurement capabilities and improve
production efficiency to reduce overall production costs for this
segment. The growing awareness of sustainability is anticipated to
continue to create new business opportunities, prompting the Group
to devote more resources in providing environmental-friendly printing
solutions.

All the above factors will impact both the export and domestic sales
of the Group’s business to varying degrees. Consequently, the Group
will carefully formulate its sales strategy to expand target market
segments and allocate sufficient cash flows to address any sudden or
prolonged adverse situations beyond its expectations. The Group will
also continue to participate in more overseas and domestic trade fairs
to connect with new customers in 2025. Additionally, the Group will
upgrade its machinery to enhance production efficiency, reduce defect
rates, and lower manpower costs in its production activities.

In addition, to address the challenges faced by the printing industry
and improve the profitability of the business, the Group will
intensify its efforts in the following areas: (i) enhancing efficiency
and effectiveness by upgrading machinery and equipment, as
well as streamlining the production processes in its factories to
reduce operational and production wastage, thereby increasing the
production capacity of the factories at lower costs; (i) strengthening
talent recruitment, providing value-added services, and continuously
upgrading its technology infrastructure; (iii) procuring alternative
materials, verifying their quality, and negotiating with suppliers for
more favorable terms; and (iv) identifying cooperation opportunities
in various countries to mitigate the impact of customs duties levied in
the PRC and explore additional business opportunities to expand the
customer base.
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All the strategies adopted by the Group will further strengthen its
core competencies and equip it to tackle unforeseen challenges in the
coming years.

For the Trading Business, the Group will continue to allocate more
resources to expand and develop the sales teams in Hong Kong,
overseas and the PRC, so as to broaden the clientele, optimize the
product mix and provide more value-added services to the existing
and target customers.

Music and Entertainment Business

The Group will continue to allocate more resources to expand the
musical works licensing business and show business in overseas and
the Greater Bay Area of the PRC.

Property Development Business

For Zhongging, as mentioned in the paragraphs headed “Property
Development Business” under the “Business and Financial Review”
section above, in view of the recent undesirable situation of
the property market in the PRC, the Group will reassess the risk
and profitability of the development of the Qingyuan Land and
accordingly, devise its plan for the Compulsory Enforcement and its
bidding strategy carefully. The Group will provide further update to
the Shareholders as and when appropriate.

For Zhongda Qingyuan, the Group will continue to allocate additional
resources to the sales and marketing activities of the Zhongxing
Industrial Park, offering a wider range of sales options to attract
potential customers and meet their purchasing needs. Meanwhile,
the Group plans to introduce more retail shops and recreational
facilities in the Zhongxing Industrial Park to enhance the quality and
variety of services available to the people working there. Furthermore,
depending on the sales progress of the existing unsold industrial
buildings in the Zhongxing Industrial Park, the Group may commence
construction on the remaining areas, if it deems appropriate.

Property Investment Business

As mentioned for the Property Development Business above, the
Group will introduce more shops and recreational facilities in the
Zhongxing Industrial Park. For Yuen Long Property, Beijing Property
and Shenzhen Property, the Group will continue to rent to the existing
tenants in the year 2025. The Group will continue to monitor the
rental market condition in Hong Kong and the PRC and adjust its
strategies, if necessary.
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Securities Trading Business

The Group expects that the fair value of equity securities listed in
Hong Kong may keep fluctuating in the foreseeable future due to the
volatile global economy. In light of this, the Group will closely monitor
the general market condition and market data related to prospective
investees before committing to any securities investment, and will
pay attention to the performance of the investments after purchasing
as well as make necessary adjustment to the investment strategy in
a cautious manner so as to alleviate the impact of extreme market
swings.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group's sales and purchases were mainly denominated in RMB,
Hong Kong dollars and U.S. dollars. Except for RMB, there was no
significant fluctuation in the exchange rate between Hong Kong
dollars and U.S. dollars during the Year. The management will
closely monitor the foreign exchange rate risk of RMB and identify
significant adverse impact (if any) on the Group’s operations in the
PRC. The Group did not use any financial instrument for hedging
purpose during the Year and it did not have any outstanding hedging
instrument as at 31 December 2024. The Group will consider using
appropriate hedging solutions when necessary.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Year, capital expenditure of the Group for property, plant
and equipment and properties under development for sale/properties
for sale amounted to approximately HK$8.5 million (Year 2023:
approximately HK$5.4 million) and approximately HK$148.6 million
(Year 2023: HK$73.5 million) respectively. The capital expenditure for
the Year was mainly attributable to the acquisition of machineries for
production in the PRC and the construction work conducted in the
Zhongxing Industrial Park.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$111.1 million (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$150.4 million) which had been contracted for but had not been
provided for in the financial statements for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment and construction work in the Zhongxing
Industrial Park. The Group did not have any capital commitment
for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment that had
been authorised but not contracted for in both reporting periods.
The Group expects to finance its capital commitments by internal
resources and bank borrowings.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had contingent liabilities
of approximately HK$18.0 million in respect of the transitional
guarantees provided by Zhongda Qingyuan in favor of the mortgage
banks for the purchasers of the industrial buildings of the Zhongxing
Industrial Park (31 December 2023: approximately HK$133.9 million).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had pledged bank deposits,
investment properties and properties under development for sale/
properties for sale with an aggregate carrying value of approximately
HK$199.8 million (31 December 2023: approximately HK$386.8
million) to secure the construction loan of the Zhongxing Industrial
Park, the mortgage loan of certain investment properties and general
banking facilities granted to the Group. Save as aforesaid, no other
assets were pledged by the Group as at 31 December 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There was no change in the share capital and capital structure of the
Company during the Year.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 940 full-time
employees (31 December 2023: approximately 1,000). Total staff costs
(including Directors’ remuneration) for the Year were approximately
HK$163.0 million (Year 2023: approximately HK$174.2 million).

The remuneration schemes of the Group are generally structured
with reference to market conditions and the qualifications of the
employees, and the reward packages including discretionary bonus for
staff members are generally reviewed on an annual basis according
to the performance of the Group and respective staff members.
Apart from salary payments and contributions to retirement benefit
schemes, other staff benefits include participation in share option
scheme and medical insurance for eligible employees. In-house and
external training programmes are also provided as and when required.

ARG

A CEOE+_RBA=+—H K
EENLXREEL2A18,000,0008 7T
(ZE2 =+ E +—H 4
133,900,000 7T) * &K I,Eéi\qﬂjmaﬁ
MPETEXRE T2 ABEE HIEMHL

BBIRTT AT m A ZBE E&’I&#ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁo

EEEH

HE_Z_NWFE+_B=+—H =&
EECRKIRmMAEE49199,800,000%
T(ZTE_=F+"A=+—H: &
386,800,000/ 70) Z IIFIRITER &
EYERTEERIYE FEYE
EAPETXENEREERN AEHE
RZETHREYMERBER K —KRIR
TREZER BFRLMEIN REEEH
E_E_NME+_"_BA=+—H#EE
HEMEE-

AR B B AS 2R 18

AT ZRERBEAEBRAEEEL
AT EE o

ANER
BE_ZE_WWE+_B=+—H &K
EEXBHNMIEEHEE (T2 =
F+"B=+—H :£1,0008) - A&
FECBTHEMAK (BEEFHMN &
163,000,000 T (ZE_=ZFEF : 4
174,200,000/%7@ °

AEFFMHNTE—RKR2EMIKES
EREMEBEE MEILZFS (BFENB
14l BR S ERBAEENETRR
RFRIRETINT o B B KRB KE
MEtB8IHFIN HME THEANOEES
EREE2HERDEEAIIRARS
KBEEERE AEETREERER
EB RSN R IE N EHE o

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE&EZKRARAT | Annual Report 2024 F iR

25



26

Management Discussion and Analysis

BERE R

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR JOINT VENTURE
DURING THE YEAR

On 8 March 2024, Luxury Field Limited (“Luxury Field”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a joint venture
agreement with WEKA Holding B.V. ("WEKA"), Orientouch B.V., Mr.
Chow Wah Kong, Moral Step Corporation Limited (“Moral Step”) and
Orientouch Showtimes (International) Limited (the “JV Company”)
in relation to the formation, operation and management of the
JV Company. Luxury Field, WEKA and Moral Step hold 40%, 40%
and 20% of the enlarged issued share capital of the JV Company
respectively. The principal activity of the JV Company is to engage
in concerts and shows promotor business and other entertainment
business. Luxury Field, WEKA and Moral Step respectively agreed that
subsequent to the completion of its respective share subscription
in the JV Company, it shall, if resolved and demanded by the board
of directors of the JV Company, make further capital contribution
to the JV Company subject to a maximum amount of £340,000,
£100,000 and £170,000 respectively. As at 31 December 2024 and
as at the date of this report, no further capital contribution had
been made by any of Luxury Field, WEKA and Moral Step. Further
details of the formation of the JV Company were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 8 March 2024 and the supplemental
announcement dated 3 June 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Year.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no significant events since the end of the Year and
up to the date of this report.
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Corporate Governance Report
EERERRS

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Neway
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present this Corporate
Governance Report in the annual report of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

The Company acknowledges the important roles of the Board in
providing effective leadership and direction to the Company’s business
and ensuring transparency and accountability of the Company
operations. The Board recognises that good corporate governance
practices are vital to maintain and promote shareholder value and
investor confidence and has adopted the code provisions as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Part
2 of Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the "Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate
governance. The Company is committed to enhancing and reviewing
its corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure that
they align with the latest development of the Group.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has applied the principles
of and complied with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code
throughout the Year. No incident of non-compliance with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code was noted by the Company during
the Year.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors take
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company and in the
attainment of the objective of creating value to the shareholders of
the Company. Every Director carries out his/her duty in good faith in
compliance with the standards of applicable laws and regulations and
acts in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole
at all times.

Board Composition

The Board comprises eight members as at the date of this Corporate
Governance Report, which include two executive Directors, three non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The composition of the Board has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience necessary for independent decision-making.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Board Composition (Continued)

The Board comprises the following Directors during the Year and up
to the date of this Corporate Governance Report:

Executive Directors:
Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie (Chairman)
Mr. SUEK Chai Hong (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors:

Dr. NG Wai Kwan

Mr. CHAN Kwing Choi, Warren
Mr. WONG Sun Fat

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. LEE Kwok Wan

Mr. CHU Gun Pui

Ms. SIN Chui Pik, Christine

The names of the Directors on the relevant dates are disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

Mr. SUEK Chai Hong, the chief executive officer of the Company (the
“Chief Executive Officer”), is the uncle of Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie,
the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”). Dr. NG Wai Kwan,
a non-executive Director, is the uncle of Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie. The
detailed relationships among members of the Board are disclosed
under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors” on pages
47 to 51.

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to (i) the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors with at least one independent
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise; and (ii) the appointment of independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Board Composition (Continued)

The Company has adopted an independent views policy (the
“Independent Views Policy”) in accordance with the CG Code,
pursuant to which the independent non-executive Directors are
required to, among others: (i) keep up-to-date with the Company’s
business affairs and be involved in scrutinising the Company’s
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives,
and monitor performance reporting; (ii) bring independent judgment
to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conduct, and help review
some of the Board's major decisions; (iii) take the lead where potential
conflicts of interest arise; and (iv) serve on the audit committee of the
Board (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee of the
Board (the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee
of the Board (the “Nomination Committee”) and other governance
committees of the Board, if invited.

According to the Independent Views Policy, the independent non-
executive Directors shall allocate sufficient time to discharge their
responsibilities and should not accept an invitation to serve as an
independent non-executive Director on the Board unless they can
devote adequate time and effort to the work involved. Independent
non-executive Directors sitting on multiple boards of directors of listed
companies will need to ensure that they devote sufficient time and
dedicate adequate attention to each board and board committee.
In addition, the independent non-executive Directors shall at least
annually attend meeting with the Chairman of the Board without the
presence of other Directors. The Independent Views Policy and its
implementation and effectiveness are reviewed by the Board annually.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
existing independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
with reference to the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. None of the independent non-executive Directors fails to
meet any of such guidelines. Accordingly, the Company considers all
existing independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

The non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise and experiences to the Board. Through
participation in Board meetings and serving on Board committees, all
non-executive Directors make various contributions to the effective
leadership and management of the Company.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by
different persons in order to preserve a balanced judgement of views.
The Chairman, Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie, is primarily responsible for
ensuring that good corporate governance practices and procedures
are established in the Company.

The Chairman has encouraged all Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board's affairs and take the lead to ensure that
the Board acts in the best interests of the Company. Directors with
different views are encouraged to voice their concerns and they are
allowed sufficient time to discuss issues in meetings to ensure that
Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus.

During the Year, the Chairman has held one meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of the
other Directors.

The Chairman has ensured that appropriate steps are taken to provide
effective communication with shareholders of the Company and that
their views are communicated to the Board as a whole.

The Chairman has promoted a culture of openness and active debate
by facilitating the effective contribution of non-executive Directors in
particular and ensuring constructive relations between the executive
and non-executive Directors.

The Chief Executive Officer, Mr. SUEK Chai Hong, is responsible for
running the Company’s businesses and developing and implementing
the Group's strategic plans and business goals.

Despite that the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman are uncle
and nephew, they consider issues and make decisions independently.
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EERERRS

THE BOARD (Continued)
Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the existing non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company and each of them was appointed for a term of three years.
The term of appointment of each Director is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws
(the "Bye-laws”), the Listing Rules and the terms and conditions of
their respective letters of appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Bye-laws and the nomination policy
adopted by the Company. Please refer to the paragraph headed
“Nomination Committee” below for further details of the nomination
policy of the Company.

Induction and Continuing Development for Directors

The Directors are encouraged to attend external seminars and training
programmes at the Company's expense to update themselves with
the legal and regulatory developments and the business and market
changes to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Briefings
and professional development trainings will be arranged for the
Directors whenever necessary.

Professional Training for Directors

Each of the Directors, namely Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie, Mr. SUEK Chai
Hong, Dr. NG Wai Kwan, Mr. CHAN Kwing Choi, Warren, Mr. WONG
Sun Fat, Mr. LEE Kwok Wan, Mr. CHU Gun Pui and Ms. SIN Chui Pik,
Christine confirmed to the Company that they had complied with
code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code during the Year by reading
all materials provided by the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) and/or attending trainings on the topics
relating to the updates on the new requirements under the Listing
Rules launched by professional parties.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Company Secretary

Mr. TANG Chi Ki, Ernest has been appointed as the Company
Secretary on 1 June 2023. He joined the company secretarial
department of the Group in 2010 and has been assisting the
Company in its company secretarial works since then. Mr. TANG
Chi Ki, Ernest reports to the Board and is responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance matters. He has taken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the Year in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The Company does not engage any external service provider as its
Company Secretary.

Board Meetings, Board Committee Meetings and General
Meetings

Board practices and conduct of meetings

Notices of regular Board meetings were served to all Directors at least
14 days before the meetings during the Year. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notices were given. All Directors
were given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda for
discussion.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information were sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting during the Year to keep the
Directors apprised of the latest development and financial position of
the Company and to enable them to make informed decisions. The
Board and each Director also had separate and independent access to
the management staff whenever necessary.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board meetings and committee meetings. During the Year,
draft minutes containing significant details of any decision and
recommendation made during the meetings were normally circulated
to the Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final version was open for the Directors’ inspection.

The Bye-laws contain provisions, with certain permitted exemptions,
requiring Director(s) to abstain from voting and not to be counted
in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such
Director(s) or any of their respective close associates have a material
interest.
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THE BOARD (Continued) EEE (H

Board Meetings, Board Committee Meetings and General EFETER - EELETTERE
Meetings (Continued) RAEg (@)

Directors’ attendance records EFEHFELR

During the Year, the Board held four meetings, two of which were NAREE - S8R TOAIH &
regular Board meetings for reviewing and approving the financial T AasEEemBELLELRER
and operating performance of the Group. The Company did not MRS EXEMBTZTEAEH K
announce its quarterly results and hence did not consider the holding NEMEANGETEZES  FHILA&NAF R
of quarterly meetings necessary. RIUBNBRITETERH

The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings of MUTFFESARESENEAEELEREEAN

the Board, the Board committees and at the general meeting of the TEETTE EESET e NRE
Company for the Year is set out below: NG 7L .

Attendance/Number of meetings
held during the Year
REEEHRRY,GRETRY

Annual General

Audit Remuneration Nomination ~ Meeting held on
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee 7 June 2024
AZEZME
~AtH
212
e Exg BREEE #HEEE RL%EEE BREFXE
Executive Directors HTER
— Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie (Chairman) -BERBLE (R 444 N/A N/A 7 17N
TEH TEH
— Mr. SUEK Chai Hong -BEERE (THEZ) 44 N/A N/A N/A 7
(Chief Executive Officer) TER TEH TEA
Non-executive Directors FHTES
- Dr. NG Wai Kwan —REEELT 414 N/A N/A N/A 1N
TER TER ~ER
~ Mr. CHAN Kwing Choi, Warren —fREEE 414 N/A N/A N/A 171
~ER TER TER
— Mr. WONG Sun Fat —-EMBLE 414 2 22 N/A 1N
TER
Independent Non-executive Directors I JEHITES
— Mr. LEE Kwok Wan —-ZAELE 414 ) i) 7 7
- Mr. CHU Gun Pui —REHEE 4/4 N/A N/A 7 7
TER ~ER
—Ms. SIN Chui Pik, Christine —GRELT 414 2 22 N/A 1N
TER
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the Year. No incident
of non-compliance with the required standard set out in the Model
Code was noted by the Company during the Year.

The Company has also established written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”)
for securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished inside information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines
was noted by the Company during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance for
Directors and officers of the Group for indemnifying their liabilities
arising from corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
on an annual basis.

DELEGATION

In practice, the Board takes responsibility for decision making in
all major matters of the Company including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives and overall
strategies, internal controls and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those which may involve a conflict of
interests), appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company are delegated to the designated officers.
The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board before the designated
officers enter into any significant transactions and they have the
Board's full support in the discharge of their responsibilities.
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DELEGATION (Continued)

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a
view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. Each Director is able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees are established with defined written terms of
reference.

Remuneration Committee

During the Year and up to the date of this Corporate Governance
Report, the Remuneration Committee, the majority of which are
independent non-executive Directors, comprised two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LEE Kwok Wan (chairman) and
Ms. SIN Chui Pik, Christine, and one non-executive Director, namely
Mr. WONG Sun Fat.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations on the remuneration policy and structure
and remuneration packages of the executive Directors and the senior
management. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible
for establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or
any of his/her associates will participate in deciding such Director’s
own remuneration. Remuneration of each Director is determined
by reference to the Group’s operating results, the duties and
responsibilities of the Director within the Company, the performance
of the Director and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions. The Remuneration Committee shall consult the Chairman
and/or the Chief Executive Officer in relation to its proposals relating
to the remuneration of the executive Directors and shall have access
to professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary. The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for reviewing and
approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings
to review the remuneration of the existing Directors and make
recommendation to the Board in relation thereto.
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DELEGATION (Continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The Company did not have other member of senior management
other than the Directors during the Year.

The written terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee are
published on the websites of the Company (www.newaygroup.com.
hk) and of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) respectively and
are available to shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

During the Year and up to the date of this Corporate Governance
Report, the Audit Committee comprised two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. LEE Kwok Wan (chairman) and
Ms. SIN Chui Pik, Christine, and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. WONG Sun Fat. The majority of the Audit Committee
are independent non-executive Directors (including at least one
independent non-executive Director who possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise). None of the members of the Audit
Committee was a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditors.

The written terms of reference for the Audit Committee are published
on the websites of the Company (www.newaygroup.com.hk) and of
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) respectively and are available
to shareholders upon request.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

o to review the financial statements and reports of the Company
and consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
Company's staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting function and external auditors before submission to
the Board;

o to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management systems via the internal audit (“IA") function and
their associated procedures; and

o to review the relationship with the external auditors by
reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees
and terms of engagement and make recommendation to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditors.
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DELEGATION (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings and
reviewed the Group’s final results and annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2024. The Audit Committee also reviewed with the
management the Group’s accounting policies, the risk management
and internal control systems via the IA function and the effectiveness
of the Company’s IA function. It also discussed auditing, internal
controls and financial reporting matters of the Group, reported to
the Board on material issues, if any, and made recommendations to
the Board. It reviewed the work performed and fees charged by the
external auditors and made recommendation to the Board on the re-
appointment of external auditors.

The Company's final results for the Year have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee. There are no material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the selection and appointment of external
auditors.

Nomination Committee

During the Year and up to the date of this Corporate Governance
Report, the Nomination Committee comprisesd an executive Director,
namely Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie (Chairman), and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LEE Kwok Wan and Mr. CHU
Gun Pui. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the appointment
of new Directors from time to time, so as to ensure that it has a
balanced composition of candidates appropriate for the requirements
of the businesses of the Company. The Nomination Committee is
also responsible for assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and reviewing the succession plan for the
Directors, in particular the chairman of the Board.

The written terms of reference for the Nomination Committee are
published on the websites of the Company (www.newaygroup.com.hk)
and of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) respectively and are
available to shareholders upon request.
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DELEGATION (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

Since December 2018, the Company has adopted a nomination policy
(the “Nomination Policy”) for the nomination of directors so as to
ensure the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives that are required to support the execution
of the Company’s business strategy and in order for the Board to be
effective.

The Nomination Committee has primary responsibility for identifying
suitably qualified candidates to become members of the Board
and making recommendations to shareholders of the Company for
election as Directors at general meetings or appoint Directors to
fill casual vacancies, and in carrying out this responsibility, will give
adequate consideration to the Nomination Policy.

According to the Nomination Policy, Board appointments will
be made on merit and candidates will be considered against an
objective criteria. In assessing the suitability of a proposed Director,
the Nomination Committee will consider the candidate’s academic
background and qualifications; experience in the industry; character
and integrity; willingness and capacity to devote adequate time in
the discharge of a director’s duties; and will also consider whether
the candidate can contribute to the Board a diversity of perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service.

The Nomination Committee may nominate or invite a candidate
for appointment as a Director for consideration. The Nomination
Committee shall evaluate the personal profile of each of the
candidates based on the criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy.
The Nomination Committee shall also undertake adequate due
diligence in respect of each candidate and make recommendation for
the Board'’s consideration and approval.

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

For the purpose of effective and timely management of the
investment matters of the Company, and in order to cope with
the Company’s business development in the future, an investment
management committee (the “Investment Management Committee”)
was established in March 2014 for identifying, assessing and
analysing all investment opportunities for the Group and making
recommendations on acquisition and/or disposal of the Group to the
Board from time to time.
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Corporate Governance Report
EERERRS

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Investment Management Committee comprises four members,
namely Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie (Chairman), Mr. SUEK Chai Hong, Mr.
CHAN Kwing Choi, Warren, and Ms. CHEUNG Yuk Shan, the financial
director of the Group, throughout the Year and up to the date of this
Corporate Governance Report, all of whom possess experience and
familiarity with financial and investment analysis.

During the Year, the Investment Management Committee held two
meetings and all members of the Investment Management Committee
attended such meetings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has not established a corporate governance committee.
Instead, the full Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance function such as developing and reviewing the policies
and practices of the Company on corporate governance, reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of the Directors and senior management, reviewing the policies and
practices of the Company on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, as well as developing, reviewing and monitoring the
codes of conduct applicable to employees and Directors. During the
Year, the Board reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and the disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). In assessing the Board's composition, the Board would
consider a range of measurable objectives set out in the Board
Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender, age, race, cultural
and educational background, knowledge, professional experience
and skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and the
contribution that the selected candidates may bring to the Board. As
at the date of this Corporate Governance Report, the Board has one
female member and therefore gender diversity has been achieved
on the Board. Accordingly, the Company has not set any numerical
targets or timeline for furthering gender diversity on the Board and
does not consider it necessary to adopt any measures to develop
a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to achieve gender
diversity.

As at 31 December 2024, the gender ratio of the Group's workforce
was 53:47 male to female which indicates that the Group has
maintained a balanced gender ratio in the workforce. Although
gender diversity issue is less relevant to the Group given the nature
of the Group’s business, the Company will still pay due regard to this
issue and review the gender diversity of the workforce in accordance
with the business development of the Group from time to time.
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EERERRS

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment in annual and interim reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The management has provided all Directors with monthly updates
containing such explanation and information to the Board so as to
enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial
information put to the Board for approval and the financial position of
the Company.

Further explanation as to how the Company generates or preserves
value over the longer term and the strategy for delivering the
Company’s objectives is set out under “Management Discussion and
Analysis” from pages 6 to 26 of the Annual Report of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Risk Management and Internal Control

During the Year, the Group complied with code provision D.2.1 of the
CG Code by maintaining appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The management of the Company is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems while the Board oversees the management in performing its
duties on an ongoing basis. The Board does not have a designated
risk committee. Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group are described below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations, including environmental,
social and governance (“ESG") risks. The system comprises the
following phases:

o Identification: Identify nature of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives;

o Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly; and
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EERERRS

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)
Risk Management and Internal Control (Continued)
Risk Management System (Continued)

o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and monitor the residual risks on
an on-going basis.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (the “COSO") 2013 framework. The
framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The
components of the framework are shown as follows:

° Control environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group;

o Risk assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be
managed;

o Control activities: Actions established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks for the achievement of objectives are carried out;

o Information and communication: Internal and external
communications to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls; and

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of the internal control system is
present and functioning.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)
Risk Management and Internal Control (Continued)
Internal Control System (Continued)

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside information
and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness
of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements
an inside information policy and procedures. Certain reasonable
measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards are in place to prevent a breach of disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group, which include:

o the access to information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

o confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations; and

o the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted during the Year, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal Audit Function

The Group has an IA function, which consists of professional staff
with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public Accountant). The 1A
function is independent of the Group's daily operation and carries
out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems
by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating
effectiveness.

An |IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control
systems is conducted annually, covering a period of each financial year
and the results are reported to the Board via the Audit Committee
afterwards.

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE2&£EZERBMRAE | Annual Report 2024 F iR

BRIt RE (@)
R E 2 R P ERBE HE (48)
RIEFE R ()

N AEEEENRHERR X
RERHARKENESE EREME
FTEM KRBT AEB TR RATT
NEHEBBERRREF - AEE B R
BETHEER UEEREBENHE
BB R ER EAAEBRERKNE
2R HAREE !

. BERERENBHNER L ER
HOHEERB -EARNEHR
MWEERAT DDA BRFHNREE
7

s AFAEEETEAWER R

B ; K

. WTEREHER - DTEWR
BEFIFANLBBRARER
BB EIEEAL

BERETFEEETHABEZER I
REREIZEBENE

PIEBE 51 i 5E
KREEREWIBESTRGE ) B EHERE
HENHNEEES T (FIINAE G 5HED)
MR ABP St BN AEERE
BIF WBBE K KRR DR
HEBREEARANBEESRTETHT
flgo

EFgEHAE-BRIMETTE - RIE
MEE 8F ESEMBER) H
RBREERNBEERMETEE B
ZRBBEZEZECHNESTGERE
%O



Corporate Governance Report
EERERRS

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)
Risk Management and Internal Control (Continued)

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and ensuring that a review of the effectiveness
of these systems has been conducted annually. However, such
systems are designed to limit the risks to which the Group exposes
to an acceptable level but not eliminate them. Hence, such systems
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatements in financial information and record or loss.
Several areas have been considered during the Board's review, which
include but are not limited to (i) changes in the nature and extent
of significant risks (including ESG risks) since the last annual review
and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; and (ii) the scope and quality of management’s
on-going monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.

Furthermore, to comply with code provision D.2.2 of the CG Code,
the Board also included a review of the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, internal audit as well as the
function relating to its ESG performance and reporting, their training
programmes and budget in its annual review during the Year.

The Board has engaged an external professional internal control
consultant firm, Roma Risk Advisory Limited (“Roma”), to
conduct a review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems and to give recommendations to
make any enhancement during the Year. Such review covered
material controls on corporate level control, financial reporting and
disclosure management, compliance management, procurement and
expenditure management, human resource and payroll management,
inventory and costing management, information system management
and fixed assets management for all business segments of the Group
and did not reveal any significant defects. Roma has reported major
findings and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee. Relevant
recommendations made by Roma have been properly followed up by
the Group to further enhance its internal control policies, procedures
and practices. The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control
review report issued by Roma on the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems for the Year and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)
External Auditors and Auditor’s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 152 to 158.

For the Year, the remuneration paid/payable to the external auditors
of the Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services
amounted to HK$2,475,000 and HK$359,400 respectively. The non-
audit services charged by the external auditors of the Company for
the Year included (i) interim review of the financial statements of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2024; and (i) filling of tax
return of the Company and its subsidiaries.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communications with the
shareholders are essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Group also recognises the importance of transparency
and timely disclosure of corporate information to enable shareholders
and investors to make the best investment decision.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. The Company has adopted
a shareholders communication policy (the “Shareholders
Communication Policy”) in accordance with the CG Code which
provides for different communication channels between the Company
and the shareholders. According to the Shareholders Communication
Policy, the Board is committed to providing clear and full information
of the Group to the shareholders in a timely and effective manner
through making the Company’s interim and annual reports, notices of
general meeting, circulars, notices, proxy forms and other documents
available to the shareholders as and when appropriate and providing
additional information to the shareholders on the Company’s website
from time to time. Designated officers maintain regular dialogue with
institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the latest
information of the Company’s developments. Investors may write
directly to the Company at the principal place of business in Hong
Kong for any enquiries. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner.
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EERERRS

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS (Continued)

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The
Company encourages its shareholders to attend general meetings
to ensure a high level of accountability to the shareholders and
for the shareholders to stay informed of the Group's strategy and
goals. External auditors, the Chairman as well as the chairmen of
the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee or, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees, normally
attend the annual general meeting and other relevant general
meetings of the Company to answer questions from the shareholders.

During the Year, the Company had arranged for the notice of its
annual general meeting held on 7 June 2024 (the “2024 AGM")
to be sent to its shareholders at least 21 clear days beforehand.
All members of the Board and the external auditors attended the
2024 AGM and shareholders’ questions were addressed during the
meeting. In light of the above, the Board was satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication
Policy.

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, shareholders of the Company
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held in the form of a physical meeting only and
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with
Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, as amended
from time to time. The written requisition must state the objects of
the meeting, and must be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and
deposited to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place
of business.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS (Continued)

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, (i) shareholders
representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights
of all shareholders having a right to vote at the general meeting;
or (ii) not less than one hundred shareholders, can submit a written
requisition stating the resolution which is intended to be moved
at a general meeting, or to submit a statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

Shareholders who wish to put forward any enquiry to the Board
may send such written enquiry to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong, to the attention of the Company Secretary.

The Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, deals with shareholders’
questions on their shareholdings and related share registration
matters.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard the shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed at general meetings on each substantially
separate issue, including the election of individual Director.

All resolutions put forward at a general meeting will be taken by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be uploaded on
the websites of the Company (www.newaygroup.com.hk) and of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) respectively after the general
meeting.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFZEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie, aged 46, was appointed as the Chairman
since August 2009. He has been an executive Director since July 2004
and the chief executive officer of the Company from November 2007
to 31 August 2009. He is currently the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie obtained an EMBA degree and
a Master degree in marketing from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 2008 and 2003 respectively. He had two years of experience
in investment banking and subsequently moved to commercial sector
and acted as a director of a private company for two years. Mr. SUEK
Ka Lun, Ernie possesses sophisticated and professional management
experience and is familiar with investment analysis. He is responsible
for monitoring the Group’s business development and to search
for business opportunities in the PRC market and overseas. Mr.
SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie has not entered into any service contract with
the Company and there is no designated length of service but his
appointment is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election and
other related provisions as stipulated in the Bye-laws and the Listing
Rules. As at the date of this report, Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie is entitled
to receive a remuneration of HK$2,310,000 per annum.

Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie is the nephew of Mr. SUEK Chai Hong, an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer, and Dr. NG Wai
Kwan, a non-executive Director.

Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie, is a director of CNA Company Limited and
Longoing Limited, which has an interest in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and Divisions 3 of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong
Kong) ("SFO").

Mr. SUEK Chai Hong, aged 63, was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer since August 2009 and has been appointed as an executive
Director since 1992. He is also a director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. SUEK Chai Hong obtained a Bachelor degree
of Business Administration in Finance from the York University,
Canada. He has more than 35 years of experience in marketing and
is responsible for running the Company’s businesses and developing
and implementing the Group's strategic plans and business goals.
Mr. SUEK Chai Hong has not entered into any service contract with
the Company and there is no designated length of service but his
appointment is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election and
other related provisions as stipulated in the Bye-laws and the Listing
Rules. As at the date of this report, Mr. SUEK Chai Hong is entitled to
receive a remuneration of HK$1,386,000 per annum.

Mr. SUEK Chai Hong is the uncle of Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie, an
executive Director and the Chairman.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. NG Wai Kwan, aged 75, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in March 2007. Dr. NG Wai Kwan holds an engineering
doctorate degree from the University of Warwick in the United
Kingdom. Dr. NG Wai Kwan has over 40 years' experience in global
supply chain management, logistics planning, innovation and
executive and leadership development.

Pursuant to the letter of appointment entered into between Dr. NG
Wai Kwan and the Company, Dr. NG Wai Kwan has been appointed
for a term of three years commenced from 1 April 2022 until 31
March 2025 subject to retirement by rotation and re-election and
other related provisions as stipulated in the Bye-laws and the Listing
Rules and the terms and conditions of his letter of appointment. As
at the date of this report, Dr. NG Wai Kwan is entitled to receive a
remuneration of HK$120,000 per annum.

Dr. NG Wai Kwan is the uncle of Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie, an executive
Director and the Chairman.

Mr. CHAN Kwing Choi, Warren, aged 73, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in February 2002 and was re-
designated as a non-executive Director in November 2007. Mr. CHAN
Kwing Choi, Warren is a fellow member of each of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants (UK), the Institute of the Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, the Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and the Chartered Global Management
Accountant.

Mr. CHAN Kwing Choi, Warren has over 40 years of experience
in financial management, corporate administration and corporate
finance in several multinational corporations and listed public
companies.

Pursuant to the letter of appointment entered into between Mr.
CHAN Kwing Choi, Warren and the Company, Mr. CHAN Kwing
Choi, Warren has been appointed for a term of three years
commenced from 1 April 2022 until 31 March 2025 subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election and other related provisions as
stipulated in the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules and the terms and
conditions of his letter of appointment. As at the date of this report,
Mr. CHAN Kwing Choi, Warren is entitled to receive a remuneration of
HK$169,992 per annum.
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Mr. WONG Sun Fat, aged 69, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director from December 1994 to August 2009 and
re-designated as a non-executive Director in August 2009. He is
currently a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. WONG Sun Fat holds a Bachelor degree of Arts from
The University of Hong Kong and has over 40 years of experience in
electronic products business and vast experience in manufacturing
operations.

Pursuant to the letter of appointment entered into between Mr.
WONG Sun Fat and the Company, Mr. WONG Sun Fat has been
appointed for a term of three years commenced from 1 April 2022
until 31 March 2025 subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election and other related provisions as stipulated in the Bye-laws
and the Listing Rules and the terms and conditions of his letter of
appointment. As at the date of this report, Mr. WONG Sun Fat is
entitled to receive a remuneration of HK$120,000 per annum.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Kwok Wan, aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in April 2013. He is currently a member of the
Nomination Committee, and the chairman of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. LEE Kwok Wan holds a
MBA degree in Business Administration and a Bachelor degree in
Commerce and Accountancy. He is an associate member of each of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the CPA
Australia. Mr. LEE Kwok Wan has more than 30 years of accounting
and management experience. He is the chief financial officer of a
sizable company in Hong Kong engaging in the manufacturing of
watches. He was once appointed as the company secretary of the
Company from March 2007 to May 2008.

Pursuant to the letter of appointment entered into between Mr. LEE
Kwok Wan and the Company, Mr. LEE Kwok Wan has been appointed
for a term of three years commenced from 5 April 2022 until 4 April
2025 subject to retirement by rotation and re-election and other
related provisions as stipulated in the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules
and the terms and conditions of his letter of appointment. As at
the date of this report, Mr. LEE Kwok Wan is entitled to receive a
remuneration of HK$120,000 per annum.
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Mr. CHU Gun Pui, aged 45, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in June 2017. He is currently a member of the
Nomination Committee. Mr. CHU Gun Pui holds a Bachelor degree of
Commerce majoring in marketing and a Bachelor degree of Science
majoring in computer science from The University of Auckland. Mr.
CHU Gun Pui has over 20 years of experience in sales and marketing
field in entertainment industry.

Pursuant to the letter of appointment entered into between Mr. CHU
Gun Pui and the Company, Mr. CHU Gun Pui has been appointed
for a term of three years commenced from 23 June 2023 until 22
June 2026 subject to retirement by rotation and re-election and
other related provisions as stipulated in the Bye-laws and the Listing
Rules and the terms and conditions of his letter of appointment. As
at the date of this report, Mr. CHU Gun Pui is entitled to receive a
remuneration of HK$120,000 per annum.

Ms. SIN Chui Pik, Christine, aged 46, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in September 2023. Ms. SIN
Chui Pik, Christine is currently a member of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee. She holds a bachelor’s degree
of business administration in accounting from Hong Kong Baptist
University in 2001. Ms. SIN Chui Pik, Christine is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Ms. SIN Chui Pik, Christine has over 22 years of accounting and
auditing experience. She worked for Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
an international public accounting and auditing firm, from 2001
to 2004 and from 2005 to 2014, where she most recently served
as a manager. Ms. SIN Chui Pik, Christine is currently an executive
director of Medicskin Holdings Limited (“Medicskin”, together with
its subsidiaries, “Medicskin Group”), a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange with stock code 8307. She has also been the chief
financial officer of Medicskin Group and the company secretary of
Medicskin since 2014.

Pursuant to the letter of appointment entered into between Ms. SIN
Chui Pik, Christine and the Company, Ms. SIN Chui Pik, Christine
has been appointed for a term of three years commenced from 28
September 2023 to 27 September 2026 subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election and other related provisions as stipulated in
the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules and the terms and conditions of
her letter of appointment. As at the date of this report, Ms. SIN Chui
Pik, Christine is entitled to receive a remuneration of HK$120,000 per
annum.
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As at the date of this report, each of Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie, Mr.
SUEK Chai Hong, Dr. NG Wai Kwan and Mr. WONG Sun Fat has an
interest in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and/or
its associated corporations which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO. For further details, please refer to the paragraphs headed
“Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures”
of the Directors’ Report in this annual report. There is no change in
such Directors’ interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company and/or its associated corporations within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO from 31 December 2024 up to the date of this
report.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Neway
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) presents the annual report of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the "Year”). All cross-
references mentioned in this Directors’ Report form part of this
Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. During the Year,
the principal activities of the Group include (i) money lending (the
“Lending Business”); (ii) manufacturing and sales of printing and
other products (the “Manufacturing and Sales Business”); (iii) artists
management, production and distribution of music albums as well
as concert and event management and investment (the “Music and
Entertainment Business”); (iv) property development (the “Property
Development Business”); (v) property investment (the “Property
Investment Business”); (vi) securities trading (the “Securities Trading
Business”); and (vii) trading of printing and other products (the
“Trading Business”). The principal activities and other details of the
principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
159 to 160.

No dividend was paid or proposed during the Year.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Year (year ended 31 December 2023 (“Year 2023"): Nil).

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE2&£EZERBMRAE | Annual Report 2024 F iR

Neway Group Holdings Limited £ ££[&
ERERAT* (IRAF  ERHEHMNE
RE BEATAERN)ES(EE)S
(TEExg)) BLREREARAHBES
“HHFE+ZA=+—HLEFE (IKF
Bl ZER - AEEZGHRERNZFIAEE

EZ2BHOERAEETEREZ Do

FEX

RABA—BEREERAB c NAFE
E > ZX%IE’JEE%%&(@% )=
(THEZEF]) (NP K EAthE mE
ERIHE (TWERIFHEER) (iR
ANEE BERETEEIB AR UUSENG
BEREHNEERKRE (SRR e %
%) 5 (WHEZRE ((MEZBRER)
(v )%%&ﬁ (MPEREZEF) ;(ViEH
BE (BHEEEXEK) ; RVIEITRI K
HtWERES ((B5 %) - &AAFE
EfBABIZETBEER REMEIBFH
RizE B RERME390

FRADE

KREBARFEZEEFHNFI0OBEES
160BZ e Em REMEEW A REK
ﬁqo
RAEFETERNFZEZRNGKE
EEZILEZMNEAFERNVREBRE
HE_E_=F+"-_A=+—H1
FE(ZTE-=ZFE)) | #) o

* EaEE



Directors’ Report
ES5EHRS

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS (Continued)

In order to enhance transparency of the Company and facilitate
the shareholders of the Company and investors to make informed
investment decisions relating to the Company, the Board has adopted
a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”). According to the Dividend
Policy, when determining whether to declare any dividend in the
future and the amount of dividend to be declared, the Company shall
consider a number of factors, including but not limited to:

the Group's actual and expected financial results;

o the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Company;

o the Company’s business operation strategy, including expected
working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements
and future expansion plans;

o the Company’s liquidity position;

o retained earnings and distributable profit reserves of the
Company;

o the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends

imposed by the Company’s lenders and other institutions; and

o any other factors that the Board considers to be applicable
from time to time.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution
proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration, payment and amount
of dividends will be subject to the Board's discretion. The Board will
review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's businesses with analysis using key
performance indicators and the likely future development of the
Group are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 6 to 26. These discussions form part of this
“Business Review" section in this Directors’ Report. There are no
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the year.

In addition, description of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, discussions on the Group's environmental policies and
performance, and the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders
including employees, customers and suppliers are also provided in
other sub-sections of this Directors’ Report and form part of this
“Business Review" section.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group acquired property, plant and equipment at an aggregate
cost of approximately HK$8.5 million (Year 2023: approximately
HK$5.4 million) during the Year in order to increase its production
capacity. Details of such acquisitions and other movements in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Year are set
out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no change in the share capital and capital structure of the
Company during the Year.

ISSUE OF SHARES OR DEBENTURES

During the Year, the Company did not issue any shares or debentures.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to its shareholders were approximately HK$465.3 million
(Year 2023: approximately HK$556.3 million), calculated in
accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 304.

DIRECTORS

The Board comprises the following Directors during the Year and up
to the date of this Directors’ Report:

Executive Directors:

Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie (Chairman)
Mr. SUEK Chai Hong (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors:

Dr. NG Wai Kwan
Mr. CHAN Kwing Choi, Warren
Mr. WONG Sun Fat

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. LEE Kwok Wan
Mr. CHU Gun Pui
Ms. SIN Chui Pik, Christine

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the Company’s bye-laws (the
“Bye-laws”), Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie, Mr. CHAN Kwing Choi, Warren
and Mr. CHU Gun Pui will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (the “2025 AGM") of the Company. Being eligible, each of
Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie, Mr. CHAN Kwing Choi, Warren and Mr. CHU
Gun Pui will offer himself for re-election at the 2025 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director being proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has
a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each of the Company (the “Shares”)
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capital of
Number of the Company
Name of director Capacity Shares held {5 F B 1T
By 19 FrIERH#EE RABOEILL
Mr. SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie Founder of a discretionary trust who 39,872,000
(“Mr. Ernie Suek”) can influence how the trustee
exercises his discretion’
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Interest of controlled corporation?

PR AR 2 2

Beneficial owner

Em#EAA
Mr. SUEK Chai Hong Beneficial owner
EERERE Em#EAA
Dr. NG Wai Kwan Beneficial owner
SEEEL Em#EAA
Mr. WONG Sun Fat Beneficial owner
i P Em#EAA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

0)

(i)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each of the Company (the “Shares”) (Continued)

Notes:

1. These Shares are beneficially owned by CNA which is in
turn beneficially owned by the Preserve Capital Trust, a
discretionary trust set up by Mr. Ernie Suek, the beneficiaries
of which include a family member of Mr. Ernie Suek and a
charitable institution set up in Hong Kong.

2. These Shares are beneficially owned by Longoing Limited,

which is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Ernie Suek. Mr. Ernie
Suek is also the director of Longoing Limited.

Long positions in the shares of associated
corporations

As at 31 December 2024, CNA beneficially owned deferred
non-voting shares in the following subsidiaries of the
Company:

Name of subsidiary
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New Box Mini Storage Limited

hRRIMBEARAE

Chung Tai Printing (China) Company Limited
FRARENR] (FRED BIRAF

Chung Tai Printing Company Limited
RRENBIBIRAE

The Greatime Offset Printing Company, Limited
mAAENRIBRAE

The rights and restrictions of such deferred non-voting shares
are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ Report
ESEHRS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

(ii) Long positions in the shares of associated
corporations (Continued)

CNA is beneficially owned by the Preserve Capital Trust,
a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Ernie Suek and the
beneficiaries of which include a family member of Mr. Ernie
Suek and a charitable institution set up in Hong Kong. Mr.
Ernie Suek is deemed to be interested in all the deferred non-
voting shares owned by CNA in the above subsidiaries of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no other Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interest or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including the interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (iii) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ Report
ES5EHRS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, so far as was known to the Directors,
the following persons, other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company, had interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept

under section 336 of the SFO:

Long Positions

FERR

R _E_NEF+ZRB=+—H 'ME
ERAUTAL (EFRNEART 2R
BITHABRRIN PR R ABR AR $
HEAREBRESRPEFRAFEI36FAT
FEZELMAREZEm XA
T

e
Approximate

percentage of
the issued share

capital of
the Company
Number of o /NS
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares held BETREZ
RERLE 815 FriFRe {7 8B B4 E oL
CNA’ Beneficial owner 39,872,000 15.74%
BEm#EAA
Alpadis Trust (HK) Limited’ Trustee 39,872,0007 15.74%
SEEA
Alpadis Group Holding AG’ Interest of controlled corporation 39,872,000° 15.74%
RIEFLEE 2 #m
Alain ESSEIVA! Interest of controlled corporation 39,872,0007 15.74%
REGEE Z #m
Vanessa Teo ESSEIVA® Interest of spouse 39,872,000° 15.74%
(formerly known as TEO Wei Lee) — BCiBiE
Vanessa Teo ESSEIVA?
(BT ELE5 BTFO Wei Lee)
Longoing Limited* Beneficial owner 16,730,0007 6.60%

BEmEEA
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Directors’ Report
ESEHRS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Long Positions (Continued)

Notes:

CNA is beneficially owned by the Preserve Capital Trust, a discretionary
trust set up by Mr. Ernie Suek, the beneficiaries of which include a
family member of Mr. Ernie Suek and a charitable institution set up
in Hong Kong. Alpadis Trust (HK) Limited, which is wholly-owned by
Alpadis Group Holding AG, is the trustee of Preserve Capital Trust.
Alpadis Group Holding AG is owned as to 82% by Alain ESSEIVA.

These 39,872,000 Shares duplicate with those held by CNA.

Spouse of Alain ESSEIVA .

Longoing Limited is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Ernie Suek. These
16,730,000 Shares duplicate with 16,730,000 Shares which Mr. Ernie
Suek is interested in.

Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the Directors, as
at 31 December 2024, there was no other person, other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company, who had an interest or
short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.
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Directors’ Report
ES5EHRS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) of
the Company was approved by Shareholders at the 2023 AGM and
was subsequently adopted by the Company on 20 June 2023 in
accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. According to the
rules of the Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise terminated or
amended, it will remain in force until 19 June 2033, being 10 years
after the date of its adoption.

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to enable the Company
to grant options to the Eligible Participants (as defined below) as
incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential contribution
to the growth and development of the Group and/or enable the
Group to recruit and retain high-calibre Eligible Participants and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.

The Directors (or a duly authorised committee thereof) may, subject
to the provisions of the Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules,
invite any of the following eligible participant(s) (the “Eligible
Participant(s)”) to subscribe for Shares:

(a) director(s) and employee(s) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (including person(s) who are granted options
under the Share Option Scheme as an inducement to enter
into employment contracts with such companies) (the
"Employee Participant(s)”);

(b) director(s) and employee(s) of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company; and

(0 person(s) who provide services to the member(s) of the
Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and
usual course of business which are in the interests of the
long-term growth of the Group, excluding placing agents or
financial advisers who provide advisory services for fundraising,
mergers or acquisitions or professional service providers such
as auditors or valuers who provide assurance or are required
to perform their services with impartiality and objectivity (the

"

“Service Provider(s)").
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Directors’ Report
ESEHRS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of Shares which may be issued in respect of all
options and awards to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue on the date on which the Share
Option Scheme was adopted (i.e. 25,335,945 Shares) (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”), which represent approximately 10% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this Directors’ Report. The total number of
Shares which may be issued in respect of all options and awards to
be granted to the Service Provider(s) under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue on the date on which the Share
Option Scheme was adopted (i.e. 2,533,594 Shares) (the “Service
Provider Sublimit”), which represent approximately 1% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this Directors’ Report. Subject to the rules of
the Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, the Scheme Mandate
Limit (and the Service Provider Sublimit) may be refreshed.

Where any grant of options to an individual Eligible Participant
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all
options and awards granted to such Eligible Participant (excluding
any options or awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and any other share scheme(s) of the Company)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in issue, such grant
must be separately approved by the Shareholders in general meeting
with such Eligible Participant and his/her close associates (or associates
where such Eligible Participant is a connected person of the Company)
abstaining from voting.
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Directors’ Report
ES5EHRS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Where any grant of options to an independent non-executive Director
or a substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options and awards already granted (excluding any
options or awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme and any other share scheme(s) of the Company) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares
in issue, such further grant of options must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting.

Any grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to any Director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of
their respective associates must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director
who or whose associate is the proposed grantee of the options).

The subscription price in respect of any option shall be a price
determined at the discretion of the Directors, but shall not be less
than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date; and (ii) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date. A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is
payable on acceptance of the grant of an option.

An option may be accepted by an Eligible Participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer for grant of the option.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme, the
Directors may establish performance targets against the attainment of
which the options granted to the Eligible Participant concerned may
be exercised either in whole or in part.

An option may be exercised during such period as the Directors may
determine, save that such period shall not be more than 10 years from
the date of grant.
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Directors’ Report
ESEHRS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The vesting period in respect of any option granted to any Eligible
Participant shall not be less than 12 months from the offer date,
provided that where the Eligible Participant is an Employee Participant,
the remuneration committee of the Board (the “Remuneration
Committee”) (in the case where such Employee Participant is a
Director or a senior manager identified by the Company) or the
Directors (in the case where such Employee Participant is neither
a Director nor a senior manager identified by the Company) shall
have the authority to determine a shorter vesting period, if the
Remuneration Committee (or, as the case may be, the Directors)
considers that a shorter vesting period is appropriate to align with the
purpose of the Share Option Scheme. Notwithstanding the terms and
conditions of the Share Option Scheme, the Directors may provide
in the notice of the offer that any option prior to it being exercised
may be subject to clawback and/or a longer vesting period if any of
the clawback events (as defined under the rules of the Share Option
Scheme) shall occur.

No option has ever been granted to any Eligible Participant under the
Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of Shares which may be
issued in respect of all options and awards available for grant under
the Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service Provider Sublimit was
25,335,945 Shares and 2,533,594 Shares respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group during the Year or subsisted at the end of
the Year.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the Year, none of the Directors had any interest in any business
which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE2&£EZERBMRAE | Annual Report 2024 F iR

Rz inHAtESTE (8

RYEMEERSEENIABERE
WEBHAS VR ENEREZ12(E
R EGERZHEERREESHE &
FeHMEEE (FMEEE)) LA
FEESHER/TATHNZESTN
SHREEMS) NEFE LEREES
BEFARTHB ZEFT B MEE
ms) BERBEEBREZEE > M
MEEE (HEBRMERES) BB
RiEzEBHTGROBESE 2B
BY o R B B 10 HA 1 51 B AU IR RR R AR £
EFTRBHNBNDREE  HMEEE
BRI E M (E&R RO HES SRR
A) s BIERERERITEZANE X
AR HARERRBANT &

B e 7 st 81 BB RIREL St
FREFNEERSHEERHBRE

R_E_WME+_B=+—H">fstal
RERBLARBIRTEEDEREET
AN EBRERER T
B D488 Bl A25,335,945/% B8 19 K
2,533,594% f% 15 ©

& f2} 20 170 53

FRIRIDRARESTEIIN M FERNEER
WHESUNAFEREEDABRZ
R m A 1775 o

i
PSR BB S M () B o o] S B

AEBEXBERNBERF ZEBT
BEEEMED -



Directors’ Report
ES5EHRS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the Year was
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Save for the transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transaction” and as disclosed in notes
26 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements, none of the
Directors or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and which was
subsisting as at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group has engaged in a continuing connected
transaction which is subject to annual reporting requirement in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the continuing connected
transaction is set out below:

Supreme Cycle Inc. (“Supreme Cycle”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, is principally engaged in investment holding and
property investment and its principal assets is the whole of 3/F, Hop
Yick Commercial Centre (Phase 1), 33 Hop Choi Street, Yuen Long,
New Territories, Hong Kong (the “Yuen Long Property”). Pursuant to
the tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”) dated 1 August
2023 entered into between Supreme Cycle as landlord and Paco
Corporation Limited (“Paco Corporation”) as tenant, the Yuen Long
Property was leased to Paco Corporation for an initial term of three
years from 1 August 2023 to 31 July 2026. Paco Corporation is
ultimately wholly-owned by Dr. Suek Chai Kit Christopher, who is
a merchant and is the father of Mr. Ernie Suek and the brother of
Mr. Suek Chai Hong, both being executive Directors. Dr. Suek Chai
Kit Christopher is also the brother-in-law of Dr. Ng Wai Kwan, a
non-executive Director. By virtue of the above, Paco Corporation is
a connected person of the Company and the entering into of the
Tenancy Agreement between Supreme Cycle and Paco Corporation
constituted a continuing connected transaction for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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ESEHRS

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
(Continued)

Principal terms

The terms of the Tenancy Agreement were determined after arm’s
length negotiations between the parties thereto. The principal terms
of the Tenancy Agreement are set out below:

Use: Operation of a karaoke outlet or related business ancillary to
karaoke operations conducted by Paco Corporation and its
affiliated companies.

Term: Three years commencing from 1 August 2023 to 31 July 2026
(both dates inclusive).

Rent: A monthly rent of HK$262,400 (exclusive of Government rent,
rates, management fee, air-conditioning charges (if any) and all
other outgoings) payable monthly in advance.

During the Year, the rental income charged by the Group to Paco

Corporation was approximately HK$3.1 million (Year 2023: HK$1.3
million).
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Directors’ Report

EFEHRS

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
(Continued)

Annual caps

The annual caps for the transaction contemplated under the Tenancy
Agreement (the “Annual Caps”) are set out below:

For the year

HERERS (8

FE LR

REEEHZRRETZXENEE LR
(T E PR &HF

Annual Caps

ended/ending 31 December amount
BE+-A=+—HLEFE FELREEE

(HK$)

(BT
2023 :’;:Efﬁ 1,312,000
2024 —ZTTNE 3,148,800
2025 “ETHEF 3,148,800
2026 “ETRE 1,836,800

Details of the above transaction have been set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 1 August 2023.

The terms of the Tenancy Agreement were negotiated between
Supreme Cycle and Paco Corporation on an arm’s length basis.
The monthly rent was determined based on the prevailing market
conditions and with reference to (i) the amount of market rent
for comparable properties situated in the vicinity of the Yuen
Long Property around the time when the Tenancy Agreement was
signed; and (ii) the monthly rent received by Supreme Cycle from an
independent tenant for the leasing of the Yuen Long Property from 1
August 2020 to 31 July 2023, which was also HK$262,400.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
(Continued)

The Group has undertaken the following internal control measures to
monitor the rent and the terms of the transaction contemplated under
the Tenancy Agreement and ensure that the same will be no more
favourable than rents and terms offered by the Group to independent
tenants and that the Annual Caps are not exceeded:

(i) monitoring the prevailing market rents at similar locations on a
quarterly basis;

(i) adhering to the relevant internal control policy of the Group
on connected transactions in monitoring the rent under
the Tenancy Agreement to ensure that it shall be no more
favourable than those offered by the Group to independent
tenants;

(iii) the independent non-executive Directors will review and
confirm on an annual basis that the rent and the terms under
the Tenancy Agreement are fair and reasonable to the Group
and in the interests of the Shareholders and the Group as
a whole, and are no more favourable than rents and terms
offered by the Group to independent tenants; and

(iv) the auditors of the Company will review the rent and the
terms under the Tenancy Agreement and the Annual Caps on
an annual basis in compliance with the annual reporting and
review requirements under the Listing Rules.

The above continuing connected transaction has been reviewed by
the independent non-executive Directors. The independent non-
executive Directors have confirmed that it was entered into (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of the Group's Property Investment
Business; (ii) on normal commercial terms; and (iii) in accordance with
the Tenancy Agreement and on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interest of the Shareholders as a whole.
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Directors’ Report
ES5EHRS

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
(Continued)

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
engaged its external auditors to perform certain agreed-upon
procedures in respect of the above continuing connected transaction.
The auditors have reported to the Board confirming that nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the above
continuing connected transaction (i) has not been approved by the
Board; (i) was not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the Tenancy Agreement; or (iii) has exceeded the relevant Annual
Cap.

The Directors confirmed that the related party transactions as
disclosed in note 34(a) to the consolidated financial statements fall
under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing
connected transaction” (as the case may be) under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. The Directors confirmed that the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of such transactions.

The Directors confirmed that the related party transactions as
disclosed in note 34(b) to the consolidated financial statements do not
fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing
connected transaction” (as the case may be) under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the existing independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her
independence with reference to the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the existing
independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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ESEHRS

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the general staff of the Group is determined
by the management of the Group with reference to the market
conditions and qualifications of the employees. The reward packages
for the staff are generally reviewed and adjusted on an annual basis,
depending on the staff's and the Group’s performance.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board having regard
to the Company’s operating results, duties, responsibilities and
performance of the individual Director, as well as market practice and
conditions.

The Share Option Scheme as set out on pages 61 to 64 above was
also adopted by the Company as a long-term incentive or rewards for
the staff's contribution.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the Year, the Company applied the principles of and
complied with all the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Details of the
corporate governance practices of the Group during the Year are set
out in Corporate Governance Report on pages 27 to 46.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the Year and as at the date of this Directors’ Report, an
indemnity provision was in force such that the Directors should be
indemnified by the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses they may incur or sustain in the execution of
their duty.

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance for the
Directors and officers of the Group for indemnifying their liabilities
arising out of corporate activities of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.
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Directors’ Report
ES5EHRS

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable
date prior to the date of this Directors’ Report, at least 25% of the
issued Shares were held by the public throughout the Year.

DONATIONS

The Group made donations for charitable or other purposes of
approximately HK$154,000 for the Year (Year 2023: approximately
HK$295,000).

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND ENVIRONMENTAL
POLICIES

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it engages. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to identify
and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources,
energy saving and waste reduction. Please refer to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report on pages 75 to 151 for further
information on the work done and efforts made by the Company on
environmental protection and other aspects for sustainable growth
and development of the business of the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial performance, operating results, business operation
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties.
The key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group are set out
below. However, there may be other risks and uncertainties in addition
to those shown below, which are not known to the Group or which
may not be material now but may become material in the future. The
management of the Company meets periodically to discuss these risks,
and where appropriate, will monitor these risks closely and adopt any
necessary risk mitigation measures. In respect of the details of the
risk management system and internal audit function of the Company,
please refer to the paragraphs headed “Risk Management and Internal
Control” on pages 40 to 43.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(Continued)

Business Risk

The Group currently has seven operating segments in various
industries and each operating segment has its specific business risks.
For the Manufacturing and Sales Business and the Trading Business,
the Group is subject to intense competition in terms of product
prices and production costs, and is also affected by seasonal factors
prevailing in the countries of targeted and existing customers. For
the Lending Business, the collectability of outstanding loans and
the customer network of the Group are both affecting the financial
performance of the segment. The Music and Entertainment Business
may be affected by the economic environment of Hong Kong and
the PRC as it will have an impact on the consumption behaviors of
both individual and corporate customers. Besides, for the Property
Development Business, the demand for industrial buildings in and
adjacent to Qingyuan City and the economic environment of the
PRC may also affect the sales of industrial buildings of the Zhongxing
Industrial Park. To maintain the competitiveness of the Group, the
management of the Company will meet regularly with the head of the
respective business units to keep itself up-to-date with the business
environment.

Environmental Risk

The Group’s Manufacturing and Sales Business is obliged to comply
with a variety of environment protection laws and regulations on the
discharge and disposal of waste materials, water and gas imposed by
relevant governmental bodies in the PRC. These law and regulations
govern the disposal of these wastes and impose fines and penalties
for serious violation of environmental requirements, and any non-
compliance may jeopardise the operating licences of the Group's
subsidiaries engaged in the Manufacturing and Sales Business.

Moreover, environmental laws and regulations applicable to the Group
are subject to change from time to time. It may be impracticable
for the Group to continuously quantify the costs of complying with
such laws and regulations, and any further change may also lead
to a substantial increase in the operating costs of the Group. In this
regard, the management of the Company regularly reviews adherence
to relevant environmental laws and regulations with the head of the
Manufacturing and Sales Business.
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Directors’ Report
ES5EHRS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(Continued)

Market Price Risk

The Group’'s Securities Trading Business is exposed to the risk of
decreasing fair values of equity securities as a result of the volatile
market changes. The management of the Company together with
the Investment Management Committee monitor the changes of
respective securities’ prices and may change the investment portfolio
held and investment strategy whenever necessary.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are carried out both in Hong Kong and the
PRC and are regulated by their laws and regulations accordingly. In
particular, the Group's Manufacturing and Sales Business is obliged
to comply with a variety of environmental protection laws and
regulations on the discharge of waste, water and pollutants and the
labour law in the PRC. While any non-compliance may attract fines
and penalties and jeopardise the operating licences of the Group,
the imposition of more stringent regulations may also increase the
operating costs of the business segment.

During the Year and up to date of this Directors’ Report, the Group
has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impact in Hong Kong and the PRC. For details, please refer
to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 75 to
151.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the percentage of purchases attributable to the 5
largest suppliers combined was less than 30%. The percentage of
revenue from sales of goods or rendering of services attributable to
the 5 largest customers combined was also less than 30%.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group strives to maintain a strong relationship with its suppliers,
customers, employees and other stakeholders to meet its immediate
and long-term goals. Please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 75 to 151 for further information.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu who shall retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-appointment at the 2025 AGM. A resolution will be proposed
at the 2025 AGM to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
auditors of the Company.

There has been no change of auditors of the Company in any of the
preceding three financial years.

On behalf of the Board

SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HHERERKRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the ninth Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG")
Report (the “Report”) of the Neway Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company” and its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the
“Group” or "we") since 2016. It provides insights into the Group's
approach, objectives, and performance pertaining to key ESG aspects,
in order to enhance stakeholders’ understanding of the Group’s
sustainability efforts.

The Report covers the Group’s printing business in Hong Kong and
Mainland China and has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code (formerly
named as the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide,
hereinafter referred to as the “Reporting Code”) set out in Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK"), and
it follows the “mandatory disclosure requirements” and “comply
or explain” provisions. This Report is published in both English and
Chinese. In case of any discrepancy between the two versions, the
English version shall prevail.

Reporting Standard and Principles

The Report follows the reporting principles outlined in the Reporting
Code. The principles of Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and
Consistency form the foundation of the content presented in the
Report.

Reporting Boundary and Scope

The boundary of the Report is consistent with the previous year's ESG
report. It covers the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2024 (the "Year”), i.e. the 2024 financial year. The Report focuses
on the environmental and social performance of the business of
the manufacturing and sales of printing products, being the largest
business segment of the Group in terms of its contribution to the
revenue for the Year.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Reporting Boundary and Scope (Continued)

The Report covers the three principal subsidiaries of the Group:

o Chung Tai Printing (International) Company Limited;

. 2R REIR) GRIIN BFRAT (Unofficial English translation
being Neway Chung Tai Printing (Shenzhen) Company Limited)
(“Neway Chung Tai Printing”);

. tREENR] CRII) B R F] (Unofficial English translation being
Kam Hon Printing (Shenzhen) Company Limited) (“Kam Hon
Printing”).

These are the three principal subsidiaries of the Group's printing
products manufacturing and sales business.

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY
Board Statement

We recognise that the Group’s long-term sustainable growth can
be assured by adoption of robust ESG principles and strategies.
The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) is responsible
for overseeing the overall performance in addressing ESG-related
risks and opportunities, which include establishing sustainable
development strategies, reviewing progress towards established goals,
regularly engaging with stakeholders, and managing the potential
impact of ESG risks on operations. Under the Board's guidance,
the Group has set goals for its performance across various ESG
aspects, ensuring that it effectively addresses evolving needs of its
stakeholders. Performance against the set objectives and goals is
regularly reviewed and updated to support sustainable development.

The Group has implemented a comprehensive, top-down ESG
governance framework, which facilitates regular risk assessments and
formulation of recommendations to the management for mitigating
risks and also assigns clearly defined responsibilities to specific officers
and departments. Under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer,
five executive committees are responsible for managing specific ESG
risks, including labour risks, occupational health and safety risks,
environmental risks, business ethics risks, and compliance risks. These
groups provide timely updates to the Board.
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SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY (Continued) 5B EERER (48)
Board Statement (Continued) EETER B

Management Representative
BEEEAR

Labour Executive Health and Safety Environmental Executive Ethics Executive Management System
Committee Executive Committee _Committee Committee Executive Committee
BTHITEE/)\E BRZEMITEE /A IRIBHITEZE/VE BEANTEE)E BERBRAITEE/NE
e Remuneration and ¢ QOccupational health e Pollution prevention e Business ethics e Legal compliance
benefits _ and safety IS BEER HEEAR
Fr 2 A BERRHEZS , o ,
* Resources conservation * Information disclosure e Risk assessment and
e Discrimination o Emergency BB R EREE management
prevention preparedness [ B T B B IR
B LI 38 JE 2y e * Waste and effluent e Intellectual property
BEEMRI5K rights protection e Target management
e Prevention of child/ o Work injury , fra R ERE BiRER
forced labour Te * Raw materials . . N
WHLEEERZE T /24| EAR e Privacy protection e Training management
T o Machinery , RIEFLLE s
maintenance e Hazardous materials
o Freedom of association i A oE BEME * Employee engagement
E2EH , BEZHE
o Health and safety ¢ Air and greenhouse
communication gas (“GHG") emissions * Supplier management
BEHTREE control . HEmeE
ERRERES (DR
= RAS)) HEmE
e Extreme weather
events
Rimx @ EIE
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring accuracy EECHBBEREARESEEE LR
and integrity of the Report and confirms that it includes all relevant MHEE WHESRAHRE K EFTEE
material issues and presents a true picture of the Group's ESG HEANZENMEERAERNIRIE
performance. To the best of its knowledge, the Report provides a fair HenEaRB - BEEERMFEF &
and comprehensive disclosure of information related to significant REHRE HELAELAEEZEH
ESG topics, their impact, and their management. The Report has been FELEEABAEEREREATES2R
reviewed and approved by the Board. NIRE AREEKBEETTER LM

i
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SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY (Continued)
Process used to determine materiality

We ensure effective, timely, and transparent communication by
using diverse channels to engage with stakeholders and to gather
insights into their expectations and perspectives relevant to the
Group's operations and development. Through proactive stakeholder
engagement, we identify risks and opportunities, ensuring our
business decisions align with stakeholders’ concerns.

_.|-¢_.r I%E‘?%JE ﬁ Hg (II\E)
AREEEEMBERE

RMBBEREBRFMNEBRE TR
KREHAEBEBERERENPE LR
BOBREREN KB ERBENEE &
BEBTHNFHESE BRMHENEA
S RS RRMPNER ARG ST
DEREZEE

Stakeholder Groups Topics of Concern Communication Channels
Frin &84 R RE BBERE

Customers Customer satisfaction
xR BERMREE
Data privacy
LS U
Employees Training and development
BE Hil k&R
Occupational health and safety
BEREREZS
Suppliers Third-party risk management
HFEE E=FHERERE
Investors Corporate governance
REE CEESR
Business operations
EFEF
Information disclosure
S EE
Regulators & Legitimacy of service and business ethics
Government RFBEEMREEEE
BB R T ‘
ax compliance
MBER
Community Environmental protection
& IRIB(RE
Contribution to the community
Hit&H SR
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Company website

PIN/NETF

Feedback by phone

BERER

Formal process for handling complaints
BRELHNERER

Staff meetings

BTE%

Annual appraisals

E R

Website of prospective suppliers
BT e R AR G

Supplier assessment

g STk

Supplier conference
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Annual reports and interim reports
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Corporate communications and press
releases

EEERARIER
General meetings
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Inspection and supervision
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Communication with regulatory
authorities
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Charitable activities
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Community services
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SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY (Continued) nJiFEREER (8
Process used to determine materiality (Continued) AREEEEMINBEIE (B)
We identify issues that are material to our operations by engaging BRPEPRAESMNESBRY 7THREERE
with all stakeholders and understanding their concerns, perspectives SEREEE BB REAE DI E S A
and expectations. The list of material topics is regularly reviewed in NEEZTHBEENZE KRFRETE
conjunction with industry developments and actions are taken based TETHETEEZEEE ) TIREK
on results of management-approved assessments. The table below EEEEMTMEEREEITE - T&
outlines the material topics and the corresponding actions. W EEEERBENITE -
Sustainability Pillar | Material Topics Action Taken
AISEERSE EEHAE EEREI1TED
/\/\ Take responsibility for protecting the environment and set sustainability
targets
~ EnGen el AIERERENEERGIEIRFERS
=L protection
ENVIRONMENTAL  ‘RELfR3E
MANAGEMENT
RIGEE

Provide various kinds of training to all staff
BREETRHSEIE

@ . Received I1SO 45001 certification for OHS Management System
Occupational BEHERERR 2 EEMAISO 4500121
H} health and safety
(“OHS"™) Set up environmental, health and safety (“EHS") committee to address and
: monitor OHS issues
EMPLOYEE & WERERZE ey e W ) B4 o
e (BERERE RURE REAZS (RE -RRARZ) ZE/NVEREREBRE
[N =
ENGAGEMENT 2 RRRZEEE
EERTESEH Actively engage with the community by making donations and
participating in activities
BEEE L2 EEBIR2 T EIEE
Conduct customer satisfaction surveys
ETERPRRERE
Communicate with customers regularly to get feedback
FHEE A EBEMUERSRE
Set internal policy to ensure data privacy
Customer 11 T PO B B ER R (R B BB AL
satisfaction
ERESEE Provide education and training to all staff on data protection
C@ A28 TIE AR R EURNHE R
OPERATIONAL Corporate The Board oversees management of the relevant issues, and reviews
EXCELLENCE %vern\la_\nce progress
EESH eRER EEeEE NN SRR EMER

Various internal policies are set such as Business Conduct Guidelines
to ensure our business operations comply with all applicable laws and

regulations
EfE L EABBERNEETAERNRERRMNEBELENEMA
BREGIRERR
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SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY (Continued)

Risk Control and Management

Effective risk management is integral to the Group’s sustainable
development and long-term stability. By identifying, assessing, and
addressing potential risk!, the Group enhances its ability to navigate
uncertainties and maintain operational efficiency. To mitigate risks
that could impact business operations, the Group conducts business
continuity risk assessments which help formulate measures to
safeguard operational resilience and ensure continuity.

Type of Risk

RRER

Industrial
Hazard Risk
TEEE R

IT System Risk
ITR 4% 2 Bz

Potential Impacts
BERE

Fire, explosion and chemicals spills may
disrupt production, cause employee injuries
and death, damage property and delay
deliveries to customers, leading to financial
losses and reputational damage.
WKNBIERIEBERBRAIEG TELE
E NEREEBRT MEBIKEERE
FRE  BHMBRAREBERIE

The IT system risk may lead to leakage

of confidential information, as well as
customers and suppliers information, etc
TRAREAIEERREEEUARET R KR
HEEEEINE

! For more details on climate-related risks, please refer to the “Tackling
Climate Change” section
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ARFEERERRE ()
R e B 1

BRNEBREENAEENRFEE
ERRRHREEZMEZ -BBHH 5T
EhEEETRR  AEERCREY
THEEMREFEEMRNEE - »E
BREFEXHSEN AR  ~EEH
fREEITEE AT ) B 6E FE i
DURIEE BB M R BRI E M -

Actions

T8

Establish emergency plans and conduct
regular drills
FIERZBRAEEREE

Install a fire alarm system

RERNERESRZSR

Strictly manage and store chemical
materials in designated places only

BREERERIEEMMFRICERE

Lightning protection devices are installed in
the factory and chemical storage areas.

IHRIBREEELOREHERE

“No Smoking” signs are displayed in public
areas, and employees receive fire prevention
training.
ERHEEE R IERIE I1R55 > T4 8
BRI A Z 2155

Establish firewalls and intrusion detection
system and regularly update antivirus
software
FRENGE R AR R W ERAEHH
k=g

Set data encryption, backup and disaster
recovery strategies to ensure data security
and recoverability

HIE BRI E ~ B 1D I B2 A8 SR BE LUR
FEEiEL 2 Mol Rig

Purchase only authorised and licensed
software. Set access permissions as required
by the Group
EREBERRE RS IINIMMY - RIEAE
B 5 2 K52 TE 7 BV IR

' ERRRAEMERNES B 25

MEHREEEI—&-
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IRIE - g hESKRS

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY (Continued)

Risk Control and Management (Continued)

Type of Risk

R BEERE

Utilities/Key
Equipment Risk
REHE D
= 15 E g

Labour,
Government,
Civil Risk

BT BT REER
07

Potential Impacts
BETE

Utilities and key equipment risks, including
power failure, water supply disruption,
and gas supply interruption, may impact
production, resulting in revenue loss
NERFRZORERBREEHRERE
MK MR P AIRE T BEE B
ON=ES

Shortage of workforce

SR

Improper disposal of waste water, air
pollutants and solid waste may lead to
breach of local regulations, negatively
impacting both production and reputation
B BRI ERERNN TSR
BEREEREMER  UHEENBZEE
TEERE

AREERER (&)
R EH R EE (8)

Actions

178

Have backup power and water sources

Fo B IR K KR

Perform regular maintenance and servicing
of elevators
TEHAMESE B B A%

Develop emergency plans and measures
for addressing events like power outages,
water supply failures, elevator failures, and
gas supply failures

il E FEH WM EE ~ ok~ B R ERHE
EHNRZE B RIEN

Limit consumption of water and electricity
for non-production usage to ensure
availability for production
REGEEERKKRBAE  BREEMBH
R

Provide competitive salary benefits and
labour protection schemes, ensuring
employees receive competitive employment
benefits
REEFZF HNFE RN RSB fRET
2 BRESESAERINHNMNERT

Set up communication channels for
employees and increase employee welfare
REEEBBREKRRESEERET

Set environment management policies and
mechanisms to ensure compliance

HEIRIE B BRI RIRRE R

Use the latest technology to reduce
emissions

6 P B B2 AT A0E T et 2D B A
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RIE - g hESKRS

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY (Continued)

Risk Control and Management (Continued)

Type of Risk

R BEERE

Natural
Catastrophe Risk
BHAKE R

Health and
Iliness Risk

2 B Re P 7 L B
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Potential Impacts
BERE

Natural disasters such as earthquakes,
floods or hurricanes may disrupt our
infrastructure, supply chain, workforce, and
timely deliveries, potentially resulting in
revenue and reputational damage
HEHKBAZEEARAKNEIEEES
RPN ERRIT e S E N R
RITHEEST AISE BN AN B EZIE

Infectious diseases, workplace injuries,
poisoning, and other factors may impact
our employees, production, and supply
chain, potentially resulting in reputational
damage and reduced productivity
BRUEERR - ITH - PEERRIEET
ERMNEES - EERMER ISR
BEDBNIERAESE

AREERER (&)
R BRI R EE ()

Actions

178

Establish emergency plans
I E f& = 5t 3

Regularly conduct drills and ensure upkeep
and upgrading of equipment and facilities
FEEHES BREERENREBERR
i

Back up important data and documents

regularly
ERRBENEZHIE X

Maintain reserve inventories of raw
materials and semi-finished products

HRRMH RN EEFES

Conduct regular inspections of factory
building safety, as well as the factory’s
drainage and sewage systems

B TREENZ2 MUK TRVEE
KEEIKEEIR R ARV EIFIB N

Implement proactive measures to prevent
and control the transmission of infectious
diseases, including regular disinfection and
remote work arrangements
REXFEHAE T TR S HI E R M R E
B OETHEERER TIELHE

Establish an emergency plan to address
emergencies related to health problems

HERHREESEMHNEREE

Conduct annual health check-ups for
employees

~EEZHEERERSE

To prevent mass poisoning, ensure that the
canteen purchases fresh ingredients daily,
food is properly cooked, and samples of
food are retained for 48 hours
RAELEEREYTE BREEEZGXRKE
MM RYEKBERSR LRER
YRR AS48/)\BF LUt A% Al
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IR - HHERERKRS

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY (Continued)

Risk Control and Management (Continued)

Type of Risk

Potential Impacts
BERCE

R REiEE

Delays in deliveries may arise from
disruptions in supply of materials or
interruptions in product shipments

Supply
Chain and
Transportation

Risk MM FE T 2 E B B T S S E B
e R E FEAZ (S

oo
rA

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group has a robust environmental management system in place
and actively explores energy-saving and emissions reduction measures.
While addressing climate change-related risks and opportunities, we
strive to promote green development and environmental stewardship.
Placing great importance on environmental protection, the Group
remains dedicated to mitigating the environmental impact of its
operations. We continuously enhance our environmental management
strategies and ensure steady progress towards environmental targets.

Environmental Management

The Group has established an Environmental Executive Committee
to strengthen environmental management and minimise impact
of related risks. This committee conducts on-site inspections to
identify potential environmental risks, reviews performance and
prepares reports in accordance with relevant environmental and
occupational health and safety management requirements, to ensure
that environmental considerations are effectively integrated into
decisions on business operations. The Group’s management approves
environmental targets, oversees efficient allocation of resources, and
ensures compliance with applicable laws and regulations?.

2 Please refer to the section headed “LAWS AND REGULATIONS"” for
relevant details.

AREERER (&)
R EH R EE (8)

Actions

178

Forge strategic partnerships with a diverse
range of suppliers to ensure a resilient and
sustainable supply chain

SR A IE R R T SRR B R R 0 FER L
EiEE T BRI FEEREN

Establish a contingency plan for the supply
chain to mitigate potential disruptions and
ensure continuity. When order forecasts
materialise, outsourcing of processes, if
required, should be planned in advance

B E (RS E = 518 > LUR /B TE PR
R FERITEE - B BETEAERE &
RATRBIREIN NHEE

IRIZIREE
AEBZEBRNREESEAR LA
B ERRENAE B BEHE T - AT EH R &
SEAERA R PR S B R > TRE I P HEED
HEBERKRREAE - AEBSEER
BRIERELIFERINHEHEES
RIBR R E - AT EREIRIREER
B RIS BRRIEER

IRIEEE

REBDERIIRIENTEZE/NE MU
hnss iR iR B 18 K & 8 R AE Bl R Br B9
T E -ZZ B/ NERBEMERIRE KB
BREAZE2EEZERETRERE UL
s BB T IR IR R B ~ AR ST AR L AR B R
SOURRREZEAMMAXEHTEE
AR -AEBEEEHARRERR &
EERNEN DK TRFRETERR
TERIERR e

2 BRI BRESREERAERI—&-
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued)
Environmental Management (Continued)

At the subsidiary level, an Environmental Management Team, led
by senior management personnel, has been formed to oversee
environmental practices in factories. The team is responsible for
addressing environmental issues, planning and implementing
environmental initiatives, such as hazardous chemicals control and
environmental indicator monitoring and managing responsibilities in
accordance with structured procedures covering waste management,
handling of chemicals and dangerous goods, and use of energy
and resources. To ensure effective control over operations involving
significant environmental factors, hazards and critical risks in the
factories, the Group has established an “Operational Control
Procedure”, which is strictly enforced.

To further enhance environmental management, the Group has
implemented an Environmental Management System (“EMS”) to
maintain rigorous control over different aspects of environmental
management. Two subsidiaries, Neway Chung Tai Printing and Kam
Hon Printing, have obtained certification under the ISO 14001:2016
standard.
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IRIZRE (D)
RIRER (8

ENBAREE ASHREEANSERE
IR EENEESENII  BEEET
BRIRIZEE - ZE X & SR HIRIRM
B RE R BHIRIZ SR Al GRIE
BmiEtl R ERIRIRER  TIZREA
BEFEEARRE BT KREEYE
B tERkEEmEEUKRERRE
REEF - B RARIER TR RE
RIRBEHERR - BCERERRRAIEE
A E B BB E BB NIT (ERERR
FF)e
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IR - HHERERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued)
Environmental Performance Tracking

The Group's subsidiaries, Neway Chung Tai Printing and Kam Hon
Printing, have set specific environmental targets to enhance the
management of material environmental issues and systematically
evaluate performance. This ensures steady advancement toward
sustainability objectives through continuous data tracking and
progress assessment by regular statistical analysis to monitor
achievements and drive improvements in environmental performance.

Environmental Aspects

IRIREE

Neway Chung Tai Printing
2 K ENFY

82.7% achieved
82.7%EZ

Energy Consumption
¢ ERNEE

Kam Hon Printing

®

Water Consumption

FEkE

A\
TS

Paper Consumption

HUSRIHFE

=

Stationary Source GHG Emissions
EERAERIBHHR

Mobile Source GHG Emissions

BERBERABHN

Effluent Discharge
75 KR

& @ I

Waste Management

BEEYER

Noise Emissions

R Z B

100% achieved
100%3E4Z

55.7% achieved
55.7%3E1Z

100% achieved
100%3E1Z

100% achieved
100%E1Z

100% achieved
100%E4Z

100% achieved
100%E4Z

100% achieved
100%3E4Z

100% achieved
100%E4Z

Promoting Green Products

The Group follows the Forest Stewardship Council’s (“FSC”) Chain of
Custody (COCQ) certification standards and a comprehensive set of well

defined policies to ensure long-term compliance with FSC principles
and standards. These policies also demonstrate the traceability of
wood-based products, primarily paper. To minimise forest damage and
environmental impacts of its products, the Group actively sources FSC-
certified raw materials and closely monitors authenticity of certificates
accompanying the materials. Only FSC-certified paper is used in the
Group’s printing operations.

IRIGRE (1)
IRIFRITBHE

AEBEMEA TP ED KR KR
ENRIFHEHIE EBIEEZE  UnaeE
BERREZERBBWETRMANE
ST o BB BB M BUR K E B ST
A S il 2 /R AR I Rl R0 > HEENIRIBRIR
HE BERRIBOAFEERER

Corresponding Section

ERENENRI IHFEEEN

Energy
AEIR
Water

KER

Paper Usage and Packaging
MREAKREE

Air Emissions

ERFEY

Effluent Management
BIKEE

Waste Management
EEEYEIE

Noise Management

REEE

HEGBEM

AEBERBEMEEZE S (TFSCY)
MEHEEHH(COC)REBIZE  WHIE
—E2EPABRNBER  UEERERES
FSCHY R Bl e iZ 2E o 52 E B SR 71 ] 4L K
S5 (FEIEHER) NI B Mt -AR2
BOHEHBRMWBIE R E RSB RNIRE
FE, KREBRBMRKBEFSCRENER
Ml BB A BEM BB EE
14 o TE 2N 5 B EN Rl 2E 75 {2 58 A & FSC
B AIARR ©
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (CONTINUED)
Promoting Green Products (Continued)

In line with its commitment to environmental sustainability, all
raw materials and products sold by Neway Chung Tai Printing are
FSC-certified. This implies responsible sourcing and contributes to
renewability of natural resources consumed in our operations. Kam
Hon Printing is also certified under the FSC International Forest
Management System, which further reinforces the Group’s dedication
to environmental stewardship.

Resources Conservation

Paper Usage and Packaging

Paper Consumption Targets

MIRHFERR

Neway Chung Tai Printing
R ERKENR

Consume <8 pieces of paper per thousand
press pile boards of production units

ST IR £ EEMRFERETEBIBSR

55.7% achieved

55.7% ziE

IRIGRE (B)
HEGeEm (B

RFEHRBAFELRNAGE T E
th R ENRI 62 A BIFT B IR M K e & BY
PREEMBTAFSCRE  BERER
MEFESENRBLEREAMEE
FHENBRABERAEENBEML R
ENRI TR EJFSCRIFR R M B IEEE R BI
o E—SERAEENREGAENT
Eﬁo

BEIR
MREFAREE

Kam Hon Printing

EREMENRI

Average monthly consumption of <45,000
pieces of paper

& A FHFER = B 1845,0005R

100% achieved
100% 3=z

Paper constitutes the principal raw material in our printing
products production process, and the Group fully acknowledges
its responsibility to minimise paper usage as part of its broader
sustainability commitment. In line with this, the Group ensures that
all paper used in its operations is sourced exclusively from certified
forests, with all procurement restricted to paper certified by FSC.
This approach guarantees that the raw material is sustainably
and responsibly sourced, aligning with the Group's environmental
stewardship goals.
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IR - HHERERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued)
Resources Conservation (Continued)
Paper Usage and Packaging (Continued)

Besides sourcing certified paper, the Group actively promotes paper
conservation across its office operations by implementing a range of
green office initiatives. Employees are encouraged to adopt double-
sided printing and photocopying as standard practices, thereby
reducing overall paper consumption. The Group rigorously monitors
and manages paper usage on a monthly basis, striving to minimise
waste and maximise efficiency. In addition, all waste paper is carefully
segregated, and recyclable materials are collected for proper recycling,
ensuring that the Group's operations contribute to a circular economy
and further reduce its environmental footprint.

To minimise generation of packaging waste, we encourage clients
to return cardboard boxes for reuse. During the Year, the Group
consumed 1,896.62 tonnes of paper, 924.90 tonnes of plastics and
0.22 tonnes of metals for packaging.

IRIG (RaE (&)
EME IR ()
HIRERAREE ()

BR 7 SR BB A SUE BVARSRSN ) ZEE TR E
BEMN— RGBS RIBER
AEEFHORN -HMTREERE
5 EN R B ENE A AR EEMUE » Fe TRl L
BEMREE 2EESABRREER
EEARERBE R BAONRLIRERK
BUERSEREAUMX LN FRE
BEARIDACIB (F 4 0 48 > BT RIS L B4R
WEETEZ LU  LUIBRAERE
BN ZHFRBERSELE—T R D
HIRIZ R B o

ABRERVEEBERYNES M
BEAROBEIUBEEMEAH KK
FEANEEHFE,896.62 A MEAL IR
924 90 AME¥B I K 0.22 N WE 2 BEB 4
ZFe

Types Unit 2023 2024
$EEY B E:= —E_ME
Paper #%5R tonnes 22 M 2,027.52 1,896.62
Plastics ZB#} tonnes ‘A Mg 676.60 924.90
Metals & & tonnes ‘AN 0.30 0.22
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued)

Resources Conservation (Continued)

Water

Water Consumption Targets

KERHERR

Neway Chung Tai Printing
R EfKENR

Consume <1 tonnes of water per thousand
press pile boards of production units

BTEIRIEEEUNFEKENBEIAM

100% achieved

IRIGRE (B)
EMEIR ()

Kam Hon Printing

ERENENRI

Monthly water consumption <800 m? (May —
September) or <700 m? (October — April)
SHRFEKEFBEI0ILF K (FAAEENA)
AiEBiB700iL 5K (HEEWA)

100% achieved

100% ==

Water usage management is a key component of the Group's
sustainability strategy, with a strong emphasis on optimising water
usage efficiency and minimising consumption across its operations.
The Group prioritises water conservation through systematic
measures, including regular monitoring of usage, on-site inspections,
and proactive maintenance of water supply facilities. These efforts
enable early detection of anomalies, such as abnormal consumption
or leaks, ensuring timely intervention to prevent unnecessary wastage.

The Group recycles wastewater to the extent possible to maximise
resource usage efficiency. Neway Chung Tai Printing reuses boiler
water and treated wastewater for toilet flushing, while Kam Hon
Printing reintegrates treated industrial wastewater into specific
production processes to reduce fresh water consumption.

During the Year, the Group consumed a total of 66,995.00 tonnes of
water with intensity of 0.14 tonnes per thousand Hong Kong dollars
revenue. The Group did not have any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for the purpose during the Year.

100% =12

BKEEDAEEAFELEREREDN
BEAEMNE D BENBIERAKEERRK
BENVEEBREPHIKEREFE X
EEBBRAICERELEISNOA
KIE BREERERNEKE RSB
B R AR M E (KR - 2 FHE A B
REFPEREERR WEERKIEBER
%/}Eg P BER R BF AT A AT LE R 22

REBFEPFELOBISK UBERSE
TR R o oh 2 K EN R S48 55 A3 58
W 7K e B 3238 B9 55 7K S R > T $R 85 TR
ARERELEEBRETBMNAEESB
BYTZR 757K LURLD 3K THFE

RAEAFE AEBNBEKES
66,995.00AMF - FEKBE AT THETT
W 0. 14 AW o R AN Z > ANEEE TEE
BB ARSI BT REE

Types Unit 2023 2024

$EEY ==Riv} BT =HF —T[E

Total water consumption 4237k & tonnes ‘AME 67,974.19 66,995.00

Water consumption intensity ¥£7K 2 & tonnes/'000 HKD revenue 0.12 0.14
NUE/ T AT ER
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R 1 EREGRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued) IRIB(RE (48)
Emissions Control BERIE S
Air Emissions FRHEHY
Air Emission Targets
R BR
Neway Chung Tai Printing & Kam Hon Printing
G&i:} £ i A ER R S5 88 N
ﬁ 1. Conduct annual testing of vehicle exhaust 2. Monitor Volatile Organic Compounds
emissions to ensure compliance with (VOCs) levels and other parameters in
0|0 the Shenzhen Motor Vehicle Emission stationary exhaust emissions to ensure
Standards. compliance with the Printing Industry VOC
SEETERNERRCAE  UREHFS Emission Standard (DB44/815-2010).
CRYIEBNBHRAREE) © BRI T REERE R

BHNEMBE BARFTE CEDRITTEES S
B S YHERIZ % ) (DB44/815-2010) ©

100% achieved 100% achieved
100% z= 100% :z1=
The Group's air emissions primarily result from company vehicles REBNERIERYETERE AT E
and stationary sources, mainly VOCs used in production processes. WMEEEHER HhEREEIREEY
In compliance with the Printing Industry VOC Emission Standard ATEBETNFTESRY) - ~EBE
(DB44/815-2010) and the Guangdong Province Standards for Emission TLENR) T B R U AL S Y HE M
Limits of Air Pollutants (DB44/27-2001), the Group regularly monitors #E ) (DB44/815-2010) R {ERE KR 5
and tests exhaust emissions to ensure adherence to these regulatory e PE PR B 12 2 ) (DB44/27-2001) >
requirements. To manage emissions effectively, the Group conducts 7 7E HA 85 R R R A BE SR HE R LU AR (R B
routine maintenance of all related equipment and has installed FZREERBE - ABUEES R
exhaust air treatment facilities. AREBETHHEMBHEBRE TEZR
EEEREIERN
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RIE - g hESKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued) 1515 {(R:E (ﬁ%)
Emissions Control (Continued) BERIZ S (48)
Air Emissions (Continued) EmBEY (48)

Gas Boiler Revamping Project

MR SRERHIER

To mitigate nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions, Neway Chung Tai Printing has implemented low NOx burners in
its natural gas boilers. By reducing the peak flame temperature during combustion, these burners effectively
decrease NOx production. Additionally, the Group has enhanced steam generation efficiency by replacing
existing gas boilers with steam generators, further contributing to the reduction of NOx emissions.
LR PERARHBTERARBEZEEAMNIESE BBREREBREPHONIEE
BERE  ZEMEREIMEDIEENRICY LN XERBZEARRBEMRMES A Z[TRIR
W RAFK[EENER  E—TROBREIEYBIHER

, Exhaust Gas Treatment Facility

m BE R ERIE R

As a key material in printing, ink inevitably generates VOCs during operations. To mitigate this impact,
the Group has implemented an exhaust gas treatment system to filter VOCs before discharge. This system
utilises a spray column and activated carbon adsorption towers to regulate and minimise VOCs emissions.
The facility’s restoration has enhanced its effectiveness, achieving an approximate 48% reduction in VOCs
emissions.

HEERHBINARME TS AERHCTELEEMNERIEEY RAEZTE AEBECENK
BEREIERA  THINATEBEZE M B IRILEY) - %R M AR EIE RIS R IR M A 8 R B 2 F R
FUEERICSHER - WERREE AR IO A T E1EE M B RIE S BEUR 1 4948% o

The Group mitigates emissions from motor vehicles by transitioning KREBRBBBERKNAS E AR KA
its fleet to high-energy-efficiency fuels, thereby optimising engine BB R BER T E S B B
performance and reducing emissions. Exhaust treatment systems are BB - BEHEREEAREITHE
maintained annually, and regular inspections of vehicle exhaust gases EowEHmEEMNER  UBERM
are conducted to ensure efficiency and compliance. KGR

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE2&£EZERBMRAE | Annual Report 2024 F iR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HHERERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued)
Emissions Control (Continued)
Air Emissions (Continued)

During the Year, the Group’s vehicles emitted a total of 0.43 kg of
sulphur oxides (SOx), 48.33 kg of NOx, and 4.01 kg of particulate
matter (PM). The total VOCs emissions of the Group were 9.37 tonnes
in 2024.

IRIGRE (B)
BT (8)
ERmBHY ()

RAFEE  REBNEFHHEELF0.43
ARHREIEY 4833 AF |/t &
401 AR EEN - R T _NE &
EENEETERECEMEINEES
9.37AME

Types Unit 2023 2024
i B —E:= —E_ME
NOx @& 164 kg A 54.58 48.33
SOx & 164 kg AfT 0.38 0.43
PM & BB kg 2 4.66 4.01

Effluent Management

Wastewater Targets
2K BR

Neway Chung Tai Printing
B E R AENR

Monitor various parameters related to
effluents to ensure compliance with
Discharge Limits of Water Pollutants in
Guangdong Province Local Standard
DB44/26-2001, the first level of the
second stage
BRISKEE2 MU IRTT 5DB44/26-
2001 (B R & #th 5 R E K5 R HE KR
B BEZRBE—RITE

100% achieved

100% iz

The Group generates wastewater from both industrial operations
and domestic usage. In compliance with the Guangdong Province
Discharge Limits of Water Pollutants for wastewater discharge,
the Group ensures proper management of wastewater. Domestic
wastewater is directed to the municipal sewer system, while industrial
wastewater is treated and recycled for reuse.

EKEE

Kam Hon Printing

EREREN R

Monitor various parameters related to
effluents to ensure compliance with the
Discharge Limits of Water Pollutants in
Guangdong Province Local Standard
DB44/26-2001, the third level of the
second stage
BERISKRBE2HLUERT GDB44/26-
2001 (B R & #h 5 12 2 O3 R HE MR
B) #AHE _EER=RIRE

100% achieved
100% 3=z

AEENSKEEBTIEEEURE
EER - AEEEBET(EREKTRY
FFIRE) VREBEBUS K EREZE
BIRT Ko ETESKEATEES &

o MmIESKERERERBA
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RIE - EREGRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued) IRIZ(RE (48)
Emissions Control (Continued) BERUES (48)
Effluent Management (Continued) JEIKEFE (4E)
To monitor the quality of effluent discharged, the Group regularly AERISKEEROKE » NEBE ST
commissions a third-party for testing key water quality indicators, E=-FHTEKEIEZETER 65
including pH, Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD), Biological Oxygen BB CEEG2COD-EYEA =2
Demand (BOD), and Suspended Solids (SS). During the Year, the (BOD) B F ERE(SS) e N ANFEE » AN EE
Group discharged a total of 8,204 tonnes of effluent. B HE A 8,204 A M5 7K ©
Types Unit 2023 2024
i) i TEC=F “EME
Effluent Emissions 75 7K BEK tonnes ‘A ME 7,565 8,204
Waste Management BEYEE
Waste Emission Targets
EEEMBERE R
/j";/% Neway Chung Tai Printing Kam Hon Printing
Fh 2 dh K EN R SREENRI
i I Wastewater treatment sludge reduced by Waste is disposed of in accordance with
10% compared to the previous year regulations and there is 100% transfer of
EKBRIESER E—FERD10% hazardous waste

BEEY LR EREB100% BB EEE
Waste ink generation reduced by 10% ¥
compared to the previous year

BEREELERLI—FERHLDI10%
100% achieved 100% achieved

100% i 100% &=
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HHERERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued)
Emissions Control (Continued)
Waste Management (Continued)

The Group strictly complies with all applicable laws and regulations
concerning waste management, including but not limited to the
Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste. Waste is categorised into hazardous and
non-hazardous types in accordance with the National Hazardous
Waste List and the specific circumstances of the Group’s operations.
Hazardous waste is transferred to an authorised third-party collector
for appropriate handling, while non-hazardous waste is managed,
handled, or recycled by the appointed waste collector.

The Group has established a structured waste management system
that ensures proper categorisation and handling of waste generated
during the manufacturing process. This includes separation, collection,
storage, and control of waste. The responsibility for monitoring
waste management lies with the Quality Management Department,
which ensures adherence to the system and compliance with relevant
regulations.

During the Year, the Group generated a total of 61.45 tonnes of

IE iﬂ 1% (n‘ﬁ)
PEmE S (..‘a)
BEEYEE (&)

FEBBRETERERYEENM
EBRZREER SFERRE (PE
(& B8 BE )75 FIRIR [ 76 0% ) 1R IR (=
KfeBEYatk) UnEEBEENR
R RERMDEABASNESE
B-AFEREYEREERENE =7

WERMETBEERE MESEREYH
EZENEERYBEREE  REM
o

FEBCRIUGBIENERYEER
fE BROEREBRETEENERYE

BENERERE ETOEREEYD
iﬁ LI&% HEERES - REEEHBMA
EEREEEVER BREBRAL
T EMERAER-

MRARFEE REBSHELGT .45 M

hazardous waste and 188.18 tonnes of non-hazardous waste. BEREEY) 18818 AN EREY) o
Types Unit 2023 2024
i (i TEC=F —E_ME
Hazardous waste B ZRFEY) tonnes /M 74.56 61.45
Non-hazardous waste EZEEE) tonnes /M 311.00 188.18
Hazardous waste intensity 5 EEF =Y R E kg/'000 HKD revenue 0.14 0.13
N/ FETWE
Non-hazardous waste intensity kg/'000 HKD revenue 0.57 0.39
EEBEEYRE N/ FRTWE
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RIE - EREGRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued) IRIZ(RE (48)
Emissions Control (Continued) BERIESI (48)
Noise Management IEE &
Noise Management Targets
IREEERE
Neway Chung Tai Printing Kam Hon Printing
) S\ (( PEERDA SREENR
) Not exceeding 60 decibel (dB) during Not exceeding 60 dB during daytime
daytime and 50 dB at night HESE21S88600 8
HESE1EB8600 B hEArEE
@500 B2
100% achieved 100% achieved
100% =tz 100% izi=
Noise generated by the Group’s operations is carefully managed AEEZSEEFNRELRBBISEIE
to minimise its impact on the surrounding environment. A target MESRVEHBFBIRIENE ZE - FM
noise level has been established to ensure that noise emissions ERTEEFERE KT UERESHIR
remain below prescribed limits, both during daytime and at night. THERRESERRRERBEMLT
Additionally, to ensure compliance with the Emission Standard for o ZAERET(IXPERMARE
Industrial Enterprises Noise at Boundary (GB12348-2008), the Group BERAZ#E ) (GB12348-2008) » A& E B2
engages external professionals to monitor and assess the noise levels BIBEEABB R RFEERESE
around its facilities. BEBHIEE KT o
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IR - HHERERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued)
Tackling Climate Changes

The Group acknowledges the significant challenges posed by
climate change to both the global economy and long-term business
sustainability and takes proactive measures to address these risks
while seizing related opportunities. The Group adheres to the
International Financial Reporting Standards S2 (IFRS S2) and the
Reporting Code for climate-related disclosures. Through identifying,
assessing, and managing climate-related risks and opportunities, the
Group continually refines its strategies to mitigate environmental
impacts and ensure consistent progress towards its environmental
targets.

Governance

The Board is responsible for overseeing all work related to ESG risks
and opportunities across the organisation, including those related to
climate change. To manage these matters, the Group has established
an Environmental Executive Committee, which is tasked with
addressing issues such as air and GHG emissions control, as well as
managing the probable or real impact of extreme weather events.

Strategy and Risk Management

The Group recognises the coexistence of risks and opportunities
presented by climate change, including physical risks such as extreme
weather events and rising sea levels, as well as transitional risks
related to policy and technological advancements. While addressing
these climate-related risks, the Group also seizes opportunities to
drive innovation and further development, supporting the transition
to a low-carbon economy. To manage potential risks, the Group
has established the “Business Continuity Risk Identification and
Emergency Plan”, which outlines response measures to ensure swift
recovery and minimise disruption to operations and customer service.
Looking ahead, the Group will continue to implement a range of
energy-saving and emission-reduction measures, optimising resource
utilisation, and achieving sustainable development through green
transformation.

IRIGRE (1)

FE 3t RAR B
AEEESSINGESEHAREER

REBAFEERTRNEANE
A R EAE B 3 i 1R 5% 55 EL R 0 B R R
EERERE AERRERRYHRS
ZERS2 e ¥ & ST RIME SRR AH BRI B o
B A R EIEAREAERAYE
BRIEE REBTETEEHRE X
HMEREFETRFAREEERARE
BiRe

<24\
E /o

EFgo SR EREMABEIRE 1Y
KEB R KRB ERNTA TIE &
mEREZCHEBNRRREE BE
BZEEE AEEBEENIULIRENT
Ze/\H BEERNTERKAERES
BEFNEEHFUKREEBIHERAE M
WEBERNERTE -

REE R Jm i EEE

7 55 [ 5B A0 B R fi BB T AR B AL B e
BBILF SEBERRENFKEFE
EAFERER > MRk B BUR R i iy 3
ERAERNBERR ETREZIRE
HR R RER > REBRTFIBEKS
BRI R E—DERE > ZF AKX
MEBI - DEEBERR AEEE
HITE (2 E & M Y R B 5T 1 K B = 5t
&) EPEA R LR RAZR R
BEF TRHEEREFRBITZE
FERB - RERK AEEREES
MR BRI SE R BEE I - BB IR
TEBGEEEEBRFELRE-
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RIE - EREGRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued) IBIE (R (B)
Tackling Climate Changes (Continued) FEHRREEE (B)
Strategy and Risk Management (Continued) FEER 7 & (48)
Risk Type Risk Description Potential Financial Impacts Actions
E LR [ B ikt BEMBTE 178
Physical Risk
BiRER
W\, o Earthquake/Cyclones/ e Increased capital costs * Implementation of EHS Global
~ N\~ Downpour because of damage to Standarql fiew Ergergency
_ - WE T B faciliti Preparatlon and Response at
k=27 3R = X aciities all sites to ensure procedures
A= MBS MG M E and resources are in place
e Flood PN to effectively respond to
6 0 Sk emergency situations
Acute e [Increased material and E@}i}jﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁm (RIE -~ R
o B2 2 R AR R BB PR
= e Extremely high transportation costs 1BEE Y MRS T B e
temperature and A4 kAR 588 ) g A 3 10 ZBRNEFKRER
extremely cold . .
h q head e Ensure ongoing collaboration
we\at:z\r e Increased overhead costs between procurement, supply
*ﬁﬁ%?&*ﬁ%% due to more idle time and chain teams, and suppliers
R higher workforce costs to address potential extreme
BRI R E S weather events as they arise
e FEARIRES © ARS8/ A B AR
- SRR AR S E B EEGR
MR KRB

e Adjust shifts and schedules at
facilities currently impacted by
extreme heat and other severe
weather events to minimise
staff exposure to harmful
working conditions
1 EE B Al 52 10 Ui = i Sz ELAth
BEXRREHREN RN
BERAEFRER > UEERD B
ITRBAASNIIERER

e Conduct regular drills and tests
for natural disasters
EHETERAKERE KA

e Integrate climate risks into
“Emergency Response
Procedure” for extreme
weather and infrastructure
damage, ensuring business
continuity and protecting
customer interests
R RIERERAA (R REEIZ
) » LU S i K R Fe BBt
RIRIRIE > (e MR R E B A
M RIEE P
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R 1 EREGRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued) IRIE(RE (8)

Tackling Climate Changes (Continued) FEHRREEE (B)
Strategy and Risk Management (Continued) HOER B EFE (48)

Risk Description
R B i 3t

Risk Type
Rz EE A

Physical Risk
BiEERE

Water scarcity

Potential Financial Impacts

BREMBEE

Increase in operating

Actions

178

Development of new low-

~ ‘N IKERIHRER costs: availability of fresh emission products, focusing on
- O “ll= water decreases, water higher energy efficiency and
,/ | \\ — * Rising mean prices rise reduced emissions
temperatures A R A BN | K (LR BB E R FER
Chronic FHERR B B KB EFR B e R R AN PRAEBER
3:(]

e Changes in weather

Increased material costs

Implementation of EHS and

patterns kA A IE 0 investments designed to
KRR TR B enhance sustainability of

Increased insurance
premiums and potential
for reduced availability
of insurance on assets in
“high-risk” locations
REEBEIG N R= & kR
& & EREEE A A
MEFEAE

financial returns in the long
term, covering the additional
costs

BRI - BEEZ D RET
BE LUR A BRI AR
REARIHFEN B 750 R

Continuation of case studies
on climate risk management,
scenario analysis, disclosure
and innovation
FREETHERNRERRE
B B U REER
BIFTRYZZBIRR 3T
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RIE - g hESKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued) IRIZ{RE (4B
Tackling Climate Changes (Continued) FEH mI=EE (&)
Strategy and Risk Management (Continued) EOERE R ETE (48)

Risk Type Risk Description Potential Financial Impacts Actions

R B A A [ P i 2t BREMBEE 178

98

e More stringent e Increased cost of
government policies compliance and
for decarbonisation operations
BB fER 1% B BT = Ak BRREE ARG
BB
Policy and Legal
R RER
e Intensified e Reduced revenue due to
O—r competition caused competition
oQC) by green technology 5 E AR
RERMmsIHEN
FREME e Increased long-term
Technology .
" cost of applying green
Bl technolo
gy
FE R 4 B T B9 R A AR
ESEpil

Opportunity

Opportunity Type Description Potential Financial Impacts
WisER 1 3B st BEMBRE

e Higher energy e Reduced operating
-LI efficiency in response costs due to resource
%E\Q to government and conservation
~ market requirements B R EZERE
R FE B AT AN 35 89 [
Energy R TIR S AR
RE A=
(b e Increased market e Increased revenue
éb 2 o demand for green Wz 38 hn
oo and environmentally
E E 00 friendly products
-1 n TS HE G ENIRR
Products E&%*E’\Jiﬂﬂ
Em
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Set a carbon reduction target

= E R E R

Prudent and well-planned
multi-year investment to apply
green technologies
BEMFEFENZERE
LUFE PR # B e 1l

Actions

178

Implement energy-saving
initiatives and promote
industry best practices
B BRIEBTER

{:I:Ta?
+= =217

Prudent and well-planned
multi-year investment to apply
green technologies
BENAIEF2NZFRE
DARE A A B 2 10



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HHERERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued)
Tackling Climate Changes (Continued)
Metrics and Targets

Energy

Energy Consumption Targets

FERHFERR

IRIZ(REE (8
FEHRREEE (B)
EEREE

BEIR

Neway Chung Tai Printing
B E R K ENR

Consume <129 kWh of electricity per thousand
press pile boards of production units

BTHREEEUNABENBBEI129TRE

82.7% achieved

82.7% &=

Kam Hon Printing

EREENRI

Energy consumption for 5th floor: <18,000
kWh (April to September) or <12,000 kWh
(October to March)

SIERAETRHFESR | N H8i818,000F Lk (1M A
ZEAB) RABB12,000F R (FBE=A)

100% achieved
100% ==

Energy used by the Group consists of purchased electricity, diesel,
natural gas for boilers and petrol for mobile vehicles. Electricity
purchased is the major part of energy consumption. The Group used
47,411.12 GJ of energy in total during the Year, with a corresponding
energy intensity of 0.10 GJ per thousand Hong Kong dollars revenue.

AEBEFHANERSEINES

N %ﬁuﬁ}%%%ﬂﬁif%@ﬁﬁﬁmﬁ E
ERERBEREANESH - RAFE
B REBILHFFELA7,411.12TFIKEE
EETR  HEEMNEEREE AT T AT
@m0 10FIKEH -

Types Unit 2023 2024
Eikic) Bl S —EMEF
Electricity & kWh F L BF 11,306,704.78 12,803,853.88
Petrol 75 H litres AF 25,763.07 29,383.77
Natural Gas KAR m? 1L 75K 123,695.00 3,991.003
Diesel 4&7H litres AF 6,660.67 6,290.00
Total energy consumption SEJRHiEAR S Gl THEE 46,579.46 47,411.12
Energy consumption intensity BEFE %2 GJ/'000 HKD 0.08 0.10

revenue

TIEH

FAETW E

3 Natural gas consumption has significantly decreased due to the 3 HRRRBDUIRERBEH DU KA

transition from pneumatic to electric slitting machines.

RUHFEEBRIRRD -
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued)
Tackling Climate Changes (Continued)
GHG Emissions

The Group’s GHG emissions include direct emissions (Scope 1) from
fuel combustion in its vehicles and indirect emissions (Scope 2) from
purchased electricity, which is the primary source.

During the Year, the Group's total GHG emissions were 8,579.52
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e), with an intensity of 0.02
tCOze per thousand Hong Kong dollars revenue.

IRIGRE (1)

FEHRIEREME (&)

Al SR EI
AEBNEBEREHNEERERE
IR ERY BN (BE1) KON
BHBIREZBER (BE2)  HPIEE
NBEBRIR

NAREE > REBRAZEREBENES
8,579 52 A _ | E & BE R
EASTHETWZFORAM _SERE

=
5E-°

Types Unit 2023 2024
wE B —B-= —EImE
Scope 1 & [E1 tCOe AME_F L E &8 352.00 98.44%
Scope 2 #[E?2 tCOe R —F L EE 7,233.67 8,481.08
Total emission B4R £ tCOe R —H LI E S 7,585.67 8,579.52
Emission intensity BE 2 E tC0O2e/'000 HKD revenue 0.01 0.02
NEZFEREE
T
4 The replacement of pneumatic slitting machines with electric 4 MEHDEERARI DI FRAR

alternatives has resulted in a substantial decrease in natural gas
consumption, thereby significantly reducing Scope 1 greenhouse gas
emissions.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HHERERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued)
Carbon Reduction Measures

To enhance awareness of the importance of energy conservation and
make all employees feel responsible, the Group conducts resource
management training for authorised staff in each department and
requires employees who operate energy-intensive equipment to
complete the training before starting work.

IR ()

iRk Tk 15

RHITEHEEEEMREHE LR
BEREESER  ~EERSEPIE
KB TREEREEE T E2 KR
R HERENEES L ARG T
TERISERLIE B °

Mitigation
Lk

e Establish and execute long-term carbon o
reduction targets and action plans to
systematically minimise the Group’s carbon
footprint.

B E K 1T RERRUR B R R 1T858 RS
1ER9 75 TR 2 55 B A9 ik 2 B .

e Adopt energy-saving initiatives and deploy
energy-efficient equipment to optimise energy
consumption.

PREX B SE 45 1 20 B = R AR A LUBERER
JHFE © .

e Adopt sustainable procurement for paper
and water, and implement a quota system for
efficient use.
KAFEFARBERRNKREKRETRE
AR E R = A A o

e Create a management system for sourcing FSC-
certified raw materials and green products.
HERBEFSCRENRMERIRRERNE
HHIE -

e Integrate sustainable development practices
into the workspace.

RAFBERBEEMAFMELFE:

Resilience
3]0

Engage with stakeholders to raise awareness of
climate change impacts and provide training on
resource management.

BEMESR ReHREStTENRA
TiRHEERERE

Create plans to address unexpected weather
events and safeguard corporate assets from the
effects of climate change.
FIESHBBHRBFRREN LREATDEE
RERESETE-

Provide necessary information and resources to
enhance resilience, while monitoring the impact
of climate change on the business and the
Group's carbon management goals.
REKEEARERUAMBI L > FEEERAIR
R EHEBNTERAERBREEB R
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RIE - EREGRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued) l%iﬁ{%%% (,%E)
Carbon Reduction Measures (Continued) AR IEHE (48)

Phase out the
use of diesel

BLHARHNER

Have adopted a
non-invasive
electromagnetic scale

Monitor and analyse
energy data to detect

control system since 2017 anomalies
BE 3
H-E—tERRAFHRAR “ﬁ}%ﬁﬁi&éiﬁ

B LR KIR B R R 4

Energy-saving
Initiatives

B BEFE it

Reduce operation
duration of energy-
intensive machinery

i) T FE AE TR A Y B 1T B

Provide energy-saving
training to employees

i & 12 4 B AE 15 3

Regular maintenance
of machinery to ensure
operational efficiency
WU RETHE

Switch off air-conditioners if
room temperature < 26°C
i Z AR E{£1%26°C »
RIRARAZEER
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IR - HHERERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued)
Environmental Emergency Management

The Group prioritises addressing environmental emergencies and
disasters, such as fires, chemical spills and natural disasters, which
could significantly impact the environment. An emergency response
team is in place to manage such incidents, ensuring prompt and
effective action. Regular fire and chemical spill drills are held to
maintain employees’ readiness. During the Year, six emergency drills
were conducted.

PEOPLE-ORIENTED

The Group values a diverse and inclusive corporate culture,
recognising talent as the core driving force behind its development.
We are dedicated to creating a fair, safe, and harmonious work
environment that supports both professional growth and well-being
of our employees. Through comprehensive employment policies and
management mechanisms, we actively attract, retain, and develop
talent while fostering a strong sense of belonging. By listening
to employee feedback and providing continuous development
opportunities, we strive to enhance their overall job satisfaction
and engagement. We strictly comply with all relevant laws and
regulations® to ensure ethical and responsible employment practices.

IRIGRE (1)
RIERESEE

FAEREERERERSEGHEKE
SN KMER R R R I REHIRIEE L
EATENBEARAKNET -AEBENILE
sNME BEREFEBREL BARAE
BERMEREITE) c EHIRITNERIER
mRREE MEREIMEERF -NX
FE BHERAREZEE

VYT

FEFRERZTABENEEL B
AT BEERBEIVZOES ] - T
HORTE—EAF 22 RMEHNT
RIRIR > X EENEEMRRBAL-
BB HEAYERBERREEEG > Hf
R EBINE B RN R RERRS] %
BRERANT -EHARRBEENREKRE
HIFBERT RABOREAEE
BRIFWEERZHEE -RFIBTHE
MBEERER UERERKREERE
AR (R = AR o

e Zero child labour misuse rate
TETERAX

Zero work-related accidents

TTEFW

("O") » Zero fire and explosion accidents
%[@LP TAKIBIFEH

> Please refer to the section headed “LAWS AND REGULATIONS"” for
relevant details.

s BRI BRESRENERAERI—&-
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (CONTINUED)
Talent Acquisition

We strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
employment, implementing clear Recruitment Guidelines to ensure
fairness in recruitment, compensation, promotion, and termination
processes. Additionally, we have established Procedures for Free
Association and Employee Representation, empowering employee
representatives to exercise their rights effectively. Employees are
fully entitled to freely associate, select their representatives without
restrictions, and engage in consultations with management on
relevant matters, ensuring procedural fairness and the protection of
their legal rights.

To reinforce ethical conduct and regulatory compliance, we have
introduced an Employee Complaint Management Policy, providing a
structured mechanism for employees to voice concerns. This policy
enhances oversight of the behavior of executive personnel while
fostering a transparent and democratic work environment. During the
Year, Kam Hon Printing has undergone the SMETA (Sedex Members
Ethical Trade Audit) certification process, covering labour standards
and health and safety. This initiative reflects our commitment to
maintaining high ethical standards and ensuring a responsible and
sustainable work environment.
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AFREE

HPBRTERBRNBEREREE B
FEERRE R (FRES4551) » IFERIBES « #7
M -BAKRKLEERREFNQFMEIE
S ZFIEFIECEBELE REERE
BFE)RTREEARENDBEVITHEAERE
He-RBEXZE2ZEABREML TR
wEEAR THREEEESEAEE
BURER) FERIEF AT REEGIARE
o

mMBEETAREEGR KIS
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (Continued) WUANBEE (48)
Talent Acquisition (Continued) AAIBEE (88)
As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 941 employees, of BE_E_WE+_H=+—H8 &£
which 502 were male and 439 were female. BHEFMMZES ) HPS024 A B MK
43954 Mo
Employment Type Geographical Region
mEREE HE
Hong Kong
Part-time &5
3 52
1 940 889
Age Gender
FHe 45
Over 50 Male
5058 £
138 105
31to 50
31 ES505%
698 439
Educational Background Professional Profile
BEER BRAE
General staff
—EET
766 175

Below tertiary
education
FEIAT

773
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (Continued)
Talent Acquisition (Continued)

During the Year, the overall employee turnover rate was 55%. The
employee turnover rates are broken down by gender, age, and
geographical region as follows:

DN E )
A7 1BEE ()

A B R IR L E A 55% o
R R R EE D NEE AL
= :

Turnover by Gender Turnover by Age
gk dillba p L P S RER AR LR
60 56% 54% 150
120 102%
40
90
60%
60 47%
20
30 .
0 0
Male Female 30 or below 31 to 50 Over 50
St oy i3 30BRIAT  31BEES0m  S05EME
Turnover by Geographical Region
& SRR R bR
80
62%
. 55%

Mainland China  Hong Kong
AR RE B
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IR - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (Continued)
Diversity and Equal Opportunity

Respecting the dignity and value of employees is at the core of
our corporate culture. We hold employee representative meetings
quarterly to gather feedback and provide employees with a channel
to lodge complaints about any unfair treatment directly to the Human
Resources Manager. Additionally, we strictly enforce the Regulations
on the Labour Protection of Female Employees, ensuring that all
female employees work in a safe and fair environment.

To foster a diverse and equal-opportunity working environment, we
strive to uphold the respect for employees from diverse backgrounds,
including gender, race, age, culture, and disability, and ensure that
every employee is provided with equal opportunities to develop
their capabilities. We have established and continuously refined the
Anti-Discrimination Management Procedure, ensuring that both
the recruitment process and daily work practices remain free from
discrimination. This procedure outlines clear complaint channels and
handling methods, with all complaints processed fairly under the
Employee Complaint Management Policy while safeguarding the
privacy and security of whistleblowers.

Welfare and Care

The Group has established the Wage Compensation and Benefits
Implementation Procedures to ensure employees receive competitive
salaries and benefits. In addition to statutory holidays, paid annual
leave, salary adjustments, and year-end benefits, employees can
participate in various cultural and recreational activities, such as
team-building events, new employee orientation sessions, birthday
celebrations, and outdoor Mid-Autumn Festival outings. During the
Year, our subsidiary organised a series of engaging events, including a
Mid-Autumn Festival Garden Party and a Lucky Draw Event, fostering
a vibrant and inclusive workplace culture. We remain committed to
supporting and caring for our employees, enhancing their sense of
belonging and team cohesion.

We prioritise employees’ career development and job satisfaction,
aiming to build stable and long-term employment relationships
while respecting individual career choices. For departing employees,
the Group ensures that salary payments are processed within three
working days after completing exit procedures, safeguarding their
legal rights.

A& (1)
ZREhFEHT

EEREEREABENDRMANEEX
EzL -AEESETEAR—REEN
®ARE NREREBEL B ESRE—E
AIEZEAANEREERELHETARQ
ERFBRIFARE - LI > FIBE R
T(LBISHRERTE) BERZEL
MEENZERATIIRE T/Fo

BHIBE—EZTRTEHRENITIFIR
5 RPBONEEREFTRAEROVE
8 SEMRER s F8 - XK
B THARSMUEREHMEERSTFFHN
BEHFEEH - HACHIEL T ETE
(REGEEERR)  BEERBBERE
RABIFBHPAFAELR LR
BB ER RE kEET i A
BB (EERFEEBR) A FE
B WRERRENRBLRZE-

127 SARR IR

FEBECHIE G EFERRNE) 7’
RESESEERF INHERER -
FREERM T ER FERABKRF
BN BEF 2 EEEX LR KE
EE MEEEE M ABRERIEN
MBBERDPIFINIBEE RS o A F
B> RN BASESE—RIERE
B AERNEEE RMEERE B8
B BLA RS XL - R FIIBEFAAE
HEERMZFAEIER BRANRERE
B BERE ]

HPBLEREENREERNRIMF
WmEE EESEEABERZENRR
BIRBE KR RIEERERF 5 B
REMS > A BRI ST BER T8
B=EITIFRATHFHFENR REH
BIRER] o
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (Continued)
Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

During the recruitment process, we require the Human Resources
Departments to strictly adhere to the Child Labour and Minor
Management Procedures, verifying identification documents such
as ID cards to confirm candidates’ ages and strictly preventing the
employment of child labour in any form. Additionally, we apply
appropriate review measures to ensure compliance with regulations
and also to prevent any unintentional violations. If any minor
employees are discovered, the Group takes appropriate corrective
measures.

For employees under 16 years old
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For employees between 16 and 18 years old

HIM16E 18 MNESR

Immediately stop the employees” work and settle
all his/her salary dues.
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Check the employees’ identity details and find out
the reasons why the fake identity was not noticed.
Report to the local public security authority if the
employees have been forced to work.
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Arrange health checks at the local Centre for
Disease Control and Prevention and notify the
local labour security authorities.
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Provide sufficient financial assistance to the child
if from a low-income family to finish compulsory
education until 16 years of age.
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Strictly comply with Regulations on Special
Protection for Juvenile Employees.
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Prohibit harmful and risky work assignment.
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No overtime or night shift should be assigned.
TS LH NI R T

Physical examination as required.
BREETRE

Register with the labour administrative
department.
EHEHEEPIETER

Establish special files for juvenile employees and
regularly understand their work, physical and
living conditions to effectively protect the physical
and mental health of juvenile employees.
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BaEEER VEBRERNFEES OMERE -

Furthermore, we have established the Prohibition of Forced Labour
Management Procedures, respecting employees’ freedom in
employment, resignation, overtime, and mobility. The Group has also
set up comprehensive internal monitoring and reporting channels,
such as employee representatives and suggestion boxes, allowing
employees to anonymously report any suspected instances of forced
labour at any time, ensuring their rights are fully protected.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (Continued)
Employee Communication

The Group highly value employee feedback and consider it essential
for enhancing management effectiveness and driving the Group’s
sustainable development. To support this, the Management System
Implementation Committee has established multiple communication
channels, including but not limited to a WeChat public account,
to effectively gather employee's feedback and complaints. We
also encourage employees to join trade unions and regularly hold
employee representative meetings, inviting employees from different
departments and levels to share their views on labour-related matters.

In addition, the Group holds regular employee representative
meetings to address workplace and daily concerns. Management
carefully listens to employees’ inputs and actively explores
improvement measures to enhance the work environment and
management practices.

Nurturing Talent

The Group values talent development and has set up a structured
training system to support employees’ career growth. The Human
Resources Department is responsible for designing and managing
training strategies, while each department identifies specific
training needs. To ensure well-rounded skill development, we offer
training programmes tailored to both departmental requirements
and individual career stages—such as pre-employment, during
employment and role transitions. This approach helps employees
acquire the necessary knowledge and smoothly adapt to their
assigned roles. Furthermore, we engage qualified instructors with
relevant certifications, such as ISO 9000 Quality Management, ISO
14000 Environmental Management, and FSC certification, to provide
specialised training. When needed, we also invite external trainers or
sponsor employees to participate in external training programmes.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIE - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (Continued)
Nurturing Talent (Continued)

Pre-employment

e A 15 31 RS

Corporate background
rESS standards
SERFREE
Industrial and fire safety
THERHBZR
equipments
Environmental policies and targets R RARE
IRIBBR R BR
International standards A E R
il S
e Labour safety management
BT EIE

J

On-the-job Training

e Operational procedures and
Maintenance and operation of

e Sustainable and green procurement

J

To ensure a well-structured and effective training framework, the
Group conducts annual training programmes across 18 departments.
These programmes span the entire year and cover six key areas:
professional skills, general knowledge, management, integrated
training, systems, and safety. Training is delivered through a blend of
in-house courses, practical hands-on sessions, and external resources.
Employees are assessed through various methods, including oral,
written, and practical exams, to ensure they have fully grasped the
knowledge acquired. Attendance and exam records are systematically
maintained to monitor progress and evaluate the effectiveness of
the training. By combining both general and specialised training, we
ensure that employees develop the necessary skills to excel in their
roles while enhancing their competitiveness in the industry.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (Continued)

Nurturing Talent (Continued)

UANBZ (48)
AFIEE (B)
Six Categories of Courses 75k 8 Bl iR 12

Safety Machine Safety Operation and Proper Maintenance
Z2 e IR FEIEMEAEE
Occupational Health Knowledge

BB 5F 28 R RO 3B

Fire Drill
NEEH

Management Hazardous Substance Management Training
EEE BEEMEEEE
Confidentiality of Customer and Product Information
ERMEREBRE
Employee Code of Ethics
EEERAER]
EHS Training
IRIG R EHE 2 255
Job Description

TR

Professional skills Qil Blending Techniques

EERAE SH AR AN B

Communication Skills

BB

Failure Mode and Effects Analysis

SRR T

FEDN

Esko Software Operation
Esko {12 (E
Fundamental Knowledge of the Six Human Resource Modules

AFTERINA IR IR B2 AR 58

Systems Fundamental Knowledge of ISO 9001/I1SO 14001/ISO 45001
EY ) ISO 9001/1SO 14001/1SO 45001 B £ 7 H
Social Responsibility Management System
HEEEEERR
SGS Environmental Standards Training
SGSIRIB R A IF3
Anti-Terrorism Training

gzl

General Knowledge Tax Law Interpretation

ok MR

Communication Skills

BB

Employee Code of Conduct
(FESESEEl

Integrated Export Tax Rebate Management
=E HORMER
Carbon Emission/Footprint Policy

BCHER R BB 2R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIE - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (Continued)
Nurturing Talent (Continued)

Employees are the Group’s most valuable asset, and continuous
learning is essential for both personal and organisational success.
We are committed to fostering a learning-oriented corporate culture
by providing a dynamic and evolving training framework that aligns
with corporate objectives and also addresses employees’ individual
development needs. By equipping employees with the necessary skills
and knowledge, we empower them to excel in their current roles and
prepare for future challenges, ensuring sustainable growth for the
Group.

During the Year, the training coverage rate and average training
hours, categorised by gender and function, are as follows:

2024 Training Cover Rate
(by gender and function)
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(2145 R AE R 53)
100 94% 95% 96% 20
87%
800
15
60
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40
5
20
0 0
Male Female Management General
B 2z EIEE staff
—RET
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2024 Average Training Hours Per Person

(by gender and function)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (Continued)
Occupational Health and Safety
OHS Management System

We are committed to establishing and maintaining a robust OHS
management system that ensures all of our workplaces meet or
exceed safety standards. Our OHS system is aligned with international
standards and is continuously updated to comply with relevant laws
and regulations®. The system focuses on risk assessment and accident
prevention, aiming to minimise occupational injuries and diseases.
We have earned ISO 45001 certification and have published the
Identification, Evaluation, and Control of Company Risk Sources
internally. Ensuring a safe and healthy work environment is a collective
effort, with representatives from various departments working
closely with the EHS Committee to address safety-related issues. The
occupational health and safety team is responsible for preventive
measures against occupational diseases and health risks, including
noise, dust, and viral infections. In addition, each department has a
qualified first aider to provide immediate assistance in case of injury.

6 Please refer to the section headed “LAWS AND REGULATIONS"” for
relevant details.
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (Continued)
Occupational Health and Safety (Continued)
OHS Management System (Continued)

To ensure safe operation and maintenance of machinery and
equipment, we have set up a dedicated industrial and fire safety
team within the EHS Committee, whose role is to reduce the risk
of accidents and injuries. A fire team leader is also assigned to
prevent fire incidents. Moreover, to protect employees from safety
hazards and occupational diseases, we provide personal protective
equipment tailored to the needs of their specific roles. For employees
engaged in hazardous work, we conduct annual health checks during
employment and arrange pre-departure health assessments for
departing employees to proactively identify any work-related health
issues.

Environmental Management

RIZERE

EHS Management Representatives
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OHS Team

BERERZE/IVE T¥EKHmZE2E

Combating Potential Safety Hazards

We adopt a proactive approach in our daily operations and
continuously identify and address potential safety risks in the
workplace. To assess and manage various hazards in different
environments, we have developed a Hazard ldentification,
Assessment, and Control Measures List. Based on the findings, we
implement appropriate control measures. Additionally, to ensure
prompt and effective response to emergencies, we have established
an “Emergency Response Management Procedure”, providing clear
guidelines for employees to handle accidents or hazardous situations.

In terms of fire safety, our management policy requires employees to
obtain the relevant department’s approval before using flammable
materials, thereby reducing fire risks. Monthly fire safety inspections
are conducted to identify and address any deficiencies in firefighting
equipment, ensuring full preparedness for emergencies.
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Environmental Management Team
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIE - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (Continued)
Occupational Health and Safety (Continued)
Combating Potential Safety Hazards (Continued)

To prevent severe injuries and accidents, including fires and
explosions, we have established a Hazardous Chemical Goods
Management Policy to oversee the purchase, storage, and use of
chemicals. The Group has implemented strict emergency procedures
for fire or explosion incidents, aimed at controlling the situation and
minimising casualties. These measures include immediate notification
to all departments, safe evacuation, and using fire extinguishers if
possible. In the event of a chemical spill, employees are instructed to
cut off the power and isolate the spread of any liquid.

UABZ s (8)
BEREREZZ (B)
Br Ik Z 2% ()

PHBRBREGERER (BREAXKKIZ
YE) L HPIRB(ASEEREER
R) UEELCE2RNBE RFERE
e EEEBRBRBINKRIFS
WERER  SEERBE LR 5 TR
ERB-ZFREEEAILRENFTE
PI~Z B2 EHE WHRIATIB R N EA R
Wiz —BERLEMCERRR BERIE
)RR PR R R R AR B R AR

e Use non-hazardous goods instead of hazardous chemicals as much as possible

BOECAESCERMIFESEER

e Purchase of hazardous chemicals requires MSDS (material safety data sheet)

BEREVHNZ2EEBERNESEER
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Chemicals
Storage
: &

e Each department should keep a Chemicals Inventory to ensure proper management

e Dangerous goods must be stored in indoor environment with sufficient ventilation
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e Chemicals should be labelled with MSDS and sealed properly to prevent leakage
E2RENBYRL2BBRRNEH L ZESH M UK LERRE

ERIEERSNER G RF
Chemicals
Use °
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chemicals

e Dispose spillage and leakage only in designated containers

Wear safety protection equipment including safety goggles, masks and gloves when handling

REEBCERBEMZERERS CEERERE OERFE

For any workplace injury incidents, a corresponding injury handling
procedure is in place to review the incidents, summarise lessons
learned, and implement effective preventive measures. During the
Year, there were a total of 8 work-related accidents, resulting in 126
lost workdays due to injuries. No work-related fatalities have occurred
in the past three years.
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

PEOPLE-ORIENTED (Continued)
Occupational Health and Safety (Continued)
Safety Training

We have developed annual training plans to meet the diverse safety
needs of our employees. New hires and those switching roles receive
position-specific safety training, while employees in special operations
or high-risk positions undergo specialised training to ensure they
have the necessary knowledge and skills to handle safety challenges.
We also regularly organise training sessions for senior management
personnel to help them effectively oversee adherence to government
regulations and internal procedures. In addition to focusing on
employee safety, we engage with suppliers and contractors to ensure
they are up to date on the latest safety policies. The Group conducted
4,479 hours of safety training during the Year.

To further enhance preparedness, we conduct annual emergency
drills, allowing employees to practise their response skills in real
scenarios. During the Year, we conducted various drills, including
emergency fire evacuation exercises and hazardous chemical leakage
drills for different seasons and time periods. These drills focused on
enhancing employees’ understanding of evacuation procedures in
emergencies, as well as improving their personal escape capabilities.

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

The Group prioritises the management of its supply chain, product
quality, and anti-corruption efforts. Through rigorous control
measures, we strive to cultivate a transparent and ethical business
environment.

Supplier Management

Selecting trustworthy and responsible suppliers is fundamental to
ensuring product quality, safety, and regulatory compliance. We place
strong emphasis on evaluating suppliers’ environmental performance,
workplace safety standards, and social responsibility practices. To
maintain a stable and reliable supply chain, we continuously refine
our supplier management framework. This includes establishing
standardised procedures for supplier selection, onboarding, and
performance evaluation, ensuring a transparent and well-regulated
procurement process.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HHERERKRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued)
Supplier Management (Continued)

We strictly adhere to internal regulations, including the Supplier
Management Policy and the Supplier Evaluation and Certification
Procedures. The Quality Management Department, Purchasing
Department, and Systems Group work together to oversee
supplier management and conduct evaluations and audit to ensure
compliance. During the supplier selection process, we prioritise those
with strong environmental management practices. We review their
business licences, as well as relevant certifications related to quality,
safety, and environmental protection, to ensure they meet our
stringent requirements.

To verify compliance with our standards, we conduct rigorous product
testing. All suppliers must provide samples along with third-party
environmental test reports as proof of compliance. If any materials
fail to meet the specified environmental standards, purchases are
suspended, and suppliers are required to provide replacements. These
replacement materials undergo re-testing to confirm they meet the
necessary environmental criteria. The Supplier Management Policy
outlines detailed assessments and rating criteria to ensure that all
materials and services supplied align with our quality standards.

During the Year, the Group had a total of 206 approved suppliers
and sub-contractors, of which 8 are located in Hong Kong, 197 are
located in Mainland China and 1 is located in other region.
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Supplier Selection Criteria {itFERER EIT &

suppliers

e Set Supplier Selection Criteria to better manage the risk of the supply chain and choose qualified and green

HfIEHEERERE UEEFHERHERE AR EMEESERBRFRIMHER

FSC-certified Paper FSC:2 5 4R 3R

e Use only FSC-certified paper and follow the FSC Chain of Custody Management Manual

HPEERFSCRREMR WBT(FSCEHEEREETM)

Regular Assessment and Monitoring 7 57 £2 85 &

e Monthly and annual assessments are conducted to continuously monitor the performance of suppliers
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R - EREGRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued)

Supplier Management (Continued)

Green Procurement

RERE

European RoHS 2.0, REACH, Packaging
Directive
B#ERoHS 2.0 + REACH - B#E%

US ASTM Standard
KEIASTMAZRE

Sony Standard
Regs

Panasonic Standard
WTRE
Waste/rubbish classification

BEEY LIRS

Emergency plan
FESGE

Supplier Selection
Criteria

HERMEmREE

Chemical Safety Management
tERRE2EE
Manage chemical safety using MSDS
FRYRZZHEREE(LERZS

Hazardous chemical suppliers must obtain
corresponding licenses
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Security Management
RRrEE

Security management system
ZHEBRRS

Control of the process of storage and
transportation of goods

ERENNRERERERF

Control of the personnel in and out of factory

BEEHATIENAS

Quality Management

mEEE

Certification of 1SO 9001 — Quality
Management System
1SO 9001333 — MEEEAL

Quality management measures

mEEEEE

Recycling Mechanism for Nonconforming
Products

TEEERE Y

Social Responsibility
HEHRME

Prohibition of child labour, forced labour
and prison labour
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Safety Management
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Community Investment and Engagement
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IR - HHERERKRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued)

Supplier Management (Continued)

Monthly Assessment B (&

EESH (8
Mg EIE (8

e Evaluation of suppliers of raw materials to grade them into three levels: A, B and C
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e For suppliers rated C, notices are issued, asking them to take corrective measures and to follow up on

implementation of improvement measures

PESTRCRNEREMS  ERRFEHBEN  ERWERMAERE T REERFISEERBR

e Suppliers who have been C-rated for three consecutive months must face corresponding measures such as

reduced purchases and suspension of new projects
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Annual Assessment F E T {4

e Suppliers’ monthly scores are reviewed, and the annual audit score is obtained through an on-site audit,

which is used to grade them into three levels: A, B, and C

BERHEBNAERD  EBRRSERESFEERZED  LBBRORKRED DA BRC=ERH

e For suppliers with an annual rating of C, a “supplier corrective action request” is issued, while reducing
the purchases and suspending new orders. If the supplier does not make significant improvement, and the
monthly score is still C-rated for 2 consecutive months, the supplier is disqualified
MEFEETRACRNEEEMS  REMBEZEH MBEEEHAFTEER > AR DHRE R IEHET
BofyitiEm I MEBRENS > BAERDEEME L KRBT ACHR BIZHBER R

We encourage suppliers to discharge their social responsibilities and
integrate sustainable practices into their operations. All suppliers
are required to sign an environmental protection commitment
and a quality assurance agreement, ensuring adherence to our
environmental standards. To maintain compliance, we closely monitor
supplier performance, conducting regular assessments to verify
fulfilment of these commitments.
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued)

Supplier Management (Continued)

SEHH (B
HEREE (@)

FSC™ Chain of Custody
FSCVESE Ei#

o Establish the FSC-COC Management Manual which was updated in 2022 according to the FSC Chain of
Custody standard to ensure that raw materials for the purchased paper and wood are from FSC-certified,

controlled and protected forests
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o Appoint a management representative to manage and supervise the FSC-COC system implementation

HIKEEABRKRETEEEREEFSC-COCRRNERIBR

o Commitment to maximise the use of renewable materials in the procurement process

AEERBBIET R ERRIBEMK

o Promise to gradually increase the proportion of FSC products in sales
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o Require all suppliers to provide environmental protection-related certificates and pass tests

ERFTAREDIRHIRREMEELEB A H

Green Procurement

The Group is dedicated to integrating green and sustainable
practices into its selection of supply chain partners to minimise the
environmental impact of its products and services. This is achieved
through careful selection and procurement of materials and services
with strong environmental performance. To guide these efforts, the
Group has developed a comprehensive Green Product Management
Handbook, which sets clear criteria for selecting and managing
environmentally friendly products. Adhering to these guidelines
ensures that procurement decisions align with high environmental
standards.

In particular, the Group strictly follows the FSC certification
requirements, using only FSC-certified paper and managing these
products in accordance with the FSC Chain of Custody Management
Manual. To strengthen compliance and awareness, we regularly
conduct FSC training to ensure the Group's FSC system meets the
relevant standards and to enhance employees’ understanding of
sustainable sourcing. By integrating environmental responsibility
into supply chain management, the Group continues to reduce its
ecological footprint and contributes to the development of a more
sustainable business environment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HHERERKRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued)

Certified Quality Management System

The Group has developed and maintains a robust quality management
system, ensuring continuous improvement. Our Quality Manual,
aligned with 1SO 9001:2015 and IATF 16949:2016 standards, serves
as a comprehensive guide for our products and services. This system is
designed to uphold the highest standards of quality and consistently
meet customer expectations.

We have received the following certificates:

o ISO 9001: 2015 Quality Management System

. IATF 16949:2016 Quality Management System

o BRCGS Global Standard Packaging Materials

o ICTI Ethical Toy Program

o G7 Master Qualification

SESH (18)

REEmEEERR

AEBCEH EULETERENREE
B BEFETS HMAN(E
EFM)FTAEISO 9001:2015K%IATF
16949:2016 2 % » Z 3 I 1Y &= f S AR 7%
B2 EIEsS| ZAR R ETHEESN
mEEE WIFERERPERE-
HFEERLL TS .

. ISO 9001:2015 B EIE R4

. IATF 16949:2016 B EE R4
. BRCGSBEM K 2 IKIZ %

. ICTIETTE X ETIRE

. G7 MastersB o] b2
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued)
Certified Quality Management System (Continued)

To ensure ongoing improvement in technology and management, as
well as to deliver exceptional service, we set annual quality objectives
and conduct monthly reviews to track progress. These reviews help
us identify any gaps and address reasons if targets are not met.
The Group's Quality Manual outlines specific requirements for both
products and services, ensuring alignment with our quality standards.

Customer Satisfaction

To continuously enhance our service capabilities, we have
implemented several measures throughout the service process. We
have established procedures, such as the "“Customer Satisfaction
Management Procedure” and “Customer Communication
Management Procedure”, to ensure a high level of customer
satisfaction. The business department is responsible for engaging
with customers, addressing complaints, and gathering feedback
on customer satisfaction. In 2024, the Group achieved an overall
customer satisfaction rate of approximately 89%, covering the
following areas:
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued)

Customer Satisfaction (Continued)

SESH (@)
ERWREE (8

2024
—E_ME
Product Delivery Business Environmental Technical .
Price Others
Quality Services Services Compliance Support
EmEE RASBRTS SBRB RIEER Reffisz#5

O

During the Year, the Group received a total of 7 complaints. Upon
receipt of each complaint, the business department promptly
contacts the customer, follows up diligently, and resolves the issue
in accordance with established procedures. All complaints have been
fully addressed.

Complaints Handling Procedures

Verify the issue
and liaise with
customers
ZERBER
B BB AE

Conduct
tests and
investigation

ETASKRAE

Receive

complaints

BERR

91.02% | 92.57% | 90.30% | 90.58% | 91.15% | 77.18% | 86.67%

RAEFE AEBHZEIRRHF &
ERhE ZHHPISAIRHMERS
TR B B BRI > TR IR BLTE A2 o MR OR
BoPTERFHCEZEBR

RifFEEEF

Rectify the
problem and
formulate
preventive
measures

A IERMAR
I E FEBA FE

Recall or
reproduce

products }
AR ERM
SEER

The Group complies with all relevant laws and regulations’ in Hong
Kong and Mainland China regarding product and service liability and
ensures robust control over product quality. We have implemented a
clear process for managing non-compliant products, and in the event
of a recall, we promptly communicate with our customers. Our recall
team conducts a thorough analysis of the causes and relevance of
the issue and initiates the recall process within 48 hours. During the
Year, there were no product recalls due to health and safety concerns
related to products sold by the Group.

7 Please refer to the section headed “LAWS AND REGULATIONS"” for
relevant details.

FEBEFTEBRPEHAMERE®D
KRB EANMERERER BERYH
EmE8ETRRIES - XM B
B REREEAGENER —BE
FEE ZMEAFERTREE GO
N ERUR 0 A7 R R RV R R AN AB R A
W48/ NEEANMENBRRERF - R AF
ErrERBTRAHEEEDT REREA
Z2MEEMA R Eme

’ BRI BRESRENERAER—-
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued)
Responsible Service Provider

The Group focuses on continuously improving the quality of its
products and services, maintaining high standards, and offering
reliable and trustworthy solutions. We prioritise responsible business
practices by complying with all relevant laws and regulations and
respecting the rights of all stakeholders.

To create a healthy, fair, and sustainable business environment, we
ensure all advertising and promotional content is truthful, accurate,
and free from misleading information that could negatively affect
society, public interests, or the environment. We also prohibit
advertisements that may disparage competitors or infringe upon trade
secrets, thereby safeguarding the reputation of our partners.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R - EREGRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued) EIE e (48)

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights REE R0 AERE

The Group places great importance on intellectual property rights REBIIFZERNMBEENRE TS
("IPR") protection and respects IPRs of its supply chain partners EHEESFEFBHEEHRIFEFONHE
and competitors, ensuring their intellectual properties are used ER > BERERBATHWEFERERN
only in accordance with the agreed terms. To support this, we have HEE A KA EHET —E2E
implemented a comprehensive framework for ensuring protection of HAEZE USRI HERES T (RE I
IPRs and maintaining confidentiality of content of products supplied AIRHEAEENERANERERE - EIEER
to customers. The management department oversees these processes P EZERFURBRE R KAEAIR
to ensure compliance. The Group has also established a Confidential EHE(RRERTHRER) KRGS
Product Control Programme and a mechanism for reporting potential EERICHH#ERITAIIEE

IPR violations.

Application
A

Handling

Litigation
BRI ERER

Signing
Contracts

T A
FIIAW

Marketing &
Education

EHRBE

Formulate various intellectual property management regulations and coordinate management,
guidance, supervision, and inspection of intellectual property management work in other
departments

HIESBENREREEEIRLHAGE BEE - EEMMEEEMBPINAREREETF

Review business unit applications, organise, and formulate intellectual property management

BEXEGBEUNRF ERRFENREREE

Responsible for managing intellectual property applications and related processes

BEEENHERNRFRERER

Responsible for handling intellectual property disputes and litigation

B 5 IR E A 2 K e el

Participate in the signing or review of various intellectual property-related contracts

SHERENHERERGONRITNES

Organise discussions of intellectual property-related marketing activities and facilitate exchange of
experiences

MRS S Al B E AR R R B IR B R (R E A BR IR
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued)
Data Security and Information Protection

Our subsidiaries have implemented a Privacy Protection Management
Policy to ensure confidentiality of data of suppliers, customers and
employees. To prevent unauthorised access and misuse, the Group
enforces strict measures prohibiting unauthorised access to data. The
Product Confidentiality Control Policy outlines robust measures to
protect the data of suppliers, clients, consumers, and employees.

EESH (8
HELEREEFRE

HPNMBAREER(LEREEE
BR)  UREHES FERNESN
WEREIE - R IERERENEIRAE
A AEBRBER AT RER BT NEE
BYFE o (2 an fR 28 2B BUR ) B2 (R 5%
HEB ZER - HEBEREERENE
VAR Yk

Suppliers and Clients HEERFRZ A

BIERFEREETER TEARZEEESE

MWENEETEERT R RERTW:

S BWPIEE— L ANERERBEBEERRF

~

e Entering confidential product|on areas without being accompanied by authorised staff is prohibited

e A confidentiality agreement is signed W|th clients for every order received

e An appointed person from each department oversees the entire production process

J

Employees S

e The Employee Code of Ethics is strictly followed, which prohibits the disclosure or publishing of any

confidential documents of the Group

BERET(EEBERETR) *='*EPTT&?&E@Y?‘T*EK%%EH#B%QY#

e Annual training is provided on data protection and privacy issues

SFRHEBBBRRERLEZENEI

e New employees are required to sign a confidentiality agreement

WMABEB AR RE H%E
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued)

Anti-corruption

e Zero corruption cases in 2024
S TR MF L S5 ERE

including management

anti-corruption system

BiERKS BREERESER

We maintain a “zero tolerance” stance towards unethical conduct,
including but not limited to bribery, embezzlement, improper
gains, and fraud. To ensure effective corporate governance and
prevent such misconduct, Neway Chung Tai Printing and Kam Hon
Printing have established a Code of Conduct for Employees and a
management procedure that ensures business decisions are made
without interference of vested interests. We strictly comply with
all relevant laws and regulations® in implementing these measures.
The Human Resources and Administration Departments oversee the
implementation of these policies, reinforcing adherence to ethical
standards across the organisation.

To further strengthen anti-corruption efforts, the Group has
introduced a formal investigation procedure to address unethical
behaviour and conduct internal audits. A whistleblower protection
mechanism has been put in place to prevent retaliation and safeguard
informants’ rights. Additionally, all employees, including senior
management personnel, receive regular anti-corruption training and
their understanding is assessed through offline examinations to ensure
the programme’s effectiveness.

8 Please refer to the section headed “LAWS AND REGULATIONS"” for
relevant details.

e Provide anti-corruption training for all employees

e Establish governance mechanism and build an enterprise

EESH (8
RES

»EEREERERNEERERMRESE AR

BRPEFHTBENTR (BEERR
R -MAES FERFRIEE 89
2RV IBE - REREMHNEEE
BRGEBEBERAETR > REDKHR
KERHERIESIE —B(EE®RT TR
REEER BEBERARIICRE
BV m T8 o HFIENTZE B IR IR
STER B HBERIER . AJTEIRERP]
RITHEFI & S BB EBERNNIT
R EAEBEBRRENET -

RHE—SNBRRRESHNNE AEH
Bl EEXNBAERR UREFERE
1T/ WETRBEZ  HEHHRE
RRERRERY) AEEEGERR
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IRIE - HHERERKRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued)

Anti-corruption (Continued)

SESH (@)
R&E5 (@)

Establishing whistleblowing channels 737 £ =38

the safety of whistleblowers.

RIRERBFEN L 2 -

\_

e \We have established various reporting channels, such as email, text message, and anonymous call. We
encourage our employees to report any potentially unethical behaviour and a mechanism is in place to protect

HABRIUZERHRRE WEN EERELER BEESREMEENIBRITA  TFRE K

J

Education and training £ & R Z3l

e \We provide regular anti-corruption training to all staff members including senior management personnel and

all are required to participate and complete training on time.

HASEEET (BESKAEEAR REEHNREFEN EXREEE TRES M STHIE

Regular assessment and monitoring T 57 82 25 &

e The Group regularly assesses and monitors the implementation of relevant policies.

755 B E H ST S ER B ARRE BRI B 1B 7

Whistleblowing

The Group has documented clear and structured reporting
procedures, ensuring that all reports are handled with the highest
level of seriousness. Employees are encouraged to report any
suspected unethical conduct through any of the multiple confidential
channels, including anonymous hotlines, emails, and text messages
directed to the Human Resources and Administration Departments.
To safeguard whistleblowers, strict confidentiality measures and
protective policies have been put in place, preventing any form of
retaliation and ensuring their safety.

To reinforce these efforts, the Group has developed the Policy for
Investigation of Unethical Behavior, which provides a structured
framework for conducting impartial and thorough investigations. This
policy ensures that all reports are addressed promptly, fairly, and in a
professional manner, strengthening accountability and ethical business
practices.
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R 1 EREGRS

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE (Continued) EEEH (8
Investigation Procedures HERRF

Conducting the investigation ¥

e Gathering information on the incident, assembling an investigation team, and creating an investigation plan

WEAMEHER RIBE/NMERGEREE

Gathering evidence and testimonies Ut 515 & 35 57

e (Collecting information and obtaining statements from witnesses
W EE M5 B BVAS 58 A B9 Rt

Analysis, handling, and prevention %317 ~ BRI K F8RS

e |dentifying the cause of the incident, determining responsibility, and making recommendations for
preventing similar incidents in the future

BEEHNRE BEEEME URBAMHARRKELUFHBEREIRLERS

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT HE 2

The Group fulfils its social responsibility by actively engaging in NEFHFBASEMRHEAZEZFHBTHE
charitable initiatives, striving to create a positive impact on society. In AEsF O A TERIEEE
2024, we put our efforts in community investment and engagement, BN —TETOEFMF IR HER
donating of approximately HKD154,000 to support individuals with BRZ2EIFHL154,0008 T A HF
disabilities. Our dedicated volunteer team also contributed a total iR AT - R ENSEEBEBRING
of 6,264 hours to various community activities, demonstrating our AEEH6264/\BFHNEREHE T
ongoing commitment to social well-being. EREROASTZEUNIEE RS-

e 6,264 Hours of Voluntary Activities 3 @ .
~ 7
6,264/ )\FF 5 BB SE B ==

e HKD154,000 of Donation (approximately)
154,000/ 787k (BE4Y)

(G
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RIE - EREGRS

LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Environment
IRIE

Applicable Laws and Regulations

BRERRIER

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC
FEANRENBEIRIZ(RE

Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC
EE N R EMBEKSEPEE

Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the PRC

EE N\ REMBEKRISEEEE

Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
PRC

FEE AR ENEE RBEY S RIRIEH AT
Environmental Noise Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the PRC

hEE N REMEIRIBRE S HEAE A

The National Hazardous Waste List

B ol BE Y 4a ix

Integrated Air Pollutant Discharge Standard
RRSEMEEHIRAEZE

Integrated Wastewater Discharge Standard
SRR S BEURZE

Boiler Air Pollutants Emission Standard

HANE KRS R &

Energy Conservation Law of the PRC

FEE N REMBEELIETRE

Cleaner Production Promotion Law of the PRC
REAREMNEEREERES

Forest Law of the PRC

FEE AR EMBEIRME

Regulations of Guangdong Province on Forest Protection
Management

B R B AR EE R

ERRER

Compliance Statement

BREHR

During the Year, the Group
has not recorded any
violations of relevant laws
and regulations that could
have a significant impact

on the Group in terms of

air emissions, greenhouse
gas emissions, wastewater
and land pollution, and the
generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste.
No significant impact on the
environment or biodiversity
was caused. Furthermore,
the Group did not encounter
any issues related to the
applicable water sources.
RAREE > TEREBY
BERIBEH - BEK R it
SRURBERBEERY
NEEHE AERIL Eix
BEMERBRERRER
MA e HAERMSHEKR
TENER -HIREREY
SHRULESENERTE-
LESh > A EE [ b B B E 0
BRI KRB RA RV I RE o

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE2&EEZERBMRAE | Annual Report 2024 F iR




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R 1 EREGRS

LAWS AND REGULATIONS (Continued)

Applicable Laws and Regulations

Employment and
Labour standards

B 18 R 55 T8

BRARRZER

Labour Law of the PRC

REARAENBESEE

Labour Contract Law of the PRC
REANRENBESEHEREZE

Law of the PRC on the Protection of Disabled Persons
FEANRHEMBEIRRE AREE

Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minorities
FEARAENBEDBRKREE

Trade Union Law of the PRC

REANRENBE T &%

Women'’s Right Protection Law of the PRC

REE \RHENBE R Em RmEE

Special Rules on the Labour Protection of Female
Employees

R T ERERBIRE

The Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong

BB REEIRG

The Employee’s Compensation Ordinance in Hong Kong
HHEEEMERD

The Sex Discrimination Ordinance in Hong Kong
BHHEM R EAR A

The Race Discrimination Ordinance in Hong Kong
BHBRHIEARIEF)

The Disability Discrimination Ordinance in Hong Kong
B BRI EAR R

Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors
RENRHEMBEIRMF AREE

Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour

BIERABTIRE

ERBGER (1)

Compliance Statement
SHREH

During the Year, the

Group is not aware of any
violations of relevant laws
and regulations or any issues
related to compensation and
termination, recruitment

and dismissal, promotion,
working hours, holidays,
equal opportunities, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other
treatments and benefits, nor
any violations of laws and
regulations concerning the
prevention of child labour
and forced labour that could
have a significant impact on
the Group.
RAFEE > KEBR WA
EREMEREEERIE
AIBEREFHMR& EERE 1B
BRI B TR
BRI~ FEHEHRE SR
e 45 e L 55 38 Ko 4@ A B9 R
BTN AT EREMARS
b8 T Resa g5 TaYE=E
ERMA e HRERSHK
BAFENER
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RIE - EREGRS

LAWS AND REGULATIONS (Continued) EERER &)
Applicable Laws and Regulations Compliance Statement
BRERRER ARER
Health and Safety o Production Safety Law of the PRC During the Year, the Group is
BEHAZSE FEAREMNEZEEE not aware of any violations
o Special Equipment Safety Law of the PRC of laws and regulations
REARENEFERERZSE related to providing a safe
o Fire Protection Law of the PRC working environment and
e AR HEMEHERG A safequarding employees
o Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of | from occupational hazards
Occupational Diseases that could have a significant
REANREME B ZE R impact on the Group.
e The Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong | I AFERE » A& E 1 A HE
Kong FRERERREHRZEZNT
BERBELE BRI FIRBERIREEE RZHE

EEERRERMAES
HEAEBEMERTENE

e
Product o Product Quality Law of the PRC During the Year, the Group
Responsibility FEARENERERESE did not identify any instances
EmEE e Production Safety Law of the PRC of violations of relevant
FE NREMBEZEEEE laws and regulations related
o Intellectual Property Laws of the PRC to the health and safety,
FREE A S TR BRI 58 2 A A advertising, labelling, and
o Cybersecurity Law of the PRC privacy matters concerning
hEAREMEABISZTRE the Group's products and
° Patent Law of the PRC services, nor any related
REARENBEEFNE remedial actions that could
o Personal Information Protection Law of the PRC have a significant impact on
EE AR HEFMEEAE B REE the Group. Additionally, no
o The Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong products were recalled for
EBEANER (FARE) 1545 safety and health reasons,

and there were no violations
of intellectual property rights.
RAREE » AEE IR
FRERERAEEERKR
RBWRERZE ESE
BRI EEENAER AR
VAR IR IR A AR
MATEN R BE I AEEE N E
FENIE N o LESh > AR

EmRARREREZ 2R A
B REERMBMEREDN

Bt
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R 1 EREGRS

LAWS AND REGULATIONS (Continued) ERRER (B
Applicable Laws and Regulations Compliance Statement
BRERRER ARER
Anti-corruption o Criminal Law of the PRC During the Year, the Group
R&E= EE AN REMERE did not record any concluded
o Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC corruption litigation cases
FREARENBERAFIEEGFE filed against the Group or
o The Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong its employees. Furthermore,
E A L BRRE R BI there were no instances

of violations of any laws

and regulations relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud, or
money laundering that could
have a significant impact on
the Group.

RAEFE > AERIL ERES
R HAERSNHES
NELRESHREMF UL
Sh REBEERIERE
FRRR ~ B ZR ~ BREF IR
ERERMAI e AL RS
RERTENEM -
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RIE - EREGRS

PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY RIBIBE
Aspects Indicator 2024
EE BR —E-mE

Total Energy Consumption GJ 47,411.12 46,579.46
RERHERE FIHEE
Energy consumption intensity GJ/HKD ('000) 0.10 0.08
SEREERE FIEE Bt (F)
Electricity kWh 12,803,853.88 11,306,704.78
B TRE
Natural gas® m? 3,991.00 123,695.00
KRR T HAK
Petrol litres 29,383.77 25,763.07
v ATt
Diesel litres 6,290.00 6,660.67
it A
Water Consumption tonnes 66,995.00 67,974.19
FEkE YN

Environment?® Water consumption intensity tonnes/HKD ('000) 0.14 0.12

IRIB° BABE AW/ BT (F)
Packaging Materials
aEMR
Paper tonnes 1,896.62 2,027.52
P N
Plastic tonnes 924.90 676.60
B N
Metal tonnes 0.22 0.30
Gl N
Greenhouse Gases (GHG) Emissions
BERBHKR
Scope 1: direct carbon emissions® tCO2e 98.44 352.00
#HE BRI AE_EEREE
Scope 2: indirect carbon emissions tCO2e 8,481.08 7,233.67
#HE2 | BRI APZFEHREE
9 Due to the transition from pneumatic to electric slitting machines, o HRIEREN DI EIR R BEI DI K

RARHEEERBE MR EFEAE

decreased as compared to the previous year. B e

both natural gas consumption and Scope 1 data have significantly
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R 1 EREGRS

PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY (Continued) FIRHFEWME (4B)
Aspects Indicator 2024
B it —E_ME
Total GHG emissions tCO2e 8,579.52 7,585.67
BERBEHHES PNE_FERES
Total GHG emission intensity tCO2e/HKD ('000) 0.02 0.01
BEREBMEELE YN = =
/BT (F)
Air Pollutants
ERSRM
SOx kg 0.43 0.38
k=R lek?] N
NOx kg 48.33 54.58
ALY N
PM kg 4.01 4.66
e N
) VOCs tonnes 9.37 11.79
Environment | gzt 51L& AN
R

Waste
BEEM
Hazardous waste tonnes 61.45 74.56
BEEEEY N
Hazardous waste intensity kg/HKD ('000) 0.13 0.14
BEEEEYEE N/ BT (F)
Non-hazardous waste tonnes 188.18 311.00
BEEEY NI
Non-hazardous waste intensity kg/HKD ('000) 0.39 0.57
BREEEYEE A/ BT (F)
Effluent tonnes 8,204.00 7,565.00
EIK N
Effluent intensity tonnes/HKD ('000) 0.02 0.01
EKEE NWg/ BT (F)
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RIE - EREGRS

PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY (Continued) RINHBEE (18)

Aspects Indicator

Em BT

Total Headcount 941 998
EERH

By Geographical Region
EitE

Mainland China 889 924
FRE Py 3t
Hong Kong 52 74
5%
By Age
HER
30 or Below 105 92
305U T
31-50 698 789
3158 £50%
Above 50 138 117
505 L &
By Gender
b3kl
Male 502 536
C=Lis
Female 439 462
pegs

By Education Level
RYERE
Tertiary education or above 168 154
AB U £
Below tertiary education 773 844
ARLLTF
By Function
R AE
Management 175 196
EEE

General staff 766 802
—®RET

Workforce
Demographics

FEHABHE
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R 1 EREGRS

PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY (Continued)

Aspects

B

Workforce
Demographics

FENABARE

Indicator

BT

Employee Turnover Rate

BERKILE

RRBEME ()

2024
—E_ME

Total
FEE

55%

43%

By Age
BER

30 or Below

30 BT

102%

116%

31-50
31 E505%

47%

37%

Above 50
50 A E

60%

32%

By Gender
el

Male
Bt

56%

45%

Female

wit

54%

42%

By Geographical Region
&

Mainland China
FRE Py st

55%

44%

Hong Kong
)

62%

31%

Workforce
Demographics

FEN AR

Employee New Hire Rate

BEMEMELLE

Total
e

30%

31%

By Age
BER

30 or Below

30 T

81%

109%

31-50
31 E505%

28%

25%
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RIE - EREGRS

PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY (Continued) RINHBEE (18)

Aspects Indicator

B B iR

Above 50 5% 7%
5058 A Lk
By Gender
Workforce iR
Demographics

S\ BEt Male 28% 34%
St
Female 33% 27%
pegia

Percentage of employees trained
RilREERL

By Gender
gkl

Male 94% 93%
B
Female 95% 93%
7

By Function

A

Management 87% 85%
EEE
General staff 96% 95%
Training and —®BeT
Development
R R E Average training hours per person

AN9IEHI B

By Gender
R
Male hours 9 14
C=Lis TN
Female hours 10 15
7 INEE
By Function
YR AE
Management hours 7 12
EIEE TN

General staff hours 10 15
—RET I)\BF
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R 1 EREGRS

PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY (Continued)

RRBEME ()

Aspects Indicator 2024
B BT —BCMmE
Work-related incident cases 8 12
TRMERAEN =¥
Lost days due to work-related injury days 126 463
THEBRTIEHE X
Health and Work-related fatalities no. of employees 0 0
Safety TEEBET AR BEA#H
RREZ2 Number of employees participating in person-times 3,574 5,342
safety training AR
2EZ2EIEEAH
Total safety training hours hours 4,479 7,852
S LS INEF
Community Donations HK$ 154,000 295,000
Investment B/ BT (approximately) | (approximately)
HERE (#49) (1BE49)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - EREGRS

CONTENT INDEX

KPls

R AE IS 1E
Governance Structure

EREE

AB 5|

Reporting Code Requirements

BETAER

Section

3]

Mandatory Disclosure

SR B

A statement from the Board containing: (i) Disclose the Board’s
oversight of ESG issues; (ii) the Board’s ESG management approach
and strategy, including the process of evaluating, prioritising and
managing material ESG-related issues (including risks to the issuer’s
business); and (iii) how the Board reviews progress against ESG-related
objectives and explains how they relate to the issuer’s business.
HESEZHNBER EFRHE TIAR (IREESEHIRE
HEREAEENEE (I EFENRE - HEREREEAH K
HEE > BEE BRI REEEENRE - HEREREMAER
(BEHETAEBNRR) NBRE; RiNESSWNIRIRE g
REAREREBEBIER TREBETCMUNAEEITAERFRE.

Board Statement
EEgEH
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B4

CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

KPls

B RIS 1R

Reporting Principles

FE#R =AY

HERERKRS

RB R (@)

Reporting Code Requirements

BETAENR

Section

=

Mandatory Disclosure

Sl i BR

Description or explanation of how the following reporting principles

Reporting Standard and

have been applied in the preparation of the ESG Report: Principles
IS REBTARERRE HEREARSHUAIEATIERRA | BRSTEKREFEEA]
Materiality: The ESG Report should disclose: (i) the process for The Group

identifying and selecting material ESG factors; and (ii) if the issuer
has engaged stakeholders, a description of the identified material
stakeholders, and the process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder
engagement.

EEM  RE - HEREARSERE ((HIEERE IR
EARARRNAE REFEEERZIRWER NETABETHENE
28 BN EZRF D ENBIR R BT ARFHEDENBE NG
Bo

communicates with
stakeholders through
various channels to
identify material issues
that have an impact on
the Group’s business
from the perspective of
Environmental, Social
and Governance. This
report comprehensively
discloses the Group’s
approach to and
performance in
addressing the main
environmental, social
and governance issues
that the stakeholders
are concerned about.
rEEFBEZEERE
B pEBER UNIR
BE-HERERAEH

A EBARERERN
Euﬁﬁ% cAHRELE
IWEEAREEEIERE )
EREANETERE -1
BRERBENAI
R o
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RIE - EREGRS

CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

KPls

B RIS 1R

RB R (@)

Reporting Code Requirements

HETAER

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of conversion
factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy consumption
(where applicable) should be disclosed.

21t : BRAEREINE AERER WER) FrAMRE s 5E R’&
K/ H BT ANER MUKk ERNES R RN HRE TR E -

Section

=11

The Group applies
guantitative principles.
The Performance Data
Summary is presented
in @ manner conducive
to comparison of year-
on-year changes. The
measures are described
adequately, including
the method of
calculation of indicators
of emissions in the
notes.
NEBKBECE-
RABEBMEUFN
BREFEEHMN A
2517 =B UFR
ot BiEFTEW T
PBEIERE 5 7 ©

Reporting Principles
EER IR A

Mandatory Disclosure

SR i BR

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any changes
to the methods or KPIs used, if any, or any other relevant factors
affecting a meaningful comparison.

—H% BTARTRE - HEREARSPRBERST S AR
BRIERNEE A NEAEMEEERERLRNERRAER -

The Group adheres to
consistent standards
in the preparation of
the reports. The way
this report is prepared
has not changed
significantly from
previous years.
REBERUBERER
FHRA—BURE - AR
ENHEN G EETE
FrARZEMELE L mEXR
o

Reporting Boundary
EREE

Mandatory Disclosure

Sl i B

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and
describing the process used to identify which entities or operations are
included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer
should explain the difference and reason for the change.

MERE e NEARSTHERBE REMPENLC TR
BMAIRE - HEREARSNBRE SERBEFPINE EITA
FERRTEN B 2 R M BN R A o

Reporting Boundary
and Scope
BREBAKREE
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R 1 EREGRS

CONTENT INDEX (Continued) WA ES| (8)

KPIs Reporting Code Requirements Section
RRSRARMIEIR BRETHEKR =i

A. Environmental

A IRIE

Aspect A1: General Disclosure ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions Information on: PROTECTION
BEA1 : B4 (@) the policies; and RIGRE

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water

and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

—RIEE

ERBERMAERBHER BRI HNHES EERESEEY
HWELZEDN

(@ BE &

(b) ETHBETABEATZENEREZERRANER -
KPI A1.1 Types of emissions and their respective emissions data. | ENVIRONMENTAL

RSEN | REREREEER S - PROTECTION —
FE1EA1.1 Emission Control
IRIBRE—PEUES!
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) ENVIRONMENTAL
RABE4ER | greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where PROTECTION — Tackling
$542A1.2 | appropriate, intensity. Climate Changes
Bi (BE) REEREE EE2) AERBHNRE MU | RERE-EHRE
RWEETE) &k (NER) BE - &1t
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | ENVIRONMENTAL
RASE4ESL | appropriate, intensity. PROTECTION —
BIRA13  (FMEAEEEEYEE URQAMESE) Rk WEA) Z | Emission Control
o IRIB(RE — eS|
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,

RASE4ERL | where appropriate, intensity.
BEA1A | FTEABRISEEYRE UREEE) & QER) &

o
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to | ENVIRONMENTAL
RASEAEZL | achieve them. PROTECTION —
}S1EA15 M FTE] L HE 2 BE K AE RS L B IZFERENA | Environmental

R Performance Tracking,

Emissions Control,
Tackling Climate
Changes
RIGRE-IRIFERT
BHE ; BERUES ; Y

RIREE

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE&EZKRARAT | Annual Report 2024 F iR 143



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIE - HHERERKRS

CONTENT INDEX (Continued) ARG (&)
KPIs Reporting Code Requirements Section
RSB ERIEIR RETAER =420
Aspect A1: KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions RSB wastes are handled, and a description of reduction PROTECTION -
JEEA1 : HEH #51EA1.6  |target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Environmental
HWMEIREEMBESEEYN G L RAMPFEIIZH | Performance Tracking,
REEE R R A EDEEE R L B Emissions Control
IRIBRE-IRIERER
BHE ; BEBUES

Aspect A2: General Disclosure ENVIRONMENTAL

Use of Resources Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and | PROTECTION

BHEA2 : BiRER other raw materials. R IRE
—AR IR EE

BEXRERAER (B1ERER KR EMEME) BB -
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in ENVIRONMENTAL

BASEER | total (kWh in '000s) and intensity. PROTECTION - Tackling
1E18A2.1 | RELISNER R SERZEREFEESE UTE | Climate Changes
FEEHE) REBE- RIRRE-—RHERE
g1t
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. ENVIRONMENTAL
RREN |BEKEREBE- PROTECTION —
F51EA2.2 Resources Conservation

RIFRE-HNER
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and ENVIRONMENTAL

RRSREN steps taken to achieve them. PROTECTION - Tackling
1518A2.3 | HIFTET UMVAERERA M m B IR kA ERIE L B EFR | Climate Changes
PREXBY 2 BR o RIERE-—RHERE
=15

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing ENVIRONMENTAL
RASRAEN water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) | PROTECTION —
$548A2.4  |set and steps taken to achieve them. Resources Conservation
O REGER AR R BERBE URFEIUNA | RIERE-SHNER
KA B R R AEDIEE B RPTEREAY & 8] o

KPI A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished products (in | ENVIRONMENTAL
RASR4ERL | tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit PROTECTION —

$51EA2.5 produced. Resources Conservation
S RTBeEEMENEE UUAMERE) & WER) | BRERE-HOER
BEEBAME-
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R 1 EREGRS

CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

KPls

B RIS 1R

Aspect A3:

The Environment
and Natural
Resources
[BEA3 : IRIER XA
'R

RB R (@)

Reporting Code Requirements Section
BRETHEKR =i

General Disclosure ENVIRONMENTAL
Policies on minimising the issuers’ significant impact on the PROTECTION
environment and natural resources. IRIRIRE
—RRIRE

BRBITAHIRERRAEREMEATENER

KPI A3.1 Description of significant impacts of activities on the ENVIRONMENTAL
RASE4ERL | environment and natural resources and the actions PROTECTION
$542A3.1  |taken to manage them. — Emissions

B EF R HRERRAERNERTZERBEE
EEAMEENTE-

Control, Tackling
Climate Changes,
Environmental
Emergency
Management

IR IRE —HEIES
EHRBEEL ; RIRMRE
=B

Aspect A4:
Climate Change
[BEAL . mIFEE

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
— I E

HAREHER RO EEHETAELERENEAREERAEEN
B

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues
RASE4EXL | which have impacted, and those which may impact, the
151EAL.1 issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

B BRI EEHETAEEZENEARIEIERM
EE REHTH-

ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION — Tackling
Climate Changes
RiRRE-BHERE
1t
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RIE - EREGRS

CONTENT INDEX (Continued) NA RS (&)

KPIs Reporting Code Requirements Section
RRSRARMIEIR BRETHEKR =i

B. Social

B. 4%

Aspect B1: General Disclosure PEOPLE-ORIENTED
Employment Information on: DYN=F:N

BEB1 . B (@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,

working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

—AR IR EE

BRIF R E B REA  TESR R TEHE - ZTh

R I fR AR E At 5 i S @ Al g -

(@ BER; &

(b) BFHEFETABEARZEZNERMEIERROINEER

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group
RASE4ER | and geographical region.
151EB1.1 R BEAE FRERN KRB DR ESRE -

PEOPLE-ORIENTED —
Talent Acquisition

MUAZA— NF18E

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
RASE4ERL | geographical region.
151EB1.2 MR ERAER RMERI SRS RAEE -

PEOPLE-ORIENTED —
Talent Acquisition

AR — NF1EE
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R 1 EREGRS

CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

KPls

B RIS 1R

Aspect B2:
Health and Safety
[EEB2 : REEZE

Reporting Code Requirements

RETAER

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.

RB R (@)

— AR EE

BREHZE2TERERRERSREHEEBEMN

(@ &R &

(b) BTFHETABEAXENEREIERRINER -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in

RABE4ERL | each of the past three years including the reporting year.

$51%B2.1 BE=F (OFERFE) SFRATTHNABKL
o

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injuries.

RAREK AITEBEAITIEH-

$51%B2.2

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures

RASE4ERL | adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

1518B2.3 | HIMFTERMBVRI R R RE L 2 DR EIT R

BERke

Section

=420
PEOPLE-ORIENTED —
Occupational Health
and Safety
MABR—BEREE
RZE

Aspect B3:
Development and
Training

fEEB3 : 3R Rl

General Disclosure
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

— AR IR EE

BRARAEE BT TR B B 3 K 5 AE B BUER « # it IE I E B

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and

RABE4ER | employee category.

$51%¥B3.1 U REEENB DN ZIEEB DL

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by

RASEM | gender and employee category.

151EB3.2 | REEEHNE D BREETMZ I TR
2o

PEOPLE-ORIENTED —
Nurturing Talent

DN E Sl ==
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RIE - EREGRS

CONTENT INDEX (Continued) ARG (&)

KPIs Reporting Code Requirements Section

B RIS 1R BETAENR =

Aspect B4: General Disclosure PEOPLE-ORIENTED -

Labour Standards Information on: Prevention of Child and

JBEB4 : &5 T 48| (@) the policies; and Forced Labour

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a UANBR-FFIEET
significant impact on the issuer Fesailes T

relating to preventing child or forced labour.

— i E

BRIFIEETHRGIETH .

(@ B&ER; &

(b) BEBTFTHETABEAXENERAEERRINER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices

FASE4ERL | to avoid child and forced labour.

151%B4.1 AR T A RS B BT FE A B R B T Koo blgs T o

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices

RASEEM | when discovered.

1515B4.2 | EIRER B REHIRE BB PRI & 8% o

148 Neway Group Holdings Limited FE2&EEZERBMRAE | Annual Report 2024 F iR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R 1 EREGRS

CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

KPls

RSB ERIEIR
Aspect B5:

Supply Chain
Management
[EmEBS : HEHEERE

RB R (@)

Reporting Code Requirements Section
RETAER =420

General Disclosure OPERATIONAL
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply EXCELLENCE

chain. EiEEH

— AR IR EE

EIRMHEENIRIE R G RMRECK -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. OPERATIONAL
RBER | EwEIomMEEmEE- EXCELLENCE - Supplier
$54EB5.1 Management

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, HESH-EEE
R A number of suppliers where the practices are being s

$54EB5.2

implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

A R R NIEA) > mERNITAREG B H
FEREE  URABRABMITRER G £

KPI B5.3
RABR4E K
$54EB5.3

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

H it R R A R S IR MR IR it & R AV IS
B> U B RABAT R B ER 5 7% o

KPI B5.4
RABEN
}51EB5.4

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

TR REERNIEESARRERRRFBHNE
B> U AR IT R B A o

OPERATIONAL
EXCELLENCE - Supplier
Management; Green
Procurement
BESH—HERE
B alRE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - EREGRS

CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

KPls

RSB ERIEIR
Aspect B6:
Product

Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmEE

RB R (@)

Reporting Code Requirements

RETAER

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

—RIRE

ERAFfRHERNRBNREREZE - BEH REKMREEUR

R ER

(@ B&R; &

(b) BFHETABEARXENHERBERLRONEK

Section

=i
OPERATIONAL
EXCELLENCE
EESH

KPI B6.1
R AR
151%B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
BENBEFERBYPREZ 2 EEREAMARIK
R

OPERATIONAL
EXCELLENCE -
Customer Satisfaction,
Responsible Service
Provider

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints POVEE

RATRAER received and how they are dealt with. EESHU-FF AR
51EB6.2 | BRI ERRRENRFHE U RES 5% i s BRENRBHIE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and OPERATIONAL
RASEEM | protecting intellectual property rights. EXCELLENCE —

154%B6.3 | il A FE S RIS R A A RABVIE A -

Protection of
Intellectual Property
Rights
EESH—RENH
ER

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall OPERATIONAL

RASRAER | procedures. EXCELLENCE -

151%B6.4 |HIESRTBRERERLEWIEZRF - Customer Satisfaction
EEFH-FRWE
E

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy OPERATIONAL

RABE4ERL | policies, how they are implemented and monitored. EXCELLENCE —

HH BEERHRERM BB UWREMAITRE
"5k

$51%B6.5

Data Security and
Information Protection
EEEH-HELE
Fs BiReE
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R 1 EREGRS

CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

KPls

B RIS 1R

Aspect B7:
Anti-corruption

[BEB7 : R&ES

Reporting Code Requirements

RETAER

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

— R EE

BRAMIEBERE - B3R IRFF R R B 8800 ¢

RB R (@)

(@ BER; &
(b) BEBTFTHETABEAXENERAEERRINER -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt

BB
$51%B7.1

practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and outcomes of the cases.
RERMARETANEEERET EEENESH
SREM BB KRG R

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
RARE procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
151¥B7.2 S B R R RERF U RBEERITREER A
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to
RASE4ERL | directors and staff.

518873 | HMMEERE TRENREEE -

Section

=i

OPERATIONAL
EXCELLENCE -
Anti-corruption;
Whistleblowing
EESH-RE5; 8
E25d

Aspect B8:
Community
Investment

[EEBS : HERE

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.

— AR IR EE
BRMHE2ERTHREEMELERTENRRAXFZEHNGERE
&AM B BUER ©

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution.

MEEN | EEIFmER-

151%88.1

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area.
REEYN  EHEIRBEMBAER

$51%B8.2

COMMUNITY
ENGAGEMENT
ez
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Independent Auditor’s Report
i RVR 22 ETE

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NEWAY GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Neway
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 159 to 300,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BB S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,

in our professional

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties

We identified the valuation of
investment properties as a key audit
matter due to the inherent level of
complex and subjective judgement
and estimates required in determining
the fair values.

The Group's investment properties
portfolio comprises commercial and
industrial properties located in Hong
Kong and the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") and is stated at fair
value of HK$159,876,249 as at 31
December 2024 with a fair value loss
of HK$22,241,318 recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for
the year then ended.

Our procedures in relation to
the valuation of investment
properties included:

e  Evaluating the competence,
capabilities and objectivity of
the valuers and obtaining an
understanding of the valuers'
scope of work and their terms
of engagement;

e FEvaluating the appropriateness
of the valuers’ valuation
approaches to assess if they
meet the requirements of the
HKFRSs and industry norms;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BB S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

The Group's investment properties
are measured using the fair value
model based on a valuation
performed by independent qualified
professional valuers. As disclosed in
notes 4 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements, in determining
the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties, the valuers
have applied income capitalisation
approach for respective properties,
which involve, inter-alia, certain
estimates, including appropriate
term vyields, reversionary yields and
market transactions of comparable
properties, as appropriate.
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Evaluating the reasonableness
and appropriateness of valuation
models applied based on
available market information
and our knowledge of the
property industry and whether
the methodologies are
consistent with the bases used in
prior year; and

Assessing the reasonableness
of key inputs used in the
valuation, on a sample basis,
by checking to the publicly
available information on market
transactions of comparable
properties, comparing rental
income, terms of existing
leases to the existing lease
summaries of the Group and
evaluating whether term yields,
reversionary yields adopted are
comparable to the market.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
i RVR 2 ETE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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i RVR 22 ETE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
i RVR 2 ETE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

ZHENM B sHR & M B WK A
ENEE (@)

. HEERAFEBLEESSTERYN
16 & % 7F A4S o o IR IR P EXBY
B BRR HEROHFEHRSFR
HERBERBERTHEEN 1
MAEERE BEENFEEL
ERENELEERRE -NRESF
BATFEEARIEEN ABL
BEZHBIMRESTIRBERE L
BV BRERPBERMKE ;
HBREEMPIRESE IESF
RAEFIRR - EFHNEREEN
ZEEMER & H L PREVS R E 5HR
5% o AT RZRFIRNIB AT AT BE

By BEBEFERELE-

. FEFEE M B HRERNERES S
I EBNAE SEKE Uk
REMBRESTPE RRERE
RHMEE

. MEERNS BRI ERENNEG
HEM B R RITEBBITLUE
BMEE - BENSBHRE A
HixaMERXZERERNE
RoBELEBEE BEEBEZESNA
M -EENER BEEABTE
RAE2EBEE-

SREMEEN EFREQEER T 5
BINVESTHE FE LI EREHE
RE QREEFEESTHAIEAEE
ERNEREREAK

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE&EZKRARAT | Annual Report 2024 F iR

157



Independent Auditor’s Report
i RVR 22 ETE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. YEUNG PIK FUNG.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

raRm M EHMEENARR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

2024 2023
“ENE —E-=fF
Note HKS$ HK$
HzE BT BT
Revenue U & 5
Revenue from goods and services 2R B & S MRS 2 W 467,945,752 540,232,497
Rental income G ON 7,615,773 2,783,890
Interest income from lending KEMEEKZ
business FEUN 4,982,330 5,672,580
Total revenue 4B 480,543,855 548,688,967
Cost of sales and services iHE N AR5 Al A (383,318,032) (460,341,448)
Gross profit EF 97,225,823 88,347,519
Other interest income HAF] SN 11 6,458,256 6,000,913
Other income HAA 11 6,065,307 3,412,917
Selling and distribution expenses SHE MASIHR X (30,268,191) (36,795,432)
Administrative and other expenses  {TE A ELfthFE =2 (117,607,165) (121,691,637)
Other gains and losses Htt Wz M 518 7 (24,959,872) (7,116,401)
Impairment losses under expected EBRIEENMESNEETEL 11
credit loss (“ECL") model on EE85E ((EREE
financial assets and contract B5i8)) LT
assets, net REEIEFEE (2,644,564) (345,629)
Finance costs FLE A A 8 (6,784,776) (6,525,347)
Share of results of joint ventures DMEEERNTZEME = (3,750)
Loss before taxation BRI BIESIE (72,515,182) (74,716,847)
Taxation charge MBS H 10 (4,586,291) (7,355,103)
Loss for the year REFFIE 11 (77,101,473) (82,071,950)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

raRm M EHMEENARR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-NE+-B=1+—HIFE

2024 2023
ZEI@mE —EC=HF
Note HK$ HK$
i3 BT BT
Other comprehensive (expense) Hfth2mE (BIs%) YA :
income:
Item that may be reclassified HEEM 7 EERm 2
subsequently to profit or loss: B :
Exchange differences arising on WEBIINEBREEZ
translation of foreign operations bE 0 E 2B (10,910,885) (12,150,897)
Items that will not be reclassified to B EFHIEE 8w =
profit or loss: BEH
Surplus on transfer from property, — ¥13 . 5 M R 85 1
plant and equipment to EREMERZBRE
investment properties - 38,512,183
Deferred tax arising from HYZE. BB MR EE
transfer of property, plant BEREWMERMEL
and equipment to investment ZIEFETRIE
properties = (9,628,046)
Fair value loss on equity FBEMEEmBANRA
instruments at fair value TEYER (MEEEM
through other comprehensive LHEBNRATET
income (“FVTOCI") BR) ZBRATAZR
TERE (9,000,000) -
(19,910,885) 16,733,240
Total comprehensive expense RELHERBEZARZE
for the year (97,012,358) (65,338,710)
Loss for the year attributable to: T AT G ARERE :
Owners of the Company E/NETE =N (76,993,312) (81,961,487)
Non-controlling interests TS (108,161) (110,463)
(77,101,473) (82,071,950)
Total comprehensive expense UFALTEGEFLE
for the year attributable to: Pz 48%8 .
Owners of the Company KRNBEB AN (97,032,724) (65,334,885)
Non-controlling interests FIERER 20,366 (3,825)
(97,012,358) (65,338,710)
Loss per share SREE 13
Basic (HK cents) B (B (30.39) (32.35)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

EEMBIRRERER

At 31 December 2024

S TECME+"RB=+—H

2024 2023
—TWE T =F
NOTES HKS$ HK$
HizE BT BT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERZE 14 133,136,051 154,585,377
Investment properties Sd=Ly/ES 15 159,876,249 162,019,272
Equity instruments at FVTOCI F@EMEERARA 6
TFEIRZKRATA 13,087,402 22,193,495
Club membership BFEE 3,403,700 3,403,700
Prepayments and deposits FENRIERETE 20 5,401,409 4,395,817
Interests in joint ventures and REBRBEIRE AT
an associate Z e 389,632 389,232
Loans receivable fEWE R 21 717,132 17,933,940
Deposit paid for acquisition of ENEEYE -BEKR
property, plant and equipment REZEE 1,891,155 148,829
Deferred tax assets RLEIRIBE & 28 13,582,081 12,661,692
331,484,811 377,731,354
Current assets MBNEE
Inventories 78 18 18,730,657 25,134,618
Properties under development for  FEXRDYZE 19
sale/properties for sale HFEME 310,158,055 258,459,215
Financial assets at fair value BiBEmEATEYER 6
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") (MEBERE AT E
FER)) 2 EREE 9,488,068 15,770,920
Trade and other receivables, B 5 K H A & SRR IE 20
prepayments and deposits SENEREP S EIE 170,792,932 138,847,263
Contract assets BHNEE 17 23,979,931 26,334,377
Loans receivable FEWE R 21 30,222,831 29,810,691
Tax recoverable BEEE 117,007 -
Pledged bank deposits EERIRITEM 22 63,728,570 76,274,798
Short-term bank deposits KHARITERR 22 60,063,824 20,297,256
Cash and cash equivalents RERIBEEE 22 58,325,642 99,493,689
745,607,517 690,422,827
Current liabilities GIE=NE
Trade and other payables and 8 5 Kk B AT TRIAL 23
accruals R FE5HRRIR 194,334,488 124,685,719
Lease liabilities HE&eRE 24 11,596,254 12,532,717
Contract liabilities aH8E 25 20,519,084 35,937,801
Tax liabilities MESE 7,688,515 6,701,088
Amount due to a non-controlling B —REIREB AR —% 26
shareholder of a subsidiary FEEI B R ARIE 15,947,268 16,499,835
Bank borrowings RITEMN 27 117,250,915 70,338,782
367,336,524 266,695,942
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBI ERE
At 31 December 2024
A _EFE+_"_B=+—H

2024 2023
—_E_ME TET=4F
NOTES HKS$ HK$
Kzt BT BT
Net current assets BB EFE 378,270,993 423,726,885
Total assets less current liabilities BEERMEERA 709,755,804 801,458,239
Non-current liabilities ERBIEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 38,525,941 40,840,321
Bank borrowings R1TRERR 27 30,144,589 23,209,768
Deferred tax liabilities EEIRIEEIR 28 15,295,545 14,606,063
83,966,075 78,656,152
Net assets BEZE 625,789,729 722,802,087
Capital and reserves BEARRKEE
Share capital & 29 2,533,595 2,533,595
Reserves G 627,073,043 724,105,767
Total attributable to owners of KNBVER NE(LAREE
the Company 629,606,638 726,639,362
Non-controlling interests JFIER i (3,816,909) (3,837,275)
Total equity T 4R EE 625,789,729 722,802,087
The consolidated financial statements on pages 159 to 300 were HRNFEI9BEEI00E 2 EEHBRERD

HEEER _Z_RAF=A_+/,xBi#tAE
R tET| & WHRIATESHAREE .

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26
March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

SUEK Ka Lun, Ernie BE5< B
Chairman F/&E

SUEK Chai Hong BB [E
Director &%
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

IIV'F *é ﬁ ﬁ

I EES

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z_ME+"_A=+—HLEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

HABEBNES
Deemed Retained
contribution Capital Properties  Investment profits Non-
Share Share from  redemption  Contributed valuation  revaluation  Translation  (accumulated controlling
capital premium  a shareholder reserve surplus Teserve Teserve Teserve loss) Sub-total interests Total
BfE—% MEEE  REER REER
BR  BROEE BRRZER EAEEHEE  REES (1] #hE  ERHEE  (RHEB Nt FERER @zt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B B o o B B B o B B B B
At 1 January 2023 RIZZ=5-F-H 2,533,595 368,851,377 188,956,957 62,400 103,571,033 63,252,165 (22,985,932)  (1,795,042) 89,527,694 791,974,247  (3,833,450) 788,140,797
Loss for the year REES - - - - - - - - (81961,487) (81,961487)  (110463) (82,071,950)
Exchange differences arising on HEENERMEL L
translation of foreign operations EREH - - - - - - - (12,257,535 - (12,257,535 106,638 (12,150,897)
Surplus on transfer from property, 1% BER&ZEBHEE
plant and equipment to RENEE R
investment properties (note 15) (Wr#15) - - - - - 38512,183 - - - 38512,183 - 38512,183
Deferred tax arising from transfer of FI¥)% MERRGEEAZE
property, plant and equipment to  REMEMEL 2L
investment properties (note 28) I (328 - - - - - (9,628,046) - - - (9,628,046 - (9,628,046
Other comprehensive income FEEMRERA ()
(expense) for the year - - - - - 28,884,137 - (12,257,535) - 16,626,602 106,638 16,733,240
Total comprehensive income FE2EMA %) 8%
(expense) for the year - - - - - 28,884,137 - (12,257,535) (81,961,487) (65,334,885) (3,825  (65,338,710)
At31 December 2023 RZBZZF
+ZA=1t-8 2,533595 368,851,377 188,956,957 62,400 103,571,033 92,136,302 (22,985,932) (14,052,577) 7,566,207 726,639,362  (3,837,275) 722,802,087
Loss for the year REEH - - - - - - - - (76993312) (76,993,312 (108,161)  (77,101,473)
Exchange differences arising on BEBNEBMEL L
translation of foreign operations BREE - - - - - - - (11,039,412 - (11,039,412 128,527 (10,910,885)
Fair value loss on equity instruments BB M2 ERARATE
at FVTOC IR ZRATRZ
ATEBR - - - - - - (9,000,000) - - (9,000,000) - (9,000,000)
Other comprehensive (expense) AEEMRE (%) WA
income for the year - - - - - - (9,000,000) (11,039,412) - (20,039412) 128,527 (19,910,885)
Total comprehensive (expense) FE2E (%) WALE
income for the year - - - - - - (9,000,000) (11,039,412) (76,993312) (97,032,724) 20366 (97,012,358)
At 31 December 2024 RZE_ME
ZR=1t-H 2,533595 368,851,377 188,956,957 62,400 103,571,033 92,136,302 (31,985,932) (25,091,989) (69,427,105 629,606,638  (3,816,909) 625,789,729
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

maRERERR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-NE+-B=1+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E_NF —EC=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ST
Loss before taxation FRIRAIES I8 (72,515,182) (74,716,847)
Adjustments for: EFEH TAE
Write-down of inventories W EE 156,835 -
Depreciation on property, plant and ME--BERREITE
equipment 32,044,101 34,084,278
Net (gain) loss on disposal of property, HEME -BERREN
plant and equipment (Wz) B548 358 (1,888,818) 396,762
Change in fair value of investment KREMEQNTEEEF)
properties 22,241,318 6,125,444
Change in fair value of financial assets ~ ZEBERIEAFETRZ
at FVTPL ETMEBEZ AT EED 5,185,687 1,604,208
(Reversal of impairment losses) B REWHIBTEEERIE
impairment losses under BT OB E RS 18 [0])
ECL model on trade receivables, net ERRREE (252,472) 380,190
(Reversal of impairment losses) SHEERREEREE
impairment losses under T8 CRUERSEEE) HE
ECL model on contract assets, net 518,558 (342,036) 354,813
Impairment losses (reversal of FEWERmBHEEBERER
impairment losses) under ECL model TH R EEE CRERE
on loans receivable, net $5[0]) ;F 28 3,239,072 (389,374)
Share of results of joint ventures TMMEEERBZER - 3,750
Dividend income fZ B WA (2,980,675) (641,519)
Finance costs FhE AL A 6,784,776 6,525,347
Interest income FMEUWA (6,458,256) (6,000,913)
Operating cash flows before movements K&H&EE SR
in working capital KERERE (14,785,650) (32,273,861)
Decrease in inventories w8/ 5,773,202 11,329,742
(Increase) decrease in properties under  FEREEHYE FEYE
development for sale/properties for sale (¥ /0) /L (82,613,868) 58,674,539
Increase in trade and other receivables, &5 KEMhAEWEIE
prepayments and deposits T RRIE R 5T =38 0 (35,304,226) (23,474,542)
Decrease in contract assets EHNEERD 2,347,801 2,735,049
Decrease in loans receivable EWwE TR 13,565,596 1,997,628
Increase (decrease) in trade and other B 5 R EMER RIE L R
payables and accruals FESTRRIEIE 0GRl 74,043,225 (10,392,570)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilites &#&E G5/ &M (14,618,895) 27,338,648
Decrease in financial assets at FVTPL HiBBEmBE A TFEYERZ
ERE E R 1,097,165 -
Cash (used in) from operations K& (FriE) FrRiRE (50,495,650) 35,934,633
Dividend income A& B U 2,980,675 641,519
Net Hong Kong Profits Tax (paid) refunded (BEf) BREEBFER FEE (400,575) 351,179
Overseas tax paid BfEINRIE (3,268,268) (6,749,867)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING ~ #X& 2% (FR#E) PR1SIR & 948
ACTIVITIES (51,183,818) 30,177,464
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

maRERERR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-NE TEBT=4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KRERE
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, BETEEWE BMEMRREZ
plant and equipment HiEa (1,928,051) (149,387)
Placement of pledge bank deposits B ERIRITEMR - (16,274,798)
Withdrawal of pledge bank deposits REEERIRITEMR 12,546,228 -
Placement of short-term bank deposits  TFEHASE1T1E =X (238,007,118) (20,309,025)
Withdrawal of short-term bank deposits  1REX i HAIRTTIERR 198,240,550 15,608,769
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B A¥) 2 = K & & (7,449,241) (2,256,576)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEYE - -BEKRRKRHZ
and equipment FRi8 1A 6,147,182 397,412
Investment in an associate RS NTZRE (400) -
Interest received BUWFHIE 6,364,516 5,979,534
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES & & &8I FiEIRS 348 (24,086,334) (17,004,071)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE)
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBITEN (182,711,738) (201,075,026)
New bank borrowings raised HILIRITER 237,447,947 184,558,033
Payments of lease liabilities HEaEMR (12,778,885) (14,624,200)
Interest paid BHE (6,784,776) (6,525,347)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) RMEEFFAS (FTHE) IR 548
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 35,172,548 (37,666,540)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND BENIREEFERLFEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (40,097,604) (24,493,147)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHzReERBREEE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 99,493,689 125,297,011
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE fEREH) g &
CHANGES (1,070,443) (1,310,175)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZIBERIBEEE
AT END OF THE YEAR 58,325,642 99,493,689
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF RERREEBERZOM
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash IRITHEFRRIRE 58,325,642 99,493,689
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR M BRI R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BH=E

1.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Neway Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in Corporate Information to the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) and other details of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 39.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e B Rk R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BH=E

2.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

ERMIERMBREE
Al (ERMBHRSER)
R ZE B Z1E5T (48)
RAEERFERBE BT
BIRE R 2837 (8

ERAMBREES ERHARNEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR M BRI R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments3

Contracts Referencing Nature-
Dependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards —

Volume 113

Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

Except as described below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MBHRRM

17 g =

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

2.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements” (“HKFRS 18"), which sets out requirements
on presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements”
("HKAS 1"). This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” and HKFRS 7
“Financial Instruments: Disclosure”.

Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”
and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are also made. HKFRS
18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027,
with early application permitted. The application of the
new standard is expected to affect the presentation of the
statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group's consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

im e SRR R M E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZATHRRNEUERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REASHBESE

170

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 3 FEMBHRRNENE
statements #*
The consolidated financial statements have been EEMBHRRLIEBES
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the Tt A BB 2T B
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the HHREZER R R
consolidated financial statements, information is %ﬁéﬁj?%{i%ﬁ‘ﬁ = MWA
considered material if such information is reasonably HERSIEfEHReEE T
expected to influence decisions made by primary users. BEFEHAEFEEBNRE 8
In addition, the consolidated financial statements BEHEERNEEAE LXK I
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules I EMBEREEES
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock BHMEXEZBRARE
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong = PR EEBE(ATE
Companies Ordinance. BIYRBREZERIFES

Igo

The directors of the Company have, at the time of R EE SRR
approving the consolidated financial statements, a ZK@TE%AEEE‘E,HHZ!K$
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate BEEHERNBRE
resources to continue in operational existence for the WU ER S o [RIL HETE
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the BRI AR REEE
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the HAGFEKRESatE o
consolidated financial statements.

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EAREHERER
Basis of consolidation IFERERE
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The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:
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. has power over the investee; . AAEKREHITE
1
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns . S2HEWKE RS
from its involvement with the investee; and BmAERRNAE
EEABREELZ
B & [o] %R ;
o has the ability to use its power to affect its ° B HiEREHW
returns. % éf Valra Wak-%

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ra MBI

For the year ended 31 December 2024

ME-F

M+ A=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of the subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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mEMBHRRNERESE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-NE+-B=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

mEMBHRRNERESE
REXGERER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Loss of control over subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSS).

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group's accounting policies
relating to contracts with customer is provided in Note
5, 17 and 25.
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BAEEETRGHIW
mAEENE S ERERE
FEMEEES s 17 &250

Leases HE
Definition of a lease HERTEZE

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ra MBI

For the year ended 31 December 2024

ME-F

M+ A=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability; and

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon
exercising purchase options, the cost of the relevant
right-of-use assets and the related accumulated
depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to
property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property or inventory
in “property, plant and equipment”, the same line
item within which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned. Right-of-
use assets that meet the definition of inventory are
presented within “properties under development for
sale”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR M BRI R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HmE-E

mE+=A=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
received and receivable and the exercise price of a
purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise the option.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

im e SRR R M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

mEMBHRRNERESE
REXGERER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the

3.2

EXREHBREH (B)

fHE (&)
KEBEZATAN (&)

MAREREBHEEARZ
HEERME  ~EBE%
EBERENEMBRZ
BT RE IR R AL IRAEE T
HEMRZEENREEZ
HAEMtEEEER-

REBEBHERERRE
EEETHEREREN

relevant right-of-use assets. SrEHEAaEG

The Group as a lessor KEEEZHHAN
Classification and measurement of leases HEMNDE K=

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as REBEALETHANEE

operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business (i.e. Property Investment
Business as defined in note 6) are presented as revenue.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

mEMBHRRNERESE
REXGERER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

3.2

EXRGHHREH (B

Investment properties REYE

Investment properties are properties held to earn CEMETHIERBIERR

rentals and/or for capital appreciation. MBS R RIEAHE ARG
ELENEY/E

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, KREYEY L A G

including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values, adjusted to exclude
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income. All of
the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purposes are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

B OEEWEEBARX
e IRAN L SR 1E » REY)
ERATESE KHRE
DU B AE 1) FEAY 30 2R 51K
SHE WA o A& B 5B
B E S IEEMRE
REENTAZ2EYE
Bm BT IERREYE
N

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of CEMEANTEEFELE
investment properties are included in profit or loss for MmN EEEST AEE
the period in which they arise. FHABEBE A o

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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e BUHFESBY EFTE L
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Property, plant and equipment WE--BERRE
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets ME-BENRZEBEBEIFE

that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes other
than properties construction in progress as described
below. Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

mEMBHRRNERESE
REXGERER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of
the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land is presented as “property, plant
and equipment” in the consolidated statement of
financial position except for those that are classified
and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant
and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because
its use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-
occupation, any difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of that item (including
the relevant leasehold land classified as right-of-use
assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in properties
valuation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement
of the property, the relevant properties valuation
reserve will be permanently retained in properties
valuation reserve and will not be transferred to retained
profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets, less their residual values, over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

3.2
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZATHRRNEUERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REASTHEEEER (8)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

3.2

EXRGHREN (&

YE BB R A (B)

An item of property, plant and equipment is ¥ -mEEZREEEN
derecognised upon disposal or when no future HENESBEHRTEFERZ
economic benefits are expected to arise from the BEBIrEEERKEE
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising MR IEER - HEY
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, - mMERERLEBEBERNE
plant and equipment is determined as the difference ERIBEBREMES 2T

between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined

AW s S ES B 75 LASE & P
BREREZEEZRBE
ZEBRBT WRERTP
EE DSE\ °

#E

FEURM A A P] #IFFE
MERZBEEAKR -7

on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value EARGiESRE T EE
represents the estimated selling price for inventories To o &I FEIEHETE
less all estimated costs of completion and costs EEBRBE MR

necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Properties under development for sale/
properties for sale

Properties under development for sale which are
intended to be sold upon completion of development
and properties for sale are classified as current
assets. Except for the leasehold land element which
is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties
under development for sale/properties for sale are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development
expenditure incurred and where appropriate, borrowing
costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated
cost to completion and costs necessary to make
the sales. Cost necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Properties under development for sale are transferred
to properties for sale upon completion.

The Group transfers a property from properties for sale
to investment property when there is a change in use
to hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course
of business, which is evidenced by the inception of
an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of
transfer and its previous carrying amount is recognised
in profit or loss.
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EXRGHTHREH (B)

FERXRPYE FE
VES

BNERTREHENT
EERDYERFTEME
NESARBEE -KEE
THHIREERESE
2SR AR5
BN FEBRRYME
R E W) 3 DU A< Ko P] 3R
FEMEZBREBEEAK
P AR TE BB EE
o BRENEREEZE
HREmR AR (HER) &
RACFE TR B 2 o P B3R 3
BfEYE G EERTM
2R ARFHIFEZ
WE B A o §H & P R B A
BEERBLEENEE
Pl 7S e A5 5 [ 75 85 & T
AEERIFE BRI -

&SR P ER 5T K
BREGEYE-

EREMEZRAREDH
RETN REXREE
MmIFR —MREFHBRE T H
E UTHEIRBEETEET
HthsmEEHEERS
AEERZNEBRTEY
XEBREREVFE =Y
ERNBRERZAFEA
HBTREEBRNE[E
RPBE PSR o

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE&EZKRARAT | Annual Report 2024 F iR

179



180

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-NE+-B=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

mEMBHRRNERESE
REXGERER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

3.2

EXRGHTHREH (B)

Impairment on property, plant and X BERRHLUR
equipment and right-of-use assets EHESEZ RE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
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HEFRAIEREHY
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recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates steliicl & %8> B A&
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to e ZEEFRBIRSE
which the asset belongs. GFEAZJREEEE

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

im e SRR R M E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as and included in
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
taxation because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

mEMBHRRNERESE
REXGERER (&)

184

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EAXRGHERER (@)
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) R (&)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable RIERMIEEE D 5L E R M
temporary differences associated with investments BRBIZKREKRGENT
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in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of

Z A R BRI Y K
AR A EEEN
ERIERERE 2D B
B E TR R R A A
g BB ER & o B
SREMRBAZ IR Y K
EHMEEZIRIEREAE
EERN PR BHERR
M LU B R AR 2 F)
m BRI P RR KA
DU BIRs > 75 T HESD o

EIEMBEEZ REER
RERARBR TELH
B BEF JE %0 FE R A it I L
HUEI 2D EER
IR ©

BLERMBEERBEER
BERREEENHER
FEEHZRE (RIRE)
BREHARNFEERRNER
BEEZHBBRZHRES

=
==l

BLEMBERBEREEZ S
R ARBEEERFAEHRN
BERREEIHFEEE

the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying RBEZEEEZAIFT
amount of its assets and liabilities. EEZRBEFE-

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

mEMBHRRNERESE
REXGERER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to the lease
liabilities and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for
all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on
the dates of transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. When a fair value gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

mEMBHRRNERESE
REXGERER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of the
translation reserve (attributable to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss in
which the Group recognises as expenses the related
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to subsidy income from
government for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

3.2

EXRGHTHREH (B)

I ()

MESNEEHHBRERM
EAEBEZBIHNEHE
ERBRERANKRSHR
ZRTEXMEAEEHR
2258 (BB - I
AKRAXBEERZFEZ
FHERRE - MR
ZERRERE BIER
REZERBZEXME -
EEZEREZRE WA KX
Hth 2 mEUA PR R
bE R R B0 Rt (Bt
AR gD (WEA)) °

BT B

BT /B AR ] 5 ERE
AEBRSEMBZME
16 14 36 75 2 SR BN RE 48 B
BHF UM -

BT 48 B T I 2 & S 4%
LU+ B P 48 {8 48 BE AR 2
B S8 4 B 2 B I $8 o R B

T 7% 2 58 [ 4 11 B By B R
1= BT A8 Fe ok 2R AE BE Al
7S B BT 78 B WA BY BT
B A BB EE X
ERm PR - ZFEEN
EMRAIIE T 2%

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE&EZKRARAT | Annual Report 2024 F iR

187



188

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-NE+-B=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

mEMBHRRNERESE
REXGERER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme, state-managed retirement benefit scheme and
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme"”)
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

For long service payments (the “LSP”) obligation, the
Group accounts for the employer MPF contributions
expected to be offset as a deemed employee
contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of
HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The
estimated amount of future benefit is determined
after deducting the negative service cost arising from
the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF
contributions that have been vested with employees,
which are deemed to be contributions from the
relevant employees.

3.2
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Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

mEMBHRRNERESE
REXGERER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or

3.2

EXRGHHREH (B)
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initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable ST BESREST A

to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial assets or financial
liabilities and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZATHRRNEUERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REASTHEEEER (8)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business (i.e. Lending Business as
defined in note 6) are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

3.2
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All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

mEMBHRRNERESE
REXGERER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EAREHHERER (@)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) THTA )
Financial assets (Continued) T EE (#B)
Amortised cost and interest income BEH A R A B IA

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
(Continued)

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost
of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other
income” line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of the reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables and deposits, loans receivable, pledged
bank deposits, short-term bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalents), contract assets and financial
guarantee contracts which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE2&£EZERBMRAE | Annual Report 2024 F iR

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets without significant
financing component. Contract assets and trade
receivables with outstanding significant balances
exceeding HK$2,500,000 have been assessed
individually, the remaining contract assets and trade
receivables balances are assessed collectively using a
provision matrix grouped with internal credit rating.
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress
and have substantially the same risk characteristics as
the trade receivables for the same types of contracts.
The Group has therefore concluded that the expected
loss rates for the trade receivables and the contract
assets on the same basis.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZATHRRNEUERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REASTHEEEER (8)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EAREHHERER (@)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) THTA ()
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (B)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
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and qualitative information that is reasonable and BLEERESEFENES
supportable, including historical experience and EMER OFEEBEIINN
forward-looking information that is available without ERNRAFE HEIO]E

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information, among others,
is taken into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
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the operating results of the debtor. HIRTEHAEIRE
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Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group has rebutted the presumption that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition
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ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EAREHHERER (@)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) THTA ()
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (B)
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Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit
risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee
contract, the Group considers the changes in the risk
that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group has rebutted
the presumption that default has occurred when
the instrument is more than 90 days past due as the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

o it is becoming probably that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXREHHERER (@)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) ETHITA ()
Financial assets (Continued) LTHEE (B)
Write-off policy WEEBER
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The Group writes off a financial asset when the
Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering
the relevant financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
The Group usually writes off when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables when the amounts
are over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice when
appropriate. Any recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data
and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

ME-F

M+ A=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
ECL is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current
market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if,
and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account
by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the
cash shortfalls being discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZATHRRNEUERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REASTHEEEER (8)

200

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EAREHHERER (@)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) THTA ()
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (B)
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Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

TR EEREZ st ERE

= (#B)
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and . BHEANEE - RE
RiT%E &
. External credit ratings where available. . INERE BT 4R (15 7]
] o

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances
are recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.
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recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or EiEmAEmAETmMIA
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their E’] BEEmENEBEERNRSE

carrying amount, with the exception of trade and other
receivables and deposits, contract assets, pledged bank
deposits, loans receivable, short-term bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

ME-F

M+ A=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial asset

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition
to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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3.
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mE+=A=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently measured
at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

4,

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred tax arising from fair value changes in
investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the
Group's investment property portfolios and concluded that the
Group’s investment properties are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred tax
on investment properties, the directors of the Company have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts
of investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The
Group has not recognised any deferred tax on changes in fair
value of investment properties in Hong Kong as the Group
is not subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes
on investment properties in Hong Kong on disposal. The
Group has recognised deferred tax on changes in fair value
of investment property in the PRC in note 28 as the Group
is subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes on
investment property in the PRC on disposal.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within
the next financial year.

Fair value measurement of investment properties

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group's investment
properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation
performed by independent qualified professional valuers.
In determining the fair value, the valuers have based their
valuation on income capitalisation approach for respective
investment properties, which involves certain estimates,
including appropriate term yields, reversionary yields and
market transactions of comparable properties, as appropriate.
In relying on the valuation, management of the Group has
exercised its judgement and is satisfied that the methods of
valuation adopted are appropriate for the relevant property
and reflective of current market conditions. As at 31 December
2024, the aggregate fair value of investment properties is
HK$159,876,249 (2023: HK$162,019,272). Details of the
valuation methodology are disclosed in note 15.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Net realisable value assessment of properties under
development for sale/properties for sale

The management uses their judgement and estimates in
determining the net realisable value of properties under
development for sale/properties for sale with reference to
the comparable market transactions in similar locations.
Where there are any changes to the market conditions in the
PRC causing the net realisable value of the properties under
development for sale/properties for sale below its cost, the
properties under development for sale is written down to its
net realisable value. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying
amount of properties under development for sale/properties
for sale is HK$310,158,055 (2023: HK$258,459,215).

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets

Trade receivables with outstanding significant balances
exceeding HK$2,500,000 and relevant contract assets
and credit-impaired financial assets are assessed for ECL
individually. The remaining trade receivables and contract
assets are assessed collectively. The expected loss rates are
based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered by the
macroeconomic downturn, the Group has increased the ECL
rates in current year as there is higher risk that a volatility or
disruptions in energy, financial, currency or commodity markets
could led to increase in credit default rates. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables and contract
assets are disclosed in note 36. The carrying amounts of
trade receivables and contract assets are HK$129,733,049
(2023: HK$105,626,311) and HK$23,979,931 (2023:
HK$26,334,377), respectively.

4,

37 S & 5t ) i R (i 5 B
EREZEERIE (&)

%i$ﬁiﬂ%2i%%ﬁ
=

FEZRANE FEHNEL
AT F EIE

EEERNEEGERRETYE
FEMXENBRFERERT
®REZ A st W2 ERE
UENAELERTIERS i
BT SRR EIREAEE <F

HEEBREAEK BFESE
MY EMBEE TSI EE -
“ECE+ZRA=+—H &
ERROYE FEVEZRE
f§%4310,158,0558 7T (ZE - =
F 1 258,459,215%7T) ©

MEZRUFBEREAEE
HIFERAIS B R 1R 5t 1e # 1

BAKREEREARIEBRE2,500,000
BTHEZRKEHRIEBE HEEL
BEEKEERENEMEEMER
B EEBEBETTH R T
B REWRIER G EET ERE
h o FREAB XTI IRIBEAI(E
B A AMEBREANE
B AN

EHEEBEEBEES S XA
BEEE AN AELE T35
BEEANMBEIEEE  ER
SRVINEAEETBENEE R
TEEREEENXIENNRR
R AEEERSAFENTE
HEEEEX BEEHEES
EERANEENE S ERZTIER
BHEENERNH 36 E -
BESRBUABREENEENK
EHEDRIA129,733,049%8 7% (Z
T =4 105,626,311 &
23,979,931 (ZE - =
26,334,377#H7T) ©

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE&EZKRARAT | Annual Report 2024 F iR

205



206

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

im e SRR R M E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEE

5. REVENUE 5.

(i) Revenue from goods and services

Revenue represents the amounts received and
receivable for goods sold and services provided by the
Group, less discounts and sales related taxes during the
year.

An analysis of the Group's revenue from goods and
services by segment for the year is as follows:

() REEmKEERFHZW=

WmiErERFAE D
B o 3 11 BR 75 P W R &
Woz mr| CRIT 0 K 85 &5 48
B IA)

AEBXEFREEmMKR
Bz WmB D BOIMT

2024 2023
“EMEF TET=F
HK$ HK$
#ATT BT
Types of goods or services: BmaiARFpaER
Manufacturing and Sales Business* B35 R §5 & 2 75+
— Income from manufacturing and —RBHRERRER
sales of printing products HE Z WA 365,060,228 346,642,843
Property Development Business* VI RS
— Sales of properties —HEME 71,428,074 160,429,227
Music and Entertainment Business* 544 42 2% 3¢ 55+
— Income from the use of —EREREFERZIA
the musical works 3,517,530 2,469,281
— Promotion income —EFKA 201,209 12,000
— Sales of albums —IHEIBR 984,453 1,504,425
4,703,192 3,985,706
Trading Business* BREH
— Sales of printing products — R EREE 26,754,258 29,174,721
467,945,752 540,232,497
* The segment names are defined in the section * SNELFE > TN A6

“Segment information” in note 6.
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5.  REVENUE (Continued) Wz (48)
(i) Revenue from goods and services (i) *KRBEREERFzZW=E
(Continued) (48)
2024 2023
—EMEF TET=HF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Geographical markets: &z .
Hong Kong 58 135,658,286 121,776,085
The PRC FhE 258,341,107 353,122,728
Europe BN 26,702,712 13,481,744
United States EEl 40,485,371 45,121,554
Others Hih 6,758,276 6,730,386
467,945,752 540,232,497

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the locations of the

shipments of goods or the services provided.

BERAEERBEIIBER
Z Wm 2 B # 2P i (1
EmIElRBz I EMEZ

I
2024 2023
—TMmE TEC=F
HK$ HK$
#ATT BIT

Timing of revenue recognition: W FEsB A -

Over time BE B S 365,060,228 346,642,843
A point in time T FAE R BT B 102,885,524 193,589,654
467,945,752 540,232,497
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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mE+=A=+—HILEE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

()

Revenue from goods and services
(Continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in

Wz (48)
() ZRBE&m
(%)

R PR #5 2 U8 &

TXHEINER G m A
DEENRESTENS

the segment information: i -
2024 2023
—ENE EC=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Manufacturing and Sales Business S RIHEER 365,060,228 346,642,843
Music and Entertainment Business EE I E S 4,703,192 3,985,706
Property Development Business Y ES YT 71,428,074 160,429,227
Trading Business B %R 26,754,258 29,174,721
Revenue from contracts with customers & B & 43U 467,945,752 540,232,497
Property Investment Business MIEREER 7,615,773 2,783,890
Lending Business BEER 4,982,330 5,672,580
Total revenue g 480,543,855 548,688,967
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

5.  REVENUE (Continued) 5. W (8)
(i) Revenue from goods and services (i) kBERKRERFBzZWKE

(Continued) (48)
Performance obligations for contracts with HERSHZENEF
customers and revenue recognition policies Jo g as fEST I 5
Revenue from trading of printing products/sales of KEHIRERES TEFR
albums ZHEZ W
Revenue from trading of printing products/sales of RERES 1BR 84

albums is recognised when control of the printing
products, which are not manufactured by the Group,
and albums has been transferred to the customers,
being at the point the goods are delivered to the
customer’s specific location. Transportation and other
related activities that occur before customers obtains
control of the related good are considered as fulfilment
activities. A receivable is recognised by the Group
when the goods are delivered to the customers as
this represents the point in time at which the right
to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.
The normal credit term is 60 to 90 days upon delivery,
which is approximate the time of issuing the invoices to
the customers. The Group requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits ranging from 10% to 30% of
total contract sum, when the Group receives a deposit
before the printing products delivery, this will give rise
to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the
revenue recognised on the specific contract exceeds the
amount of the deposit.

Revenue from manufacturing and sales of printing
products

The Group provides tailored-manufacturing of printing
products to the customers. Such revenue from
manufacturing and sales of printing products are
recognised as this performance obligation is satisfied
over time because the Group's performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

()

Revenue from goods and services
(Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies
(Continued)

Revenue from manufacturing and sales of printing
products (Continued)

The progress towards completing satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts in terms of inputs (i.e. materials
costs, direct staff costs and other direct overhead
costs incurred) to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the
satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best
depicts the Group's performance in transferring control
of products. Contract assets arise when the Group has
right to consideration for satisfaction of a performance
obligation under the relevant contracts, and the right
is conditioned on factors other than passage of time.
Contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables
when such right become unconditional other than
the passage of time. Invoices to the customers were
issued upon the delivery of manufactured printing
products to the customers. The normal credit term is
60 to 120 days upon the issuance of invoices to the
customers. The Group requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits ranging from 10% to 50% of
total contract sum, when the Group receives a deposit
before manufacturing of printing products commences,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract, until the revenue recognised on the specific
contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

Income from the use of the musical works

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
Group's musical works are used by the customers as
this represents the point in time at which the right
to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.
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REVENUE (Continued)

0]

Revenue from goods and services
(Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies
(Continued)

Revenue from sales of properties

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised when
the respective properties have been completed and
delivered to the customers which is a point in time
when customers have the ability to direct the use of
the properties and obtain substantially all benefits of
the properties. Deposits received from customers prior
to meeting the aforementioned revenue recognition
criteria are regarded as the contract liabilities and
included in current liabilities as pre-sale proceeds
received on sales of properties in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group considers that the pre-sale proceeds
received on sales of properties do not contain
significant financing component as the contracts
where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated properties is less than one year, the
Group applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the transaction price for any significant financing
component.

For the contracts that contain the performance
obligation of providing financial guarantee to banks
with respect to mortgage loans procured by the
purchasers of the Group's properties in the contracts
on sales of properties, the Group should allocate
the transaction price to the performance obligations
between the sales of properties and provision of
financial guarantee on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The Group considers that the impact in
the allocation of provision of financial guarantee on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis is insignificant
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and thus
all the revenue recognised from the contracts with
customers on sales of properties is then allocated to the
revenue from sales of completed properties for sale.
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

()

(ii)

(iii)

Revenue from goods and services
(Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

All the Group's contracts with customers with
unsatisfied performance obligations have original
expected duration of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied
or satisfied) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is not
disclosed.

5.

Wz (48)
() REEmKERHzWE
(IIE)

ﬁﬁz”.—@fjﬁ?ﬁ FEERY
X51EH%

FEBEFBERTHRBENS
ENEEAHNENRE
RHIHR A —F LT o
REEEMBREELS
15SE P HE /> TR BB
TECMFERZT=F
+TZRA=+—H2EEH
TRASE CRETHERE
17 R ZE

Leases (i) TAE
2024 2023
k=S - 3 TEBT=HF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
For operating leases: MEEHREMS !
Lease payments that are fixed EEREFR 7,615,773 2,783,890
Lending business (iii) MEXEFH
2024 2023
k=S - 3 TEBT=HF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Interest income FEUWA 4,982,330 5,672,580
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M+ A=+—HILEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment revenue and results

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s reportable and operating segments are therefore
as follows:

(a)

(b)

Money lending (“Lending Business”);

Manufacturing and sales of printing and other products
("Manufacturing and Sales Business”);

Artistes management, production and distribution
of music albums as well as concert and event
management and investment (“Music and
Entertainment Business”);

Property development (“Property Development
Business”), including properties development projects
in the PRC and Hong Kong;

Property investment (“Property Investment Business”),
including properties leasing and investments in the PRC
and Hong Kong;

Securities trading (”Securities Trading Business”); and

Trading of printing and other products (“Trading
Business”).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬂ (n\E)
ﬁ*xiﬁl‘l& &%:u\ (n\E)
REERKERPIRE DS D

by operating and reportable segment. R EEEDFWN T
Revenue Segment (loss) profit
Wz S48 (5518) iH A

2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEIME CZTI=HF ZEIWNE ZE2I=fF
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Lending Business WEER 4,982,330 5,672,580 (778,921) 3,069,979
Manufacturing and Sales Business 3438 B §5 & 275 365,060,228 346,642,843  (17,188,273) (50,753,897)
Music and Entertainment Business & 44 52 42 44 2 75 4,703,192 3,985,706 432,707  (3,447,739)
Property Development Business ~ #)2£23 E %7 71,428,074 160,429,227  (5,805,102) 11,569,298
Property Investment Business MEREEK 7,615,773 2,783,890  (26,920,412) (12,825,280)
Securities Trading Business BHEBEEK - - (5,616,215  (1,635,221)
Trading Business BRER 26,754,258 29,174,721 (2,210,082) (2,306,067)
Total 45t 480,543,855 548,683,967 (58,086,298) (56,328,927)
Bank interest income RITF WA 6,364,516 5,979,534

Unallocated corporate expenses ~ ROFE R
Share of results of joint ventures DA EE AT 2 EE

(20,793,400) (24,363,704)
- (3,750)

Loss before taxation BRIG RIS 18

(72,515,182) (74,716,847)

All of the segment revenue reported above is from external
customers.

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment (loss) profit represents the loss
incurred/profit earned by each segment without allocation
of bank interest income, unallocated corporate expenses,
share of results of joint ventures and certain finance costs on
lease liabilities. This is the measure reported to the Group's
management for the purpose of resources allocation and
performance assessment.
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RS J—

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities

by operating and reportable segment:

As at 31 December 2024

DEEH (&)
NEEERER
AEERCE ROTREDELD
THERSEAHMOT

RZE-_NME+="“H=+—H

Manufacturing Music and Property Property Securities
Lending and Sales  Entertai I lop Trading Trading Segment
Business Business Business Business Business Business Business total Elimination  Consolidated
BEEE RERBERE SLRBEEE MEREER  MRLEER  B5EERR LEES ] ARG H# g8
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
R #n BT R &7 & BT R &7 BT
Segment assets NEEE 30,976,881 307,574,809 6,016,485 160,525,257 336,291,517 9,831,726 9,418,916 860,635,591 - 860,635,591
Other assets HitEE 216,456,737
Consolidated assets GREE 1,077,092,328
Segment liabilities HEEE 445,672 229,702,702 5,124,448 16,331,776 167,934,994 50,521 7,739,552 427,329,665 - 421,329,665
Inter-group liablities £M@EEE 65,981,607 - - - - 94,946,212 - 160,927,819 (160,927,819) =
Total b 66,427,279 229,702,702 5,124,448 16,331,776 167,934,994 94,996,733 7,739,552 588,257,484  (160,927,819) 421,329,665
Other liabilties HtEE 23,972,934
Consolidated liabiities EEEL 451,302,599
As at 31 December 2023 N ZET=_F+ZH=+—H
Manufacturing Music and Property Property Securities
Lending and Sales  Entertainment Investment Development Trading Trading Segment
Business Business Business Business Business Business Business total Elimination Consolidated
MEXE RERHELE SLRBRLER WERERE  VEEREEE  B5EEEH BREH by Hi )
HKS HKS HK$ HKS$ HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT Er Er BT AT Er Er AT o ER
Segment assets NEBE 47821990 305,030,240 5,748,971 162,400,126 280,054,004 16,459,278 16,441,965 833,956,580 - 833,956,580
Other assets HitEE 234,197,601
Consolidated assets GREE 1,068,154,181
Segment liabilities NEEE 486,913 180,619,885 5463,033 17,703,680 108,142,553 56,200 10,320,926 322,793,190 - 322,793,190
Inter-group labilities EEHER 117,375,854 - - - - 103,458,835 - 220,834,689 (220,834,689) -
Total b 117,862,767 180,619,885 5,463,033 17,703,680 108,142,553 103,515,035 10,320,926 543627879 (220,834,689) 322,793,190
Other liabilities HaE 22,558,904
Consolidated liabilties faBk

345,352,094
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-NE+-B=1+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. THEEF (&)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) NEEEREGER @

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and MEERSERE RN OEB O

allocating resources among segments: ERM= -

o all assets are allocated to operating and reportable o rETYEREZE P
segments other than certain property and equipment, BN LRk
interest in a joint venture, equity instruments at HMEmEmBAZAFET]
FVTOCI, club membership, deferred tax assets, certain BEZIRATE -
other receivables, prepayments and deposits, tax FIEMIBEE-ESETFEM
recoverable, short-term bank deposits and cash and FEW R IE s TN I8 5]
cash equivalents. & AU EIFRIE ~ X2 HAIRT

ERURRERIEEEE
SSoFMBEBEEGDREER

o A Ak
& R A E DB o
o all liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable ° METFEHMENDTIE L E
segments other than certain other payables and SAHIE-RIEEE MIEILE
accruals, tax liabilities and deferred tax liabilities. MEaEI PFEaET
TEHEEKERITRSE D
o
Other segment information HithEER
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_ZEZ-_ME+-H=+—H
IEFE
Manufacturing Music and Property Property Securities
Lending and sales i i Jeveloy trading Trading Segment
business business business business business business business total unallocated  consolidated
BEEE RERMEEE SRRNLER VEREER  NEIRER  RSEEER BRER HEMH AR Ra
HKS HKS HKS HKS$ HKS HKS HKS$ HKS$ HKS HKS
BT R BT BT BT R BT BT BT #T
Amounts included in the HENBREANBEER
measure of segment results HAZEE!
or segment assets:
Interest income (included in FIBKA
“other interest income”) (GHATEARIS AL - (93,740) - - - - - (93,740)  (6364516)  (6.458,256)
Interest expenses flgHs - 5,759,752 - 1,025,024 - - - 6,784,776 - 6,784,776
Depreciation of property, plant ~ ¥1% BERREHE
and equipment - 31,606,308 192 45,985 210,463 - 181,153 32,044,101 - 32,044,101
(Reversal of impaiment losses) ~ ERERFEZ
impairment losses on trade (REFBRD) HEHE
receivables, net ek - (181,949) 623 = = = (71,146) (252,472) - (252,472)
Reversal of impairment losses on - &4E & 2 {2
contract assets, net TR - (342,036) - - - - - (342,036) - (342,036)
Impairment losses on loan BUERZAEFEEE
receivable, net 3,239,012 - - - - - - 3,239,012 = 3,239,012
Additions to property, plant and  FE % BER&E
equipment - 8,517,301 - - - - - 8,517,301 - 8,517,301
Change in fair value of financial - EBEHIEATEIEZ
assets at FVTPL SHBEZATEESY = = = = = 5,185,687 = 5,185,687 - 5,185,687
Net gain on disposal of property, iH%& EREEZ
plant and equipment W38 - (1,888,818) - - - - - (1,888,818) - (1,888,818)
Change n fair value of RENEATELES
investment properties - - - 22,241,318 - - - 22,241,318 = 2,318
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEFE

. M =5 Al ==
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEEEFR @)
. . . pr = o =
Other segment information (Continued) HEtoEEE (8)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_ZE_=—F£+_B=+—H
IFFE
Manufacturing Music and Property Property Securities
Lending andsales  entertainment investment development trading Trading Segment
business business business business business business business total unallocated consolidated
HEEH HERBERE TRRREER VEREER  VEEEER  ESEEER ZRES AR FRE &a
HKS HKS HK$ HK$ HKS HKS HK$ HK$ HKS HKS
A A En An A A En A A A
Amounts included in the HENREEINBEER
measure of segment results HAZEE!
or segment assets:
Interest income (included in -~~~ FISIKA
“other interest income”) (BHATEARIS AL - (20,974) - - - (405) - (21,379) (597953%)  (6000913)
Interest expenses fgHs - 4,149,518 - 2,375,829 - - - 6,525,347 - 6,525,347
Depreciation of property, plant ~ ¥1% BERREHE
and equipment - 33,700,519 208 46,843 171,491 47,400 17,817 34,084,278 - 34,084,278
Impairment losses (reversal of ~ BRERFEZ HEHE
impairment losses) on trade (AfESERE) 35
receivables, net - 372,288 (61,839 - - - 69,741 380,190 - 380,190
Impairment losses on contract & EEZ HEFEFE
assets, net - 354,813 - - - - - 354,813 - 354,813
Reversal of impairment losses on  FEW &2 2 i & &548
loan receivable, net HEFE (389,374) - - - - - - (389,374) - (389,374)
Additions to property, plantand  FEE BER&E
equipment - 4,653,371 - - 338,904 - 426,912 5419,187 - 5419,187
Change in fair value of financial - EBEHEATBIEZ
assets at FVTPL SHEEZATELEY - - - - - 1,604,208 - 1,604,208 - 1,604,208
Net loss on disposal of property, HENE BERZEZ
plant and equipment BEFE - 396,762 - - - - - 396,762 - 396,762
Change in fair value of RENEATELES
investment properties - - - 6,125,444 - - - 6,125,444 - 6,125,444

Revenue from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its

REFTEEmMRF 2=

UTREEEREETEZERKR

major products and services: RFEZ D .
2024 2023
—E_WmE —ET=F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Sales of printing products #HE BN R & G 391,814,486 375,817,564
Sales of properties HEYZE 71,428,074 160,429,227
Income from the use of the FRE2ERWBA
musical works 3,517,530 2,469,281
Loan interest income from REREEHEZ
Lending Business BF B A 4,982,330 5,672,580
Concert and event management EIRE AEBEIEIA
income 201,209 12,000
Rental income HEUWA 7,615,773 2,783,890
Sales of albums HERBR 984,453 1,504,425
480,543,855 548,688,967
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

Geographical information

The Group’s operation of Manufacturing and Sales Business,
Property Development Business and Property Investment
Business are located in Hong Kong and the PRC, while the
Group's operation of Lending Business, Trading Business, Music
and Entertainment Business and Securities Trading Business are
located in Hong Kong.

ﬁ *E ﬁ *;I' (n\E)
HEE R

FEBZHERBEER WE
EREBRMEREEBIESR
BARPEEE MAERZHE
B BEED BHEMNBRRE
BUKESEEEHUNEEBE

o

The Group's revenue from external customers and information KEEKBINSZEEZINEZEE
about non-current assets by geographical location of the BIEREBEEZERNOEE R
customers and assets respectively are set out below: REEMETMEETWT -
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
REMBER 2 FEREBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEINE ZEBEI=-HF ZEIWE ZEI=F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT BT AT BT
Hong Kong 58 143,809,916 129,812,990 73,227,421 96,645,941
The PRC FHE 262,787,580 353,542,293 228,590,301 227,021,403
Europe BM 26,702,712 13,481,744 - -
United States ESET] 40,485,371 45,121,554 - -
Others Httn 6,758,276 6,730,386 - -

480,543,855

548,688,967 301,817,722 323,667,344

Note: Non-current assets exclude financial assets and deferred tax
assets.
Information about major customers

There was no customer contributing over 10% of total
revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

7. HttWmKkEE

2024 2023
“EME —EI=F
HKS$ HK$
BT BIT
Net foreign exchange gain HhEE IS 2 % BR 578,315 1,010,013
Change in fair value of investment KREMENTEEE
properties (note 15) (Hta£15) (22,241,318) (6,125,444)
Net gain (loss) on disposal of property, HEYHE MERKREZ
plant and equipment Wm (B518) 548 1,888,818 (396,762)
Change in fair value in financial assets HBEHIRAFEHEEZ
at FVTPL ETHEEC AT EEE (5,185,687) (1,604,208)
(24,959,872) (7,116,401)
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MIEMZ
2024 2023
—EomE —Eo=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on: UTEEZHE
Bank borrowings IRITER 4,803,420 4,188,174
Lease liabilities HE&E 1,981,356 2,337,173
6,784,776 6,525,347
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BH=E

9.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

) /- Ry =
DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. EF-ITHEMKEESM
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS £
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration EERERITBEHEINES
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight (2023: UTEHEBENRENT NG (ZE
nine) directors are as follows: TE=EE LA EEZE
Executive directors Non-executive directors Independent non-executive directors
HnES FTER BUHTER
SUEK SUEK CHAN LEE LAI SIN
Ka Lun, Chai  Kwing Choi, WONG NG Wai Kwok CHU Sai Wo, Chui Pik,
Ernie Hong Warren Sun Fat Kwan Wan Gun Pui Ricky Christine Total
ERB BEE Feifn Ry REH ZEZ FIEH At rRE &3t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AR AT AT AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
(note |} (note iy) (note v)
(i) () (Hrstv)
2024 - Ja -2
Fees ik - - 169,992 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 - 120,000 769,992
Other emoluments Hftie
- Salaries and other benefits e REMER 2,310,000 1,386,000 - - - - - - - 3,696,000
- Contributions to retirement —BINERI IR
benefits schemes 18,000 18,000 8,500 - - - - = = 44,500
Total emoluments HedE 2,328,000 1,404,000 178,492 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 - 120,000 4,510,492
Executive directors Non-executive directors Independent non-executive directors
HiTEE HTES BUFTES
SUEK SUEK CHAN LEE LAI SIN
Ka Lun, Chai Kwing Choi, WONG NG Wai Kwok CHU Sai Wo, Chui Pik,
Ernie Hong Warren Sun Fat Kwan Wan Gun Pui Ricky Christine Total
ERB BEE 3l i REH FEZ K B RRE e
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$
A oo o o An A A A A A
(note |} (note iy) (note v)
(Hst) (Hsti) (Hav)
2023 b Sy
Fees we - - 169,992 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 60,000 31,000 740,992
Other emoluments Hitie
- Salaries and other benefits -HeRAMER 2310000 1,386,000 - - - - - - - 3,69,000
- Contributions to retirement — BRI
benefits schemes 18,000 18,000 8,500 - - - - - - 44,500
Total emoluments Hews 2,328,000 1,404,000 178,492 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 60,000 31,000 4,481,492

Neway Group Holdings Limited F E2&£EERBR AT

| Annual Report 2024 3§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

M HwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

= AH
=
BETC
9.

M+ A=+—HILEE

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
(Continued)

Notes:

()

(ii)

(iii)

There

Mr. SUEK Chai Hong is also the chief executive of the
Company and his remuneration disclosed above included
those for services rendered by him as chief executive.

The emoluments of executive directors were for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The emoluments of non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors were for
their services as the directors of the Company.

Incentive performance bonuses for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 were determined by the
remuneration committee and approved by the board of
directors having regard to the performance and duties of
directors. No incentive performance bonuses was paid or
payable by the Group to any of the Directors during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Mr. LAl Sai Wo, Ricky resigned as independent non-executive
director with effect from 30 June 2023.

Ms. SIN Chui Pik, Christine was appointed as independent
non-executive director with effect from 28 September 2023.

was no arrangement under which a director or the chief

executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company as an inducement to joint or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office in any of the year.

EF TR IKRESM
& (%)
EERITHRAEHNE (B

ez -

(i) BEERETAERT ZITHME
BOHREXREZNECERE
H B 31T BB # P iE #BR 75 = Bl
%o

(ii) HITEFZHMEREEESR
RERAEEENEEFIRMHZR
BEB - FRTESRBILIER
TEFEZHMDOAREERSER
BESEPREZRBMEEL

iy, WMEZZ_NMER_ZF_=F
+TZR=+—HILEFEMNEEE
RIEATHFNEETET I
KEZSHE EREETRESR
NERFERBF BHE-_T_NF
RZZEZ=F+"A=+—HI
FE FEETERERNESES
3 SRS 1 I EE B RIRTEAL ©

vy RHEMNEEREBIFEANTE
E EZE_=FA=1+HE
£

v) FREBLITEESZERBIUF
HITEF BT =ZFN1A4
ZHNAHEERM-

RAEFE > SEEFNITHEAR
MEHIBEREEFHFMZ 2
B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR M BRI R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BH=E

9.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2023: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the
remaining three (2023: three) highest paid employees who
were neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are

EF - TERHESKRESH
& (48)
lEE M=

ArEELRESMALHR W
2 (CE2ETI=F M) RERE
EF RFEMZHBFEHN L
XoHBp=%(CZT=F:=4)
WA RBERHITHAHZ &

as follows: S EEZMEUT
2024 2023
—E-MmE T =F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries and other benefits e MEMER 5,118,000 5,058,000

Contributions to retirement BIREFRFT B RR

benefits schemes 54,000 54,000
5,172,000 5,112,000

The number of the highest paid employees who were not the
directors of the Company and whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

TIFAEABEFRTZREHESN
MEBRUTHEBEZABNT

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 21,500,000/ 7T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 5% 2,000,000/ 7T
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7t % 3,000,000/ 7T

2024 2023
—E_ME TEBI=HF
Number of Number of
employees employees

EEA# EEA#
1 1
1 1
1 1
3 3

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office in any of the years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

im e SRR R M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

10. TAXATION CHARGE 10. MIEXZH
2024 2023
—E@mE — B =%
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
The taxation comprises: MIBEE -
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBFER
Charge for the year KELZH (152,613) (117,201)
Under provision in prior years BEFEREBETE (61,855) -
(214,468) (117,201)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") A B £ IR (E AR
(T H#IBEFR )
Charge for the year KELZH (2,288,455) (4,474,177)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R B2 PTER
Charge for the year KEZH (2,282,256) (4,248,984)
Overprovision in prior years BEFEEBREEE - 494,862
(2,282,256) (3,754,122)
Deferred tax credit for the year REELERIEE R
(note 28) (H15£28) 198,888 990,397
(4,586,291) (7,355,103)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MBI

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

10.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

TAXATION CHARGE (Continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at
a flat rate of 16.5%.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits of one of the subsidiaries
of the Company and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million. The profits of corporation not
qualified for the two-tier profit tax regime will continue to be
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law"”) and Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Under the Provisional Regulations of LAT ({(fh#E A RHEFE
TR ERETIEA)) effective on 1 January 1994, and the
Detailed Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT ({(FZEARHXMEL#IZEREGITH
BIEHEAME])) effective from 27 January 1995, all income
from the sale or transfer of state-owned land use rights,
buildings and their attached facilities in the PRC is subject to
LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the
appreciation value, being the proceeds of sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including borrowing costs, land
costs and property development expenditures in relation to the
gains arising from sales of properties in the PRC effective from
1 January 2004.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

10. TAXATION CHARGE (Continued)

The taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

10.

MIEZ H (&)

REMBEZ LA EEGEm RE
fth2EUW AR KT RIRIRATR R

HERWT -

2024 2023
—EomE —=o=f
HKS$ HK$
AT BT
Loss before taxation PRI ARS8 (72,515,182) (74,716,847)
Tax at the income tax rate of 16.5% FPREMIRE16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) (ZZEZ=5116.5%)
FFEZIRIE 11,965,005 12,328,280
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ FAEIHIRFEZ 2 NFEF L
for tax purposes (4,855,026) (1,077,797)
Tax effect of income not taxable BERRBAZRE T E
for tax purposes 3,341,569 1,039,331
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  KIERINFSEIEZ
WET 2 (12,316,917) (15,216,845)
(Underprovision) overprovision BEEE BEHEIFR) BEE
in prior years B (61,855) 494,862
Provision for LAT for the year AR T HIE(EIR (2,288,455) (4,474,177)
Tax effect of LAT deductible for PRC EIT A ZFR1E5# 2 AT H0R
T ER RGBT E 377,595 738,239
Effect of different tax rates of REMBEERE LS 2K
subsidiaries operating in other BABITRMEZZE
jurisdictions (896,239) (1,351,377)
Tax effect of share of results of DEEERDEEY
joint ventures M - (619)
Tax effect of two-tiered tax rate MARRE 2 MIB L& 148,032 165,000
Taxation charge for the year KEMRIBEZTH (4,586,291) (7,355,103)

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE&EZKRARAT | Annual Report 2024 F iR

225



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-NE+-B=1+—HIFE

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE2&£EZERBMRAE | Annual Report 2024 F iR

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 11. KXFEE
2024 2023
“EME —ET=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Loss for the year has been arrived at st EAFEEBEEINMG
after charging (crediting): GtA) -
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMEN =
— Audit services — BT RF 2,475,000 2,395,000
— Non-audit services —IEBET RS 359,400 839,300
2,834,400 3,234,300
Cost of inventories recognised as an RERZZFERE (8
expense (including write-down of EHE_ZE _NE+-
inventories of HK$156,835 for the B =+—HIEFEERM
year ended 31 December 2024) A1 E156,83587T) 173,404,231 167,249,165
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERNE 13,426,151 13,215,482
Depreciation of other property, HMME - -BENRREITE
plant and equipment 18,617,950 20,868,796
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERREITE
equipment 32,044,101 34,084,278
Less: included in cost of sales and B ETAHE RIRFE A
services (17,593,085) (18,324,012)
14,451,016 15,760,266
Staff costs (including directors’ ETA (BIFEEFHE)
emoluments)
— Salaries, wages and other benefits —#e - IEKREMEF 149,656,735 162,026,334
— Contributions to retirement benefits —BIK@F] 52 {HE
schemes 13,338,816 12,143,621
Less: included in cost of sales and ST AEE RIRFE A
services (87,612,910) (95,122,975)
75,382,641 79,046,980




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 11. KFEEE (@)
2024 2023
—EOmE —ET=F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Legal and professional fees FRNREEER 5,724,788 6,252,000
Gross rental income from investment  REREYEZHESIWA
properties ks (7,615,773) (2,783,890)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred & : 8 EEE RS INA 2 &
for investment properties that EMEEF2ERE
generated rental income during K&
the year 681,892 217,988
(6,933,881) (2,565,902)
Staff redundancy costs included in HEMASTAUTIER
Cost of sales & A A 3,033,886 4,887,400
Selling and distribution expenses HE RSHBX 441,417 937,866
Administrative and other expenses TEREMBES 2,073,787 536,991
5,549,090 6,362,257

The following items are included in UTEEstAEREE K&

(reversal of impairment losses) BHEERREERIE
impairment losses under ECL model BT CREREE
on financial assets and contract [B) B ERIEFEE
assets, net:
— (Reversal of impairment losses) —B2RIWRIEZ (BE
impairment losses on trade BaE0E) RESIBTF
receivables, net %8 (252,472) 380,190
— (Reversal of impairment losses) —aHNEEZ (RE/-BE
impairment losses on contract 0O REREEEE
assets, net (342,036) 354,813
— Impairment losses (reversal of —EWRERZRERE
impairment losses) on loans CRE RSB #E[0]) F 58
receivable, net 3,239,072 (389,374)

2,644,564 345,629
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z_NE+_A=+—HILEE

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 11. KFEEE (@)
2024 2023
—E_ME —EC=F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
The following items are included in MUTIEEBETAHEM
other interest income: FEWA
— Bank interest income —IRITHR B WA (6,364,516) (5,979,534)
— Interest income on rental deposits —MEEE2MEWA (93,740) (21,379)
(6,458,256) (6,000,913)
The following items are included in U TIEEBETAHM
other income: N
— Dividend income —REUWA (2,980,675) (641,519)
— Government grants (Note) — BT R BY (52) (265,526) (485,455)
— Others —Hh (2,819,106) (2,285,943)
(6,065,307) (3,412,917)
Note: et -

The government grants that are receivable represented a
compensation for expenses incurred of HK$265,526 (2023:
HK$485,455) during the year ended 31 December 2024.

12. DIVIDENDS 12.

No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

im e SRR R M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. 8REE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to RABEE ANFELESREREIE
owners of the Company is based on the following data: TAERLUTEIESTHE -
Loss figures are calculated as follows: EHEEFAENT .
2024 2023
—E@mE — B =%
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Loss for the year attributable to owners R EtEEREXREEZ
of the Company for the purpose of RABVER NELGARE
calculating basic loss per share 518 (76,993,312) (81,961,487)
2024 2023
—EBIE “BT=F
Weighted average number of ordinary BRI EEREREE>
shares in issue for the purpose of BETEERINETS
calculating basic loss per share e 253,359,456 253,359,456

No separate diluted loss per share information has been
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares
outstanding issue for both years.

FRAS M F E 9 TS 2
BrEER HUEBIZYE
REEFEERZER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4 A

i 3

MR R MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BH=E

14.

TETNE+ZA=+—

HIEFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. ME - -BEKR=H

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures Machinery
lands and Leasehold and office and Motor
buildings  improvements equipment equipment vehicles Total
HETHEK HiHER
BF  HENEEE WAERME KERRE RE @it
HKS HKS$ HKS HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT B B
CosT %
At 1 January 2023 RIEZ=E-F-H 226,036,857 68,812,715 56,167,092 537,499,593 25,009,693 913,525,950
Exchange adjustments ERBEE (1,235,716) (919,134) (393,013) (5,069,205) (159,744) (7,776,812)
Additions HE - 1,512,952 687,414 1,477,576 1,741,245 5,419,187
Modifications BY 272,362 - - - - 272,362
Disposals and written-offs HERMH - (34,055,909) (34,496,343) (19,653,247) (6,946,341) (95,151,840)
Transfer to investment ERERENE (Ht15)

properties (note 15) (25,236,086) - - - - (25,236,086)
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=F+ZB=1+—-H 199,837,417 35,350,624 21,965,150 514,254,717 19,644,853 791,052,761
Exchange adjustments EREE (1,424,515) (1,101,289) (469,017) (5,545,594) (184,687) (8,725,102)
Additions HE - 90,108 949,029 7473272 4,892 8,517,301
Modifications & 9,974,237 - - - - 9,974,237
Disposals and written-offs HERMH - (341,967) (215,106) (13,612,260) (504,279) (14,673,612)
At 31 December 2024 AZE-ME+ZA=+-H 208,387,139 33,997,476 22,230,056 502,570,135 18,960,779 786,145,585
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT HERAE
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F-F—H 95,719,479 61,711,665 54,003,005 475,167,356 20,346,636 706,948,141
Exchange adjustments EREE (674,887) (759,170) (312,112) (2,052,260) (119,355) (3,917,784)
Provided for the year TERE 16,122,243 3,711,779 1,620,389 10,561,413 2,068,454 34,084,278
Eliminated on disposals and written-offs & R #4Fs 4184 (34,055,814) (34,422,399) (18,933,112) (6,946,341) (94,357,666)
Transfer to investment properties BRERENE (WH15)

(note 15) (6,289,585) - - - - (6,289,585)
At 31 December 2023 RIFZ=ZF+ZA=+-H 104,877,250 30,608,460 20,888,883 464,743,397 15,349,394 636,467,384
Exchange adjustments ERBEE (1,093,782) (935,328) (408,404) (2,492,980) (156,209) (5,086,703)
Provided for the year rERE 15,609,658 2,201,112 1,213,209 11,066,567 1,953,555 32,044,101
Eliminated on disposals and written-offs /£ R #4EF 5184 (340,309) (208,983) (9,370,305) (495,651) (10,415,248)
At 31 December 2024 RZBZME+ZA=1+—H 119,393,126 31,533,935 21,484,705 463,946,679 16,651,089 653,009,534
CARRYING VALUES REfE
At 31 December 2024 RIS-ME+ZA=+—H 88,994,013 2,463,541 745,351 38,623,456 2,309,690 133,136,051
At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=F+ZA=+-H 94,960,167 4,742,164 1,076,267 49,511,320 4,295,459 154,585,377
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.
(Continued)

Y&~ B Ress i (@)

L BERREBERZIT
EXEERNGREER  HERAU
TEHNRREREFE !

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after taking
into account the residual values, are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum:

Over the shorter of the

Leasehold lands and MELTHE BEYNHERR30

buildings lease terms or 30-50 1B= ZE508F (UBE
years ERTE)

Leasehold improvements ~ 12.5% - 20% TAEMHEEE 12.5% - 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 10% — 25% FEREER 10% -25%
office equipment N

Machinery and equipment 10% — 25% MR E  10% - 25%

Motor vehicles Over the shorter of RE FARAIHARR 825%
the lease terms or F33'5% (L&
25% - 33'5% KEEREE)
2024 2023
—EMEF “BT=F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
The carrying values of leasehold land ~ F#ifAE+i#hRiEF >
and buildings shown above comprise:  BRE{EEIE :
Leasehold land and buildings INEAEZHEL MR
in Hong Kong g/F 9,775,018 4,660,809
Leasehold land and buildings in PRC R PEZEE LM
EES 79,218,995 90,299,358
88,994,013 94,960,167
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-NE+-B=1+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ME- -BERRE (B
(Continued)
The Group as lessee EBEEREAEA
Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant FHIESE GIAYE - BKE
and equipment) Rk )
Leasehold land Motor
and building vehicles Total
HE L RIEF RE fazt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 31 December 2024 m-E2-_mmE+_-_B=+—H
Carrying amount EEE 45,984,155 547,087 46,531,242
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+=-BA=+—H
Carrying amount IREE 49,421,273 892,615 50,313,888
For the year ended HE-_ZE_-_WFE+—-8
31 December 2024 =+—ALtEE
Depreciation charge TEER 13,080,623 345,528 13,426,151
Modifications & 9,974,237 - 9,974,237
For the year ended BE-_ZE-_=F+—-A8
31 December 2023 =4+—HILFE
Depreciation charge TEER 13,186,688 28,794 13,215,482
Additions =1 - 921,409 921,409
Modifications & 272,362 - 272,362
2024 2023
—E_MEF “EBT=F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ EiEHATRE BRI 86,539 131,077
Total cash outflow for leases HENIRES R 4EEE 14,846,780 17,092,450
For both years, the Group leases leasehold lands, various PREEE ~EEAHE=SEMN
offices, warehouses and factory for its operations. Lease ELM - ZEP™AE-BEERT
contracts are entered into for fixed term of one to fifty years. - BEANBZETETHRE—=
A+FEIILe
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A

mh 3

M HwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

14.

15.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant
and equipment) (Continued)

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for smaller
office premises and office equipment. As at 31 December
2024 and 2023, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar
to the portfolio of short-term leases for which the short-term
lease expenses is disclosed above.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably
certain not to exercise a termination option, upon the
occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change
in circumstances that is within the control of the lessee. During
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there is no
such triggering event.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group's investment properties are located in Hong Kong
and the PRC. All of the Group’s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purposes are measured using the fair value model and are
classified and accounted as investment properties. The Group
leases out various offices in the PRC and commercial and
industrial premises in Hong Kong under operating leases with
rentals paid monthly. The leases typically run for an initial
period of one to nine years (2023: one to five years) with no
rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees.

The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee
and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of
the lease term.

14.

15.

Y&~ B Ress i (@)

AEBREAEEAN (B)
REFEEE GIAYE -BE

KRE) (&)

REBEHBK /J\’*”E’J#}#"*%
ERMWARBIIULEMES
TEIMERTEI=ZF+T E
=+—HB - EREEEsELRN
Lt EE E’Jh,ﬁ)ﬁﬂ [ Sz B9 A2 HA
HEHEE

Eoh » PR B A R AR TR A R34 &6
BEANNBEAREHHBERHIREK
B AAXEFBEHTHES
OEEBE RN TEALILEER
REE—ZT_NFRER_ZT"=
+B=1+—HBLEFE WEH
BEBEMH-

REMFE

REBREYETLAUNEB KT
o AREBFBNESRNE ARG
EMEBKEHEREZFEY
%% s A EBEE W
DERARIEREYE - KE
BRBLEHELHAETEMNS
B AEREEENIBEYE
FEBER T -¥HREI—RK
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in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-NE+-B=1+—HIFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. BEYE (48)

HK$

BT
At 1 January 2023 W_E_=F—H—H 111,151,556
Transfer from property, plant and equipment &R B ¥ - BE KR HH 57,458,684
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss ~ FRI8H R 2 A (B EE) (6,125,444)
Exchange adjustments b 12 SE 2L (465,524)
At 31 December 2023 N2 =F+Z"B=+—H 162,019,272
Transfer from properties for sales HEETEYE 21,081,902
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss ~ FRIBHHERR 2 AT B E S (22,241,318)
Exchange adjustments b 12 SE 2L (983,607)
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZWNFE+ZB=+—H 159,876,249

Unrealised loss on property revaluation
included in other gains and losses
— for the year ended 31 December 2024
IFFEE

SPARMBmAIREBRYESGER

—HE_Z_WFE+-_A=1+—H

(22,241,318)

— for the year ended 31 December 2023
IEFEE

—HE_Z_=F+"HA=+—H

(6,125,444)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the management
of the Group has changed the use for certain properties for
sales to leasing out for rental income. The properties for
sales with carrying amount of HK$21,081,902 are transferred
from properties for sales to investment properties at the
date of transfer. Upon the date of transfer, the fair value of
the properties was HK$26,791,410 and the difference of
HK$6,232,211 (with exchange adjustment of HK$522,703)
between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
properties is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A

mh 3

M HwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

15.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the use of certain
premises of the Group have been changed from owner-
occupation to leasing out for rental income. The buildings
with carrying amount of HK$18,946,501 are transferred from
property, plant and equipment to investment properties at
the date of the end of owner-occupation. Upon the date of
transfer, the fair value of the building was HK$57,458,684
and the difference of HK$38,512,183 between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the buildings is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in “properties
valuation reserve”.

The fair value of all investment properties has been arrived
at on the basis of valuations carried out by Peak Vision
Appraisals Limited as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. They
are independent qualified professional valuers not related to
the Group.

Investment properties with fair value of HK$159,876,249
(2023: HK$162,019,272) as at 31 December 2024 are
determined based on the income capitalisation approach,
where the market rentals of all lettable units of the properties
are assessed and discounted at the market yield expected by
investors for this type of properties. The market rentals are
assessed based on estimates of future cash flows, supported
by the terms of existing lease and the market rentals of the
similar properties in the neighbourhood. The term yields
and reversionary yields are determined by reference to the
yields derived from analysing the sales transactions of similar
properties.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use and
adjusted to exclude prepaid or accrued operating lease income
to avoid double counting. At the end of the reporting period,
the financial director works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs into the model. Where there is a material change in the
fair value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations will be
reported to management of the Group.

Except for the transfer of fair value measurement as
mentioned above, there were no changes to the valuation
techniques for investment properties. The carrying amount of
the Group’s remaining investment properties is a Level 3 fair
value measurement. There were no transfers into or out of
Level 3 for the investment properties during the year.

15.

1:2 ﬁ fl:% ¥ (n‘E)

RBEE_E_=F+"8B=1+—
HIEEE AEBETYWENA
REHBBNASENBREA
U A - BREE 18,946,501 7T
NEFRERERSE EE%%
BERZEBEEEREYE-
REEHBR BFHNAFES
57,458,6848 0 MEFREE
BN EMIEE38,512,18348
TR EMEEWRE $ﬁw RIS
M ERmEI PR

FREREMEQAFEADRER
BEARATN B MFER
—EC -+ _"RA=+—R#1

WEESH EHEAERTE
FENEIICEREE(GEM

ATETWE+"B=+—HZ
NF(EA159,876,2498 T (=
=4 1162,019,272%T) 2%
EMELRBRAE xﬁﬁﬁm’
FrEYwETHMEEUNTHA
SRBRREENZEAEYENTE
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im e SRR R M E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. REME (@)
Information about fair value measurements using EFHE KA o8 A BE
significant unobservable inputs ZAFEFEZER
The following table shows the valuation techniques used in TRIITEEEREYEAFEEFR
the determination of fair values for investment properties and FRMMERNTEEEEFFIE
unobservable inputs used in the valuation models. B2 o= A B o
Inter relationship between
significant unobservable
Fair value as at Fairvalue  Valuation Significant Range of significant inputs and fair value
Description 31 December hierarchy ~ techniques unobservable inputs unobservable inputs measurement
EXTOURBAAUESR
it K+ZB=+-ANATE NTEER  HERE EXTIRRHEAMR EXTIRRHAMBEE  ATENEZANELHRG
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEImE “B_cf ZEImE “B_Cf
HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT B BT B
Industrial properties in 54,433,340 58,189,418  Level 3 Income capitalisation (i) Term yield 6.75% 6.25%  The lower/igher the term
Shenzhen, the PRC approach yield, the higher/lower the
fair value.
RERERZ T2 3 WABRILH () EBRa
(i) Reversionary yield 6.5% 6.5%  The lower/higher the
reversionary yield, the
higher/lower the fair value
(i) EHWE EEkENE/ A5 ATA
e/ A
(iii) - Market rental value RMB16 to RMB20to  The higher/lower the market
RMB27 per RMB25 per rental value, the higher/
square feet square feet lower the fair value.
(i) PHELEE BEHR SYAR  mHESERAS/AE A

ARBI6TE  AREWTE  FEIS/Afe
ARE2IT AR5

Properties in Qingyuan, 26,791,410 NA  Level3 Income capitalisation (i) Term yield 5% t0 7.5% N/A The lower/higher the term
the PRC approach yield, the higher/lower the
fair value.
RAEREZNE TER 3k WABRIEHE ) EBka 5%Z7.5% TEE EHREE/ 05 ATA
(i) Reversionary yield 5% t0 7.75% N/A~ The lower/higher the
reversionary yield, the
higher/lower the fair value
(i) EHUE 5%E1.15% TEE ERKEAE/A5 ATA
aB/ 2.
(iii) - Market rental value RMB10 to N/A~ The higher/lower the market
RMBS57 per rental value, the higher/
square feet lower the fair value.
(i) PHELEE BEHR TEE  TRHSEELR/ A A
AEBI0TE TERE/ B
AEH5T7T
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im e SRR R M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. KREYE (B)
Information about fair value measurements using FRAE A HRE A BE
significant unobservable inputs (Continued) ZAFEFAEZER (B

Inter relationship between
significant unobservable

Fair value as at Fairvalue  Valuation Significant Range of significant inputs and fair value
Description 31 December hierarchy ~ techniques unobservable inputs unobservable inputs measurement
EXTOURBAAUESR
it R+ZB=+-ANATE NTEER  HERE EXTUREBALE EXTUREBAMBER  ATEREZANEERG
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEomE ZEIZE ZEomE ZEIZE
HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT B BT B
Properties in Beijing, 12,651,499 14,629,854 Level 3 Income capitalisation (i) Term yield 3% 3%  The lower/higher the term
the PRC approach yield, the higher/lower the
fair value.
REESRZNE £34 WABREE () ek EMlEnE/ B ATE
e/ Af-

(i) Reversionary yield 22% 2.1%  The lower/higher the
reversionary yield, the
higher/lower the fair value

(i) EHUE ERhERE/ A8 ATHE
aE/BiEe

(iii) - Market rental value RMB123 to RMB111to  The higher/lower the market

RMB139 per RMB129 per rental value, the higher/
square feet square feet lower the fair value.

(i) PHELEE LR §YAR  mHESEERE/AE 2

AEBABRE  ARBIIRE  TERS/AME.
AE#1397 AE#12970

Commercial properties 66,000,000 89,200,000  Level 3 Income capitalisation (i) Term yield 5% 4% The lower/higher the term
in Yuen Long, approach yield, the higher/lower the
Hong Kong fair value.
REATHZBENE $3h WABRILHE () EHhE
(i) Reversionary yield 5.25% 4.25%  The lower/higher the
reversionary yield, the
higher/lower the fair value
(i) EHUWE EEkERE/ A5 ATA
e/ A
(iii) - Market rental value HK$47 to HK$37to  The higher/lower the market
HK$66 per HK$54 per rental value, the higher/
square feet square feet lower the fair value.
(i) TEAEEE BEARET  SYARET  mEESEERS/RE A
E66%7T EuEr  TERR/RM
As at 31 December 2024, investment properties with ATETOE+_B=+—H">
aggregate carrying value of HK$92,791,410 (2023: ,\u_\5§ﬁ15%92 791,410%8 7t (=
HK$89,200,000) were pledged to banks to secure bank T =4 89,200, OOO/%TU) 2
borrowings as stated in note 27 and general banking facilities BYHEELEWRFTIET EAMNE
granted to the Group. 2R RAT AR R A SR B 48

—RIRITEEZ IR
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im e SRR R M E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEE

16. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI/FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FVTPL

16.

Equity instruments at FVTOCI

FEHMEEBARAF
BEIRZRAETAH Eid
HHBEATFEIERZ R
BE
FREMEEBARATE

SRz IRAET A
2024 2023
—E-MmE T =F
HK$ HK$
AT BT
Unlisted equity securities established in A&~ HE & 8INIL 2
Hong Kong, the PRC and overseas JEETHRE AR (ML)
(note) 13,087,402 22,193,495
Note: As at 31 December 2024, the Group has investments in three Kzt R_EBE_WME+_B=+—H">

(2023: three) unlisted equity securities established in the
PRC, three (2023: three) unlisted equity securities established
in overseas and one (2023: one) unlisted equity security
incorporated in Hong Kong which were held for an identified
long term strategic purpose.

These investments in equity instruments are not held for
trading. Instead, they are held for medium to long-term
strategic purposes. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
have elected to designate these investments in equity
instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit
or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of
holding these investments for long-term purposes and realising
their performance potential in the long run.

Details of the fair value measurement on equity instruments at
FVTOCI are disclosed in note 36.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

im e SRR R M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEFE

16. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI/FINANCIAL 16. FHREMEEBARAT
ASSETS AT FVTPL (Continued) BEYRZBRATH BB
BEmiEAFEIRZER
BE (18)
Financial assets at FVTPL BEBREEATEIEREZE
MEE
2024 2023
“TME T =F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Listed equity investments in Hong Kong M&#B 2 EHRRAEE 9,488,068 15,770,920
Details of the fair value measurement on financial assets at FBEEGEATEYEZSME
FVTPL are disclosed in note 36. EZ AT EE5F BRI EE361K
=o
17. CONTRACT ASSETS 17. BHNEE
2024 2023
—EME BT =4F
HKS$ HK$
BT BIT
Contract assets from Manufacturing S RIHEEKN
and Sales Business BHEE 24,145,596 26,847,507
Less: allowance for credit loss B EEEREES (165,665) (513,130)
23,979,931 26,334,377

As at 1 January 2023, contract assets amounted to
HK$30,264,935.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to
consideration from the customers for the manufacturing and
sales of printing products. Contract assets arise when the
Group has right to consideration for the work completed
under relevant contracts and their right is conditioned on
factors other than passage of time. The contract assets
are transferred to trade receivables upon the delivery and
acceptance of products by customers.

N _E_—F—B—H /N E
E 730,264,935 71 ©

BHNEETEZRMAERMNE
KAHEEIR E mm & P WEAE
ZHEM e SNEERTEEAR
S IRIBEA G ER TFER
RE> BIRERREFNBURER
HMLIINNRARRDIRHRELZ - &
NEERE P R Rz E @
BEEEZBURIE
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im e SRR R M E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEE

17. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 17.

Typical payment terms is 60 to 120 days upon delivery.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current assets
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal
operating cycle which is within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 36.

SHNEE (8)

— g T R EAPR % 22 8 60E 120
Ho

rEBBALEGNEEDESM
HEE REASEEBRANIE
FEESH AMRSMARETZ
BARN) SZEEELZR-

BB B M 5E361K B o

18. INVENTORIES 18. &

2024 2023

—ENE TEC=F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Raw materials R 12,613,460 15,757,760
Finished goods Bk 6,117,197 9,376,858
18,730,657 25,134,618

19. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR 19. HERXERPYE FEY
SALE/PROPERTIES FOR SALE E—

2024 2023

—E_mE —E=F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Properties under development for sale FEZEEMRY)E 231,223,975 154,528,634

Properties for sale FEYE 78,934,080 103,930,581

310,158,055 258,459,215

During the year ended 31 December 2024, certain finished
goods were damaged and as a result, write-down of
inventories of HK$156,835 has been recognised and included
in cost of sales and services.

BHE_Z-_WFE+-A=+—H
FFEE  BETERRIEEER
It ERFEME156,8354%
70 M s A BHE R ARFE A AN A o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R
For the year ended 31 December 2024
—ETUFE+_HBA=+—HLEFE

_7_

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR 19. FEEREPYE FEY
SALE/PROPERTIES FOR SALE (Continued) £ (8B

HK$

BT
At 1 January 2023 A2 -=%—HF—H 326,097,115
Additions NE 73,506,479
Disposals HE (132,181,018)
Exchange adjustments bE D E R (8,963,361)
At 31 December 2023 A E T =F+"_B=+—H 258,459,215
Additions NE 148,607,718
Disposals HE (65,993,850)
Transfer to investment properties HEEKREY (21,081,902)
Exchange adjustments PE A EE (9,833,126)
At 31 December 2024 RIZ2ZNF+ZA=+—H 310,158,055
Analysis of leasehold lands: ME DM -

HK$

BT
As at 31 December 2024 A ZE_WOFE+ZA=+—8
Carrying amount IRmEME 87,267,808
As at 31 December 2023 WZEZ=%+"A=+—8H
Carrying amount IRMEE 93,740,430

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The residual values are determined as the estimated disposal
value of the leasehold land component. No depreciation
charge is made on the leaseholder lands taking into account
the estimated residual values as at 31 December 2024 and

2023.

;,ﬂ

B £ BY R [ B DB 2 OB 1E
o] REHIT & AR ERK S
FEEREE 2 HE T &
DHESTHEBEE BN
T NFER_ZE_=ZF+ZA4

=+—BMEFRGREE HE
ITHAREHRITEER -

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE&EZKRARAT | Annual Report 2024 F iR

241



242

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A

mh 3

MBHwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

19.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE/PROPERTIES FOR SALE (Continued)

The properties under development for sale of the Group are
situated on the land located in the PRC.

Properties under development for sale include a land
in the PRC owned by BETHEEMEREBRA
B8] (“Zhongging”), a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$35,885,051 (2023: HK$37,123,076).

On 18 June 2014, FYIFTHEHBEREEEFRAS
("Zhongxing Guosheng’ ), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the immediate holding company of Zhongging,
initiated civil proceedings against Zhongging in the F3IT
BZ& AR (“People’s Court of Baoan District”) for the
repayment of the shareholder’s loan owing to Zhongxing
Guosheng of RMB23,479,330. On 19 June 2014, pursuant
to an application made by Zhongxing Guosheng to freeze
and preserve assets of Zhongging in the total value of
RMB23,400,000, an order was granted by the People’s Court
of Baoan District to freeze and preserve the lands owned by
Zhongqging during the period from 24 June 2014 to 23 June
2016 ("Freeze Order”), aiming to ensure that Zhongging
would have sufficient assets for the repayment of the
shareholder’s loan to the Group.

On 15 October 2014, the Group received the civil mediation
document (RZE:BMEZE) issued by the People’s Court of
Baoan District, acknowledging that (i) both Zhongqing and
the Group confirmed the shareholder’s loan was in sum of
RMB23,479,330; (ii) Zhongqing agreed to repay to Zhongxing
Guosheng the sum of RMB23,479,330 together with the
interests accrued from 18 June 2014 until the date of
repayment which was supposed to be within 15 days after the
effective date of the civil mediation document (i.e. 15 October
2014); and (iii) if Zhongging failed to repay the amount stated
in (i) in full on time, the Group had the right to request
Zhongging to pay default interests calculated at two times of
the lending rate of the People’s Bank of China over the same
period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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19.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE/PROPERTIES FOR SALE (Continued)

On 27 May 2016, the Group received the assistance execution
notice (RBIEITIBANE) issued by the People’s Court of
Baoan District to freeze and preserve the land owned by
Zhongging during the period from 13 June 2016 to 12 June
2019. The period covered by the Freeze Order was further
extended to 12 May 2022 by the People’s Court of Baoan
District on 15 May 2019 and was further extended to 12 May
2025 on 14 April 2022.

On 11 March 2022, the Company announced the intention
to apply to the People’s Court of Baoan District for the
commencement of the compulsory enforcement proceedings
against Zhongging to put the freezed land (the “Land”) for
sale in the judicial auction (the “Compulsory Enforcement”)
through the Online Auction Platform as decided by the
People’s Court of Baoan District for the sale of the land use
rights of the Land (the "Auction”) in order to settle the
shareholder’s Loan. The Auction will be opened to the public.
In view of the potential development value of the Land, in the
event that there are other bidders in any round of the Auction,
the Group intends to participate in the Auction through the
Group's potential bidder (subject to factors such as the market
condition and the prevailing regulatory regime). The maximum
amount which the Group's Potential Bidder is prepared to
bid at the Auction is RMB30,700,000 (equivalent to HK
$38,068,000) (the “Ceiling"”). If the Auction lapses for absence
of bidder, pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
Zhongxing Guosheng as the applicant of the Compulsory
Enforcement will have the right to take over the Land to set
off against the shareholder’s Loan with the amount equivalent
to the initial bid price prevailing at the second auction as
stipulated under the relevant PRC laws and regulations.

19.

FEERDYE FEY
* (@&

A TE—-RERB-+tH XK
EEKWIBHEZER AR AR E
HWBBI B ITEAE  UR T
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BEYER 2 i o RS S FTIREH
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19.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE/PROPERTIES FOR SALE (Continued)

In the event that a bidder other than the Group's potential
bidder offers a price higher than the Ceiling or that the market
condition and/or the relevant regulatory regime has changed
such that it will not be commercially beneficial for the Group’s
potential bidder to acquire the Land, the Group’s potential
bidder will not participate in the Auction or bid further in
the Auction. In such circumstances, Zhongging will then be
obliged to sell the Land to the bidder who offers the highest
price in the Auction and the sale will constitute a disposal
transaction of the Group.

On 15 July 2022, the Compulsory Enforcement was approved
by the shareholders’ of the Company and the Group submitted
the application to the People’s Court of Baoan District to
commence the Compulsory Enforcement in July 2022.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the People's Court
of Baoan District has completed all internal verification
procedures regarding the land with various relevant
government departments in Qingyuan, but the auction
progress had not yet commenced.

Properties under development for sale/properties for sale with
aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$43,254,937
(2023: HK$221,336,139) have been pledged to a PRC bank to
secure bank borrowings as disclosed in note 27 granted to the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

20.

BEZREMEURIE TR

TRIEURET &

2024 2023
—E_ME —EC=F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables B 5 FEWFRIE 130,552,224 106,716,136
Less: allowance for credit losses B EERERS (819,175) (1,089,825)
129,733,049 105,626,311
Receivables with brokers’ houses e TR IE 298,775 667,524
Deposits and other receivables HEa=i e 13,392,651 8,405,959
Other tax recoverable HA e e iR 18 22,900,569 18,571,261
Prepayments FET=IE 9,869,297 9,972,025
176,194,341 143,243,080
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MBERRDINA -
Current assets TMENEE 170,792,932 138,847,263
Non-current assets ERBEE 5,401,409 4,395,817
176,194,341 143,243,080
As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with N ZE=—F—HF—H kBEH

customers amounted to HK$92,280,913.

The Group’s credit terms for Manufacturing and Sales Business
and Trading Business generally range from 60 to 90 days.
Credit period of 120 days is granted to a few customers of the
Manufacturing and Sales Business with whom the Group has
a good business relationship and who are in sound financial
condition. The Group allows an average credit period of 60 to
90 days to its customers of Music and Entertainment Business.

BRI ZENZ B S EKRIE
792,280,913 T ©

FEEMRERBEEEBUARE
PEHBZEEH RN F60=E
WH - LHALEEERFES
BR B MBI RiF 2 RIS K 8
EXBEFOUETI20EZEER
HloAEBMGETERRBREET
ERZEEHRFHER60E90H °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-NE+-B=1+—HIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 20. B REMBUYRIETE
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued) INEREV-HIE A6
The following is an ageing analysis of the trade receivables net UTARRSHARIEZEZHH
of allowance for credit losses presented based on the invoice 2y B rEIKRHRIE (BH%E
date at the end of the reporting period. BEERB) RE DT
2024 2023
“ENE “EBT=F
HKS$ HK$
#HiT BT

Manufacturing and Sales Business and ~ BU3& K #6255 U K

Trading Business: BRER
0-30 days 0Z30H 68,655,691 50,287,241
31-60 day 31260H 29,490,609 19,316,180
61-90 days 61290H 15,206,973 11,166,391
Over 90 days B3890 H 5,690,005 6,589,418
119,043,278 87,359,230
Music and Entertainment Business: B R IR TS
0-30 days 0E30H 438,596 404,674
31-60 days 31260H - 1,921
61-90 days 61290H 59 -
Over 90 days B3890H 8,880 7,665
447,535 414,260
Property Development Business: MEBREET
0-30 days 0Z30H 9,323,836 17,852,821
Property Investment Business: MIEREXET
0-30 days 0ZF30H 131,200 -
31-60 days 31260H 131,200 -
61-90 days 61290H 131,200 -
Over 90 days B3890H 524,800 -
918,400 -
Total trade receivables 8 7 BGRB8 5 129,733,049 105,626,311
As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables of HK$918,400 W_E2E_NE+_/A=+—H">
(2023: Nil) are related to the non-cancellable operating leases 918,400 8 Tt E ZEWIE (Z
with a related company as disclosed in note 34. T =4 i) B E34PTIRER
HEAENBN AT EERE
Ao
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

20.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

Trade receivables of approximately HK$7,782,000 (2023:
HK$5,671,000) and HK$597,000 (2023: HK$501,000) were
denominated in United States dollars (“USD") and Renminbi
("RMB"), respectively as at 31 December 2024, the currency
other than the functional currency of the respective group
entities.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$24,782,234 (2023: HK$21,258,572) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, HK$1,515,321 (2023: HK$2,007,361) has been
past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default.
With reference to the historical records, past experience and
also available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information to those customers, the directors of the Company
do not consider these receivables as credit-impaired as these
customers have a good business relationship with the Group
and recurring overdue records of these customers has shown
satisfactory settlement history.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables and deposits for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 are set out in note 36.

20.

BB R HMEURIE A
1_.I-TT"XIE'L/(& n]-ﬁ (n\ﬁ)

ATETNE+_B=+—H"
#97,782,0008 T (CE =4 :
5,671,00078 7t) 52597,000%8 7T
(ZZE =4 :501,0007T) Z
BSEKRZIEDMUET (IE
T RARB(TARK)) A8
il ZEEMTIESEFBETE
NEEE M o

RZE-_mME+_A=+—H"
AEBESRKRARIELGFEIE
ﬁ\ﬁﬁttEHHEﬁHHZEEE,”JE
24,782,2348B 7 (ZCE =% :
21,258,572870) 2 EWERFR ©
T_{iHH,EM »1,515,321%8 7T
(ZZ =4 :2,007,361/E7T)
EEHA0H U £ BT IELR A
BH - BB2EZEXPWNEERE
B OBFEKRUKRTESHNEE
REKRBEFEEER  KATE
%IZ—D'U%D ﬁ?”&mlﬁ@tﬂﬁ
EERE" }_lf’—ﬂﬁ&%@iﬁiz&
ERHBFRETERBEFG BZSE

ERNEEAGEREBTREER
SCERIEAR o

BHE_ S _NHEK_ZT_=4F
+_B=+—HLEEENEZX
HME W B 5T &R BT
BRI MIEE36°
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-NE+-B=1+—HIFE

21. LOANS RECEIVABLE 21. BERE®

2024 2023

—EmE _EBEC=F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Fixed-rate loans receivable BN EB B 34,719,963 48,285,559

Less: allowance for credit losses B EEREES (3,780,000) (540,928)
30,939,963 47,744,631

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MBERRDINA ©

Current TRE 30,222,831 29,810,691
Non-current JETRED 717,132 17,933,940
30,939,963 47,744,631
The loans receivable has contractual maturity within one to ATETOFE+_"H/H=+—H">
four years (2023: within one to ten years) as at 31 December }% WEHNESNINEEAE—F
2024. The average interest rate for the fixed-rate loans MER (ZE-_=%F . —ZF+4£
receivable was ranging from 10% to 22% (2023: 6% to 37%) ) o FEINE B ffi)\ZIEi’jE%IJf <
per annum. Loans receivable with maturity terms over one year MTEI10%FE22% (ZE_=
are classified as non-current assets. 6%ZE37%) - EHEH— EJ—XJ:Z

RBERROERIFERBEE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

21.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’'s loans
receivable balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$3,520,153 (2023: Nil) which are past due as
at the reporting date, of which HK$544,007 (2023: Nil) has
been past due more than 30 days but less than 90 days and
HK$2,437,807 (2023: Nil) has been past due 90 days or more.
As at 31 December 2024, a counterparty with carrying amount
of approximately HK$3,045,000 (in which interest receivables
of approximately HK$45,000 are past due) defaulted in interest
repayment and no settlement was made for the outstanding
balances during the year ended 31 December 2024. In view
of the continuous non repayment from the debtors, additional
impairment losses of HK$2,960,100 was made on this credit-
impaired debtor during the year ended 31 December 2024.
For the remaining past due loans receivable, the directors
of the Company are of the view that there have been no
significant increase in credit risk nor default because the fair
value of the respective collaterals are higher than the carrying
amounts of these loans receivable.

Details of impairment assessment of loans receivable for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out in note
36.

21.

BUREmR (&)

ATE_NE+ B =+ —
H AEBEBWNERGEHEIE
NHREHBCAPZREEE
3,520,1538 7w (ZTE =% : &)
Z FEUWERTR » LR > 544,0078 7T
(CE—=F: #) 2@HiE30H1E
‘D90 H » &2,437,807E 7T (Z
T =48 EmEA90H U
R ZE-_MFE+—BA=+—
H>ERmEEA%3,045,000%8 7T
(H\‘:F‘JT@H&%'J,_\,.’MS OOOP%T[:E
B 2cHFHREEFNE
RBEE_ZE_NE+"F= +—
HIEFETEENHAREEZ
ER-ERBERABEBRET
REE_ZE_NFE+_B=+—
HLEFE EMzEHREER
B2 EWERREHEEINRERIE
2960100%75 FLER T %80 HA FE U
T}\ﬁ’ﬁE ’ZIKQA\—J%%EVU% EE
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PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/SHORT-
TERM BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Pledged bank deposits amounting to HK$63,728,570 (2023:
HK$76,274,798) carry interest rates with a range from 0.1%
to 3.73% (2023: 0.1% to 5.13%) and represent deposits
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group as disclosed in note 27 and deposits paid in relation
to the financial guarantee as disclosed in note 37. Out of
these deposits, fixed-rate deposits and variable-rate deposits
amounting to HK$60,000,000 (2023: HK$60,000,000) and
HK$3,728,570 (2023: HK$16,274,798) respectively. Such
deposits have been pledged to secure short-term bank
borrowings and are therefore classified as current assets.

Short-term bank deposits include bank deposits with original
maturity more than three months. Cash and cash equivalents
include demand deposits and short term deposits with original
maturity less than three months for the purpose of meeting
the Group's short term cash commitments.

As at 31 December 2024, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and short-term bank deposits of approximately
HK$93,858,000 (2023: HK$88,992,000), HK$3,098,000
(2023: HK$2,122,000), and HK$3,674,000 (2023:
HK$146,000) were denominated in USD, HK$ and RMB
respectively, the currencies other than the functional currency
of the respective group entities.

Furthermore, included in the short-term bank deposits and
cash and cash equivalents are amounts denominated in
RMB of approximately HK$24,249,000 (2023: approximately
HK$49,668,000), which are not freely convertible into other
currencies.

The bank balances and short-term bank deposits carry interest
rates with a range from 0.1% to 4% (2023: 0.1% to 5.3%)
per annum.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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22. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/SHORT-
TERM BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (Continued)
Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank deposits,
short-term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents for

the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out in
note 36.

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

22,

23.

B ERIRITER FEHIR
TER HERREEE
(48)
BE_ZE_NEE_ZE_=
+ - A=+—HLEFENBIKHF
RITEREHRETEIUKR
ERIBEEENRETEEBE
RMsE36 0

8B 7% R B A& (4w IE U R
i B
UTARREHFRESEAN
#5285 REBE R E S
o

2024 2023
—ETME “B=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
0-30 days 0ZF30H 46,846,458 45,979,952
31-60 days 31260H 4,393,241 6,864,442
61-90 days 61290H 1,645,440 2,697,564
Over 90 days #BE90H 3,142,612 1,989,695
56,027,751 57,531,653
Construction cost payable for IRECBO0-30BNEEERE
properties under development YR BT B A
for sale aged 0-30 days 1,528,300 -
Total trade payables B IEAREE 57,556,051 57,531,653
Accrued construction costs for HFEERPY =B
properties under development for sale 7 102,351,266 34,463,294
Accrued expenses and other payables &t 5% & EAthFE S =18 34,427,171 32,690,772
194,334,488 124,685,719

The credit period ranges from 90 days to 120 days. The Group
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that
all payables are within the credit timeframe.

Trade and other payables of approximately HK$2,497,000
(2023: HK$4,285,000) were denominated in RMB as at 31
December 2024, the currencies other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities.

EEHNFI0HEI120H - &E
BEEGERFRBEREEE MU
MRFTA T IER B (T o

R-ZE-NM+-B=+—H"'2
81492,497,0008 T (Z&E - =
£ 1 4,285,00087m) 2B R RE
ENHRIBUARKESE B
B IEENERERZINEES
HE o
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24,

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS (Continued)

Rental deposit received of HK$787,200 (2023: HK$787,200) in
respect of the non-cancellable operating leases with a related
company as disclosed in note 34 is included in other payables
as at 31 December 2024.

8 5 R HEMEAR
EEE-I-TA = (n\E)

R34 B i —REEE AT
2RO REE SRS uﬂzﬁua@mé
¥ 787,200 (ZE - =
787,200%7t) sFARZZE = IT_EI
F+_B=+—HZEMENH
I o

AL B

LEASE LIABILITIES HEaE
2024 2023
“EImEF —BC=F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Lease liabilities payable: FENHEEaE
Within one year R—FR 11,596,254 12,532,717
Within a period of more than one year #BiE—EETBBME
but not more than two years BIEARE A 4,902,501 8,170,562
Within a period of more than two BEMEERBERE
years but not more than five years BHAR R 5,222,663 3,008,748
Within a period of more than B AFNERBER
five years 28,400,777 29,661,011
50,122,195 53,373,038
Less: Amount due for settlement with 8 : B & EIE F7R
12 months shown under current 891218 B M I EA
liabilities BiEFIE (11,596,254) (12,532,717)
Amount due for settlement after 12 RIERBEEE TR
months shown under non-current 1218 B & EI AR EERMIE
liabilities 38,525,941 40,840,321

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are
set out below:

A8 Eﬁ%l,\ﬁaﬁ’ﬂj} Eﬁ@fﬂgzﬁl\
NEBsTENHESGH#HN
X

2024 2023

—EME —E=F

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

Denominated in RMB against HK$ UAB TR AREEE 33,645,000 34,614,000

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities range from 2.98% to 5.88% (2023: from
2.98% to 5.88%) per annum.
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25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. B8R

2024 2023

“EME TEC=F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Contract liabilities from Trading Business ;R B B ZE£HEMN S EE 145,884 319,549
Contract liabilities from Music and REBHRIBHEZNG

Entertainment Business EOI=NE 1,129,267 1,172,467
Contract liabilities from Manufacturing R E&ERIHEEFHNE

and Sales Business FOR=KE 3,016,915 5,021,550
Contract liabilities from Property REMEZEREFHNEL

Development Business aE 16,227,018 29,424,235

20,519,084 35,937,801

As at 1 January 2023, the carrying amount of contract
liabilities was HK$8,798,267.

Contract liabilities are classified as current liabilities because
the Group expects to settle them within 12 months after the
end of the reporting period.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

When the Group receives a deposit before the printing
products delivery, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the
start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the specific
contract exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group
receives a 10% to 30% deposit on acceptance of orders for
trading of printing products from certain customers.

When the Group receives a deposit before the completion of
concert and show, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the
start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the specific
contract exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group
receives a 10% to 30% deposit from certain customers when
the contract for concert and show is signed.

R_E_=F—H—H &48
BERVERE B 758,798,267 T 0

BREEIEARBER RA
RHEEBBHRBESHRE =
BRARENENER-.

HEMIENERTEELERE
By — AR ST RARE0 T

EAREE R ENR ZE S 32 AU E]
S AEBEREOHBRES
EHBEE BEEMIETSHNED
MR H BRI E - AEBR
BETERLWEIEIRERE FET
BRIWENI0%E30%METH

EAREBENEEEMRETARA
WEIFT & AL Y & 4B LA BT
EEeNaft BEEMETCEL
BRANWE BB S ANE
BREEEMRENGHLEE

REETERWEI0%E30%H
HE
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25.

26.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

When the Group receives a deposit before the manufacturing
of printing product commences, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised
on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.
The Group receives a 10% to 50% deposit on acceptance of
manufacturing orders from certain customers.

When the Group generally receives a 20% to 30% as
deposit upon signing the sales and purchase agreement with
customers for the sales of properties and further receives
the remaining sales consideration when the mortgage loans
were granted to the property purchasers, this will result in
contract liabilities being recognised throughout the property
construction period until the customer obtains control of
the completed properties for sale. During the year ended 31
December 2024, certain properties under development for
sale/properties for sale as disclosed in note 19 was handed
over to customers which caused the significant decrease in
contract liabilities.

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities.

25.

BHNERE (@)

HAREEPREER EREBE
WEzT & BIER Y & 4B IG BF
EEGHaB BEEMIETCEL
O Gt = R A s v oL R NE==
EREETERWEIREETER
U EY10% E50%R95] & ©

EARER-REZAMYEHEE
=] BEEHREBWEN20%E30%
NI 2R RERBERERTY
B FME—TWEER THER
BN BERESNEENREREY
XREHBRNEER BEERR
ERE TR FEY XTSI
REBEE_Z_NEF+_B=+—
HIEFEE > B sFE19FTiRE 2
ETRHREZRTYE FEYE
ERRER HEEGHEBEK
WS 48 8 ©

TR A F E RN m =
B REEENEE.

HK$
=
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_E_NE+-A=+—HILEE
Revenue recognised that was included ARV ENBEGERNEERING
in the contract liabilities balance
at the beginning of the year 35,937,801
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_S_=5+"A=+—HLEE
Revenue recognised that was included SFAF SN B EAEHRN B EEINGE
in the contract liabilities balance
at the beginning of the year 8,798,267

AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.
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BE

27.
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BANK BORROWINGS 27. $R1TfEE
2024 2023
“EME =
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Secured bank borrowings BIRRETEE 131,327,218 93,548,550
Unsecured bank borrowings mIRIRIRTTEE 16,068,286 -
147,395,504 93,548,550
The carrying amount of bank FEERIBTEE
borrowings are repayable*: REE:
— Within one year ——FR 89,308,679 54,179,186
— Within a period of more than one —BE—FENBIE
year but not exceeding two years MBI AR A 36,131,707 9,037,179
— Within a period of more than two —BBmEEREE
years but not exceeding five years HFRVHEARE A 21,955,118 20,393,625
— Over five years —BBEAEE - 9,938,560
147,395,504 93,548,550
Less: Amounts due within one year BIR—FANEERER
or contains a repayment on BRERER WREhE
demand clause shown under BIE T 5T 2 &5
current liabilities (117,250,915) (70,338,782)
Amounts shown under non-current RIERBEBEE TR
liabilities | 30,144,589 23,209,768
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set ¥ EIHATRIB R B T sk P &l 5T 2118
out in the loan agreements. BHMEE-
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RN+ _A=+—HLFE

BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the bank borrowings of
HK$96,415,460 (2023: HK$68,380,802) are secured and
carry interest at HIBOR plus 1.25% to 2.25% (2023: 1.25%
to 2.25%) per annum. Such bank borrowings contain a
repayment on demand clause. As at 31 December 2024,
the secured bank borrowings are secured by the investment
properties of HK$66,000,000 as disclosed in note 15
and pledged bank deposits of HK$60,000,000 (2023:
HK$60,000,000) as disclosed in note 22.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of HK$34,911,758
(2023: HK$25,167,748) carry fixed interest at 5.98% (2023:
5.98%) per annum and are secured by the investment
properties of HK$26,791,410 (2023: Nil) and properties under
development for sale/properties for sale of HK$43,254,937
(2023: HK$221,336,139) as disclosed in notes 15 and 19 and
guaranteed by Mr. Suek Ka Lun, Ernie, who is a director of the
Company. Out of these bank borrowings, the bank borrowings
of HK$30,144,589 (2023: HK$23,209,768) are repayable one
year after the end of the reporting period and classified as
non-current liabilities.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of HK$16,068,286
(2023: Nil) are unsecured and carry fixed interest at 1.5% to
2% (2023: Nil) per annum.
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28.

“EIMF+ZR=1+—HILEFE
DEFERRED TAX 28. RIERIE
For the purpose of presentation of the consolidated financial MR ESBEREMs & T
statements, certain deferred tax assets and deferred tax EIEMIBEENIEIERIBEEE
liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis for o U T AEBREREN D
reporting propose:
2024 2023
—EmE —E=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Deferred tax assets RERIEE & 13,582,081 12,661,692
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIRER (15,295,545) (14,606,063)
(1,713,464) (1,944,371)
The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets UFNARKREERBETEEERES
recognised and movements thereon during the current year ZEEIFRIERIE (BB EEUK
and prior years: HEH
ECL on
financial
Accelerated assets and
tax Tax contract Lease Right-of
depreciation losses assets liabilities  -use assets Others Total
SHEER
BNBEZ
MR E WEBE BREEER MEaE ERAREE Hitr it
HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HKS$ HKS HK$
BT BT BT BT B BT BT
(Note)
W)
At 1 January 2023 (restated) R -E-_=F—F—H
() (3,692,870) 13,753,473 335,252 12,618,367  (12,618,367) (3,669,834) 6,726,021
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (311 8) EAAFE T
for the year (168,868) - 79032 (3,173,685 3,173,685 1,080,233 990,397
Charge to other comprehensive J1EAFEMZEKA
income for the year - - - - - (9,628,046) (9,628,046)
Exchange adjustments ERHREE 33,742 (82,368) (3,060) - - 18,943 (32,743)
At 31 December 2023 At ey =
=+-H (3,827,996) 13,671,105 41124 9444682 (9,444682)  (12,198704)  (1,944,371)
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (i1 B) A REREF
for the year 1,098,951 - (63360) (1214719 1214719 (836,703) 198,888
Exchange adjustments ERHEE 19,330 (95,200) (6,065) - - 113,954 32,019
At 31 December 2024 RIEZME+ZE
=+-fH (2,709,715) 13,575,905 341,799 8229963  (8229963)  (12,921453)  (1,713.464)
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RN+ _A=+—HLFE

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the deferred tax liabilities
"others”

Note:
are arising from the revaluation of investment
properties upon change of use of certain premises from
owner-occupation to leasing out for rental income, the change
in fair value of the investment properties and the temporary
difference arising from the revenue recognised over time
from manufacturing and sales of printing products for PRC
subsidiaries under HKFRS 15.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has estimated unused
tax losses of approximately HK$676,472,000 (2023:
HK$601,824,000) available to offset against future profits.
As at 31 December 2024, a deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the tax losses of approximately
HK$82,278,000 (2023: HK$82,855,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses
of HK$594,194,000 (2023: HK$518,969,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unused tax
losses of HK$65,025,000 (2023: HK$43,690,000) that can be
carried forward for five years from the year in which the losses
arose. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred tax has
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of temporary differences attributable to retained
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately
HK$27,462,000 (2023: HK$28,311,000) as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. fg7
Number of shares HKS$
Shares of HK$0.01 each =050.0178 TTHIRG (D e 4= BT
Authorised: ETE
At 1 January 2023, RIE2EZ=F—HF—H8-
31 December 2023 and 2024 TETCFR T OF
+-B=+—H 50,000,000,000 500,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITREE
At 1 January 2023, RZZEZ=%—H—H8->
31 December 2023 and 2024 TET=FR T OF
+-B=+—H 253,359,456 2,533,595
30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 30. RR{pEAHEETE

On 16 June 2023, a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was approved by shareholders of the Company
and adopted by the Company on 20 June 2023 replacing the
share option scheme adopted since 13 February 2014. Unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Option Scheme
will remain in force until 19 June 2033, being 10 years after
the date of its adoption.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable
the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company
may grant options to directors and employees of the Company
and its subsidiaries, as well as those of the Company’s holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies,
to subscribe for shares of the Company. Additionally, the
Company may, from time to time, grant share options to
certain external service providers. Details of the Share Option
Scheme are disclosed in the directors’ report of this annual
report.

No share options have been granted since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.

A _E_ZFSA+SRH K
NE)REH E IR HAE ST &
(TR EARESTE)) > WHAARE
N _E_=F B+ HEHN
PR EZE—HFE—-/F+=H
eI B IR 10 HAHE 5T 8 o BRIE S
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BE_Z_NE+_A=+—HILEE
31. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 31. REHEZTH
The Group as lessor TEBREAEBEA
All of the Group's properties held for rental purposes have NEBFFBEEFELETAA 5_2%%
committed tenants for the next one to nine years (2023: one NERK—FHNF(CE_=F.—
to five years). At the end of the reporting period, the Group ERFE)HAEETAME PNRESE
has contracted with tenants for the future minimum lease ROAREBREMBELETA A
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of W 7 Ao RIS HER T
rented premises which fall due as follows: A B AN ER 2 R AR R BT E K
BT
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as FANIE T 2 RELIREWFE EHIE
follows: I
2024 2023
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within one year —FRN 8,411,430 5,287,288
In the second year FE 6,664,008 7,536,014
In the third year F=F 4,780,992 6,224,014
In the fourth year FIOE 952,978 4,570,015
In the fifth year BhHEF 188,559 767,763
After five years hFE 469,057 -
21,467,024 24,385,094
32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. BEAKIE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=5F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Capital expenditure contracted for but FLIU T RZIBEBEFIANERTE
not provided in the consolidated IREMBIRPETIRE
financial statements in respect of: Bz EARRES
— acquisition of property, plant and —EEVME -BEK
equipment Baia] 4,412,694 347,267
— construction cost for properties —REERPYES
under development for sale BE A 106,725,525 150,063,225
111,138,219 150,410,492
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance (the ORSO Scheme) and the MPF Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the schemes are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. Employees who were members of the
ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme
were offered a choice of staying within the ORSO Scheme or
switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees
joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000 are required to
join the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the plan
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a monthly
cap of HK$1,500.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions
from both employees and the Group at a rate of 5% of the
employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group.

The employees of the Group'’s subsidiaries in PRC are members
of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the local municipal government of Shenzhen. The subsidiary
is required to contribute 5% of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no significant
forfeited contributions which arose upon employees leaving
the schemes before they are fully vested in the contributions
and which are available to reduce the contributions payable by
the Group in the future.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of
HK$13,338,816 (2023: HK$12,143,621) represent
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the plans.

33.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Save as disclosed elsewhere of the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has entered into
significant transactions between related parties and

34. FAEALTRS
(a) KEaMEREHEMtS

PRREESN AEBEEHA
TABBENLTRE R

subsidiaries of the Company as follows: BETTIEARS
2024 2023
—E_MNE EC=F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Rental income (Note) MW A (5L 3,148,800 1,312,000
Note: The transactions were carried out with a related Mzt . ZERXZTHE RSB L

company which are controlled by a close family
member of Mr. Suek Ka Lun, Ernie.

Compensation of key management personnel

£2 —BMEETHRE
MBI —BEEAT
7o

(b) FEEEASZIRM

The remuneration of directors and other members of UTAESEREMTES
key management during the year was as follows: BABRFERZHBN
2024 2023
—EME — B =5
HK$ HK$
#ETT BT
Short-term benefits G HR1EF 8,814,000 8,754,000
Post-employment benefits BER B R 90,000 90,000
8,904,000 8,844,000
The remuneration of directors and key executives is EFERTETHRAEZH
determined by the remuneration committee having BT BB E AN B =12 1E 5
regard to the performance of individuals and market AT ZRIBETIZEEE
trends. F o
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35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. EXREMEERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the REEEEBEEEBEARAUBGRRER
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while ﬁ’_—F EREFELE B S
maximising the return to owners through the optimisation of BT RENEERERD
the debt and equity balance. =EREEA ARRK-
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which NREFB ZEBEAZEREREIE (8
includes amount due to a related company and bank j% MIsFE26 27D R B Z RN
borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 disclosed in THER_E_=F+_"H4
notes 26 and 27, respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents _—{— HZEN—RBIREEA SR
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising BERETEE NGESsEIRS
share capital and reserves. ZE) MARBEE ANEL#ER
(BIFER AN K (Rt ) AR AK
The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on REEZEEBFENTE AR
a continuous basis taking into account the cost of capital and B EHNZEBEEANANKLEASE
the risk associated with the capital. The Group will balance its ZSFE B8 2 B [ o AN EE [ i i 38
overall capital structure through new share issues, repurchase TR -BORORETHED
of shares and the issue of new debt or the redemption of the EoIRAEEE A HEREE AL
existing debt. 1o
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior RNEE  REFIREE FFEHIE
year. Riho
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36. T H
Categories of financial instruments SR T A ZEER
2024 2023
—ENE —E=5F
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Financial assets EREE
Equity instruments at FVTOCI FRHMEEWARATE
SRz IRAT A 13,087,402 22,193,495
Financial assets at FVTPL ERBEREATEIRS
TREE 9,488,068 15,770,920
Financial assets at amortised cost ~ H#IHEMAFTEL TMEE 356,482,474 358,510,168
Financial liabilities Edo 3=RE
Amortised cost HIEp A 354,575,387 232,209,961
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RN+ _A=+—HLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include equity
instruments at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, trade and
other receivables and deposits, loans receivable, pledged bank
deposits, short-term bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other payables and accruals, amount due to a non-
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary, bank borrowings and
lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest
rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The directors of the Company manage and monitor these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk. In addition, certain trade
receivables, bank balances, short-term bank deposits,
trade payables and lease liabilities of the Group are
denominated in RMB, USD and HK$, the currencies
other than the functional currency of the respective
group entities as disclosed in notes 20, 22, 23 and 24
respectively.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, directors of the Company
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(1)

Currency risk (Continued)

The Group's intra-group balances do not form part of
the net investment in foreign operations. The carrying
amounts of the foreign currency denominated intra-
group balances which have been eliminated in the
consolidated financial statements of certain subsidiaries
of which the functional currency is HK$ and RMB at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

36. T A (&)

MIERAREEBRIZREER (8)
H 15 E kR (5B)

(i  EERE(E

NEBEEBSERTEN
ﬁ?l\%%%@&fﬁ’]—%ﬂ
DoBRETHERSHR
u%mﬁkﬁﬁﬁm*ﬁ
ERETHE QB
G 75 ¥R I By DASK

Bt ENEBEBERNIR

ETEQD—F :
2024 2023
—TTE —EI=F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT

Net amounts to companies QB ARERET
denominated in FHERENIE

RMB against HK$ (35,077,895) (21,238,434)

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities

at the end of the reporting period are approximately as
follows:

REBLONESHEZEHE
BEEREBEERERS H
RZBRREESIINT

Lease liabilities Monetary assets Monetary liabilities
T aREE aRak

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

ZECmE - ZECmE ZFCC ZECmE ZEICSF

HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS

AR oo AR A AR A

USD against HK$ ETRER - - 101,640,000 94,663,000 - -

HKS against RMB ETRARS 33,645,000 34,614,000 3,098,000 2,122,000 - -
RMB against HKS ARERET - -

4,211,000 647,000 2,497,000 4,285,000
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

0
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Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Since the exchange rate of HK$ is pegged with USD,
the Group does not expect any significant movements
in the USD/HK$ exchange rates.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a
10% (2023: 10%) increase and decrease in functional
currency of respective group entity against relevant
foreign currencies (other than USD) and all other
variables were held constant. 10% (2023: 10%) is
the sensitivity rate used and represents management's
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items, and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period for a 10% (2023: 10%)
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
below indicates an increase in post-tax loss for the
year where functional currency of respective group
entity strengthen 10% (2023: 10%) against foreign
currencies. For a 10% (2023: 10%) weakening of
functional currency of respective group entity against
foreign currencies, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the result for the year.
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Impact of Impact of
HK$ RMB
BTZEE ARBZHE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
2024 —E-mE
Decrease in loss for the year FEE1ERE (2,551,000) (2,781,000)
2023 EBC=F
Decrease in loss for the year FEBERD (2,713,000) (2,077,000)
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M+ A=+—HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
primarily relates to variable-rate pledged bank deposits,
variable-rate short-term bank deposits, bank balances
and variable-rate bank borrowings as at 31 December
2024 and 2023. The Group is also exposed to fair
value interest rate risk relates primarily to the fixed-
rate loans receivable, fixed-rate pledged bank deposits,
fixed-rate bank borrowings and lease liabilities as at 31
December 2024 and 2023. The Group has not used any
derivative instruments in order to mitigate its exposure
associated with fluctuations relating to interest cash
flows. However, the directors of the Company monitor
interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary
actions when significant interest rate exposure is
anticipated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NE+_A=+—HIEEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(1) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Total interest revenue/income from financial assets that
are measured at amortised cost during the years ended

36.

ERMIA (@
BRI EIE B R REUR ()

5 E Bz ()
(i) FFEELRE &)

RIE_WNER_ETE-=
E+-_B=+—HBL=E

31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows: B REZBE#EIBERAFTE
TEMEEZFBEWRT
UTAKEZBANT -
2024 2023
—E_EF TEC=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest revenue F) Bk &%
Financial assets at BB AT E SR EE
amortised cost 4,982,330 5,672,580
Other income HEMgA
Financial assets at BEERASTECEMERE
amortised cost 6,458,256 6,000,913
Total interest income FE WA LEZE 11,440,586 11,673,493

Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured
at FVTPL during 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as

\—V—EE&—V——
F+Z“R=+—H Ak

follows: FiBERRAFEEY RS
EZEHMEBEMNEMRE
2024 2023
—E_mEg —EB=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Financial liabilities at BEENASEr TRIBE
amortised cost 4,803,420 4,188,174
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The management of the Group considers that the
Group's exposure to future cash flow risk on variable-
rate bank balances and pledged bank deposits as
a result of the change of market interest rate is
insignificant and thus variable-rate bank balances
and pledged bank deposits are not included in the
sensitivity analysis.

The impact on the Group's cash flow is due in part
to its sensitivity to interest rate which has been
determined based on the exposure to the variable-rate
bank borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of asset outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis points increase or decrease is used which
represents management'’s assessment of the reasonable
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2023: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$403,000
(2023: HK$285,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
bank borrowings.
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36.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of listed
equity investments in Hong Kong as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses on listed equity investments
in Hong Kong during the year have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end
of the reporting period. For sensitivity analysis purpose,
the sensitivity rate considers at 10% in the current year.
If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year
would decrease/increase by approximately HK$792,000
(2023: HK$1,317,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of held-for-trading investments.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables and deposits, contract assets, loans
receivable, pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposits,
bank balances and financial guarantee contracts as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets and financial guarantee contracts
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets, except that the credit risks associated with
loans receivable is mitigated because they are secured over
properties located in Hong Kong.
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36.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of the
Company have delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any
new customer, the Group uses an internal credit rating system
to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Except for (i) debtors who are credit-
impaired; and (ii) customers with outstanding significant
balances exceeding HK$2,500,000 and relevant contract
assets; which are assessed for impairment individually, the
remaining trade receivables and contract assets are grouped
into four internal credit rating buckets (namely: low risk,
medium risk, high risk and doubtful) based on shared credit
risk characteristics by reference to repayment histories for
recurring customers and current past due exposure for the
new customers. The contract assets have substantially the
same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same
type of contracts. Limits and scoring attributed to customers
are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are
in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

Net reversal of impairment loss allowance of HK$252,472
(2023: net impairment loss allowance of HK$380,190)
and HK$342,036 (2023: net impairment loss allowance
of HK$354,813) have been recognised in respect of trade
receivables and contract assets, respectively, during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Loans receivable

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of the
Company have delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, interest rate offered to customers and
collaterals received. Monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
The Group has concentration of credit risk as 63% (2023:
53%) of the total loans receivable was due from two (2023:
three) independent third parties of total of approximately
HK$19,400,000 (2023: HK$25,402,000). Loans receivable are
assessed individually.

The directors of the Company estimate the estimated loss rates
of loans receivable based on historical credit loss experience of
the debtors as well as the fair value of the collateral pledged
by the customers to the loans receivable. For those loans
receivable secured by properties located in Hong Kong with
aggregate amount of HK$16,074,963 (2023: HK$29,171,479),
the directors of the Company considered the credit risk is low
in view of the fair value of the collaterals are higher than the
carrying amounts of the respective loans receivable. The Group
has not recognised a loss allowance for the loans receivable as
a result of these collaterals.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Loans receivable (Continued)

Gross carrying amount of loans receivable amounting to
HK$15,600,000 (2023: HK$15,600,000) as at 31 December
2024, which is secured by the entire issued share capital and
guaranteed by the shareholder of the borrower. The Group has
recognised net impairment allowance of HK$278,972 (2023:
net reversal of impairment allowance of HK$338,520) during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Gross carrying amount of loans receivable amounting to
HK$3,045,000 (2023: HK$3,514,080) is unsecured as at 31
December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, a counterparty
with carrying amount of approximately HK$3,045,000 (in
which interest receivables of approximately HK$45,000 are
past due) defaulted in interest repayment and no settlement
was made for the outstanding balances during the year
ended 31 December 2024. In view of the continuous non
repayment from the debtor, an additional impairment losses of
HK$2,960,100 on this credit-impaired debtor during the year
ended 31 December 2024. Also, the Group has recognised
net reversal of impairment allowance of HK$50,854 on
the remaining loans receivable during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Loans receivable (Continued)

Net impairment loss allowance of HK$3,239,072 (2023: Net
reversal of impairment loss allowance of HK$389,374) has
been recognised in respect of these loans receivable during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make individual assessment on other receivables
and deposits based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The directors of the Company believe that there is no material
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of other
receivables and deposits. The Group assessed the ECL for
other receivables and deposits were immaterial. Thus no loss
allowance was recognised.

Pledged bank deposits/short-term bank deposits/cash
and cash equivalents

The Group only transacts with reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies and
therefore the directors of the Company consider the risk of
default is low. The Group uses 12-month ECL to perform the
assessment under ECL on pledged bank deposits, short-term
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents individually based
on the average loss rate by reference to credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies. The Group assessed
the ECL for pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents were immaterial. Thus no loss
allowance was recognised.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Pledged bank deposits/short-term bank deposits/cash
and cash equivalents (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

36. &RIT A (48)
BT E G S IE BAE R BUE (48)

FEmRE
EE#FRITZ

R IEFFIE ()
K ITHIRIT A

S RBeEREeEE (&)

REBREE

TEER

Trade receivables/

BRI EEEU

Other financial

Internal credit rating Description contract assets assets

- - 85 BENHE,/ .
AN EETR an BNEE HthEmEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does ~ Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL

not have any past-due amounts

not credit-impaired

R HFEFNENRBRE B REREEATIE PHRAEERE-
REREERE
Medium risk Debtor has past-due balance overdue less than 90 days Lifetime ECL -
as at year end not credit-impaired
kR BHARERER B DI0H B HEER FHRREERE-
REREERE
High risk Debtor has past-due balance overdue more than 90 Lifetime ECL -
days as at year end not credit-impaired
BER BHARERER BHRBE0RNBRER FHIREERRE-
AEREEHE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL -
since initial recognition through information not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources
je2 EERRBMEEDURBELN EBARINE 2HBRRESHE-
BERAEZER) AEREEHE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired  Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
B mEETNAHEECHREERE EHRBEERE-
BHEEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe  Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
6] BEBETNEBABARENYBRREEAEET MWEEHESE

557 B & PR [ B BARUR

+?NH%%1T%

12-month ECL

+_EABEEES
B

12-month ECL

+?ﬂﬁﬁ%% 15

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired

SHEIES R
AHREERE

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

EHRBEERE-
BHREEERE

Amount is written off

HHAREER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ T NME+_/B=+—HILEE
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. QEEIE (,‘E)
Financial risk management objectives and policies MEAGSIEEEREE (&)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE R #EFEE (48)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's TRIEFMI I AERESHEE
financial assets (trade receivables, other receivables and (B 5 EW = I,E SHithE W E s
deposits, loans receivable, pledged bank deposits, short-term R - EWEF BEHIET
bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents) and contract assets, A EHHETEF R &R
which are subject to ECL assessment: TEE) REHNEEN TEfé\ 2 Bz
WO ZEEMEEBETEP
SRR -
External Internal
credit credit 12-month or
rating ratin lifetime ECL Gross carrying amounts
%"Iﬂnﬁ REEE i
B +ZEAREBRBEESE A
2024 2023
—EomE “BCCF
Notes HKS HK$
i3 BT BT
Financial assets at amortised cost i sHF A st R SR B &
Trade receivables ERENTIE 20 NA (note 1) Lifetime ECL (collective assessment) 90,938,396 72,853,756
TER (Ht1) HEEHAEESE ERIR)
(note 1) Lifetime ECL (individual assessment) 39,613,828 33,862,380
(1) 2HRAEEFE @ERR)
Other receivables and deposits ey HEA 20 NA (note 2) 12-month ECL 13,691,426 9,073,483
TER (zt2) +ZERRHEERSE
Loans receivable REWER 21 NA Low risk 12-month ECL 16,074,963 29,171,479
TER EER +ZERRHEERSE
High risk 12-month ECL 15,600,000 19,114,080
BER +ZERRHEERE
Loss Credit-impaired 3,045,000 -
F# BHEEERE
Pledged bank deposits BERETER 22 Aorabove  NA 12-month ECL 63,728,570 76,274,798
AFIM TEE +ZERBHEERFR
Short-term bank deposits RERTER 22 BBB N/A 12-month ECL 60,063,824 20,297,256
TEE +ZERBHEEFSR
Cash and cash equivalents RehBs%E 22 BBB N/A 12-month ECL 12,962,314 30,119,227
TEE +ZERBHEEFSR
Aorabove  NA 12-month ECL 45,363,328 69,374,462
AZM £ ER +-ERRHEERSE
Other items HitvER
Financial guarantee contracts HHEREH 37 NA (note 3) 12-month ECL 18,020,413 133,890,661
TER (H1t3) +ZERRHEERE
Contract assets BHEE 17 NA (note 1) Lifetime ECL (collective assessment) 18,429,150 24,811,766
TER (1) PERMEESE ERID)
Low risk Lifetime ECL (individual assessment) 5,716,446 2,035,741
BER EEHEESE @R
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Apart of debtors with credit-
impaired and customers with outstanding significant balances
exceeding HK$2,500,000 and relevant contract assets, the
Group determines the ECL on these items collectively with
reference to past default experience for recurring customers
and current past due exposure for new customers.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers in relation to
its Group's operation. Customers with outstanding significant
balances exceeding HK$2,500,000 and relevant contract
assets with gross carrying amounts of HK$39,613,828 (2023:
HK$33,862,380) and HK$5,716,446 (2023: HK$2,035,741)
respectively as at 31 December 2024 were assessed
individually. The following table provides information about
the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and contract
assets which are assessed collectively as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

ERMIA (@
BRI EIE B R REUR ()

1= B /m 52 B B B 5T 1S (48)

ENEZRERERANEE
FERXRAEBYBREENS
IEKEF A REHAMEE
BEAEHRERE -FREHIRGE
ERENEBBERRRRERZEER
#EERB182,500,0008 T E K
BREGNEEN REAMZSF
EERBESREBMEEZFNETE
BUERAMERRFEBIAN
THRERETERIGEERRE

rAREBEERREEZ I
Do AEBMAEEEREREN
ERRARABEETR KEE

B AR HRIBIB2,500,0008 TR
BERGHNEENBERETRENR T
ZMmME+ZB=+—8%3%
39,613,828 (ZE_=
33,862,380 1) 525,716,44678 7T
(ZBZ=%:2,035741387T) 0
HERBETEBF G TRIEMH
ERHEREWREREHNEE
CEINERZZEI=F+TH
=t+—HER2PEREEERE R
HIREERE) £8:TH NEE
B OB EEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. TR T H (88)
Financial risk management objectives and policies BMERAGESIEEEREE (B
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE R #EFEE (48)
Notes: (Continued) Mzt - (&)
1. (Continued) 1. (#8)
2024 —E-ME
Gross carrying amount HERMEE
Average Trade Contract
loss rate receivables assets
Internal credit rating REEETR THEsEE B 5 TR BNEE
% HK$ HK$
BT BT
Low risk 1B LB 0.3 59,051,390 11,157,868
Medium risk & s 0.4 27,704,858 5,611,338
High risk = AR 5.0 4,182,148 1,659,944
90,938,396 18,429,150
2023 —B=F
Gross carrying amount HARmE
Average Trade Contract
loss rate receivables assets
Internal credit rating REBE B4R RS SF S ES H 5 EWEIE EHNEE
% HK$ HK$
BT BT
Low risk KRR 0.27 36,158,347 11,480,231
Medium risk A& B 1.97 33,193,438 7,360,304
High risk = 2 b 2.83 3,501,971 5,971,231
72,853,756 24,811,766
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M HwRMEE

4= A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

ME-E

M+ A=+—HILEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(Continued)

The estimated loss rates on trade receivables are estimated
based on historical credit loss experience of the debtors and
study of other corporates’ default and recovery data from
international credit-rating agencies including Moody's and
Standard and Poor’s, and are adjusted for forward-looking
information (for example, the forecasted default rate expected
by the international credit-rating agencies) that is available
without undue cost or effort. The contract assets have the
same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the
same type of contracts would apply the same internal credit
rating and loss rate. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors and contract assets is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
provided net reversal of impairment allowance of HK$244,340
(2023: net impairment allowance of HK$448,972) and net
reversal of impairment allowance of HK$304,995 (2023: net
impairment allowance of HK$17,245) for trade receivables and
contract assets respectively, based on the collective assessment
during the year ended 31 December 2024. Net reversal of
impairment allowance of HK$8,132 (2023: net reversal of
impairment allowance of HK$68,782) and net reversal of
impairment allowance of HK$37,041 (2023: net impairment
allowance of HK$337,568) was provided respectively for
trade receivables and contract assets which are assessed
individually with outstanding significant balances exceeding
HK$2,500,000.

ERMIA (@
MBEREERRRBE (&

1= B /m 52 B B B 5T 1S (48)
Mz : ()

(&

B BUWRIENES BERL A
REWERRN TEAAF M EB A
BREEEREERKEBIREE
TR (BERBENEELER)
LR E MR BEL KU i
EITRME MM LIHBET
B8 % B A G 7 BT EUS RO AT HE
MER (GIMEFRE SRR
WA FRREOE) FLUHEE-
BHNEERMERERESNNES
PR IE BB K EARR A B B 4
B W fE AR R B RS E 5T AR &
EEX-EEEENERZE
LR RE A AR EPRR R
BHNEEMNRBE -

HE_Z-_MNF+ZB=4+—
HIEFE AEERBEHEEZT
T ME+ZBA=+—HILEEE
ERTEREZERTERELN
BES IR AEREFERRDF
RE244,3408m (T2 Z=F | &
G B4 3 38448,97238 70) RAAE
B B[O F 8E304,9958 T (&
T=FRERESEE17.2458
70) c BB B G E SR EES
KAEER1B152,500,00058 TR E 57
FEW IR GO E ETHRRER
RSP 3E8,1328 T (2=
F R ERERDIFEE68,782/8
70) e fE 5 5 5[0 B 5837,041
BT (CEBE=F | EREPE
337,568%7T) ©
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. FTA (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies EEAMEIEEERBE (48)

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE &R EFFE (E)

Notes: (Continued) Hiat : (48

2. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the 2. MAXEERREEMS  &~&E
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit risk EEAAREN T EEERR S
has increased significantly since initial recognition. BRI ST ESIEM.
2024 —E-mE

Not past due/

no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
K@,
B  EEEEEBERR #Et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT AT
Financial assets at HBEERAtEZ
amortised cost EMEE
Other receivables and deposits ~ EftEWIE KR ] & - 13,691,426 13,691,426
2023 TET=fF
Not past due/
no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
F@fs
B BEEERER st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Financial assets at BEERAtEZ
amortised cost EMEE
Other receivables and deposits ~ EAMEWRIE R ] & - 9,073,483 9,073,483
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M HwRMEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

ME-E

M+ A=+—HILEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts as disclosed in note 37, the
maximum amount that the Group has guaranteed under the
respective contracts was HK$18,020,413 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: HK$133,890,661). At the end of the reporting
period, the management of the Group has performed
impairment assessment and concluded that there has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the
financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance
for financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. Based on
the assessment of the management, the ECL on financial
guarantee contracts is insignificant in view of the loss given
default in these contracts is insignificant as a result of the
pledged properties by counterparties.

ERMIA (@
MBEREERRRBE (&

1= B /m 52 B B B 5T 1S (48)
Mz : ()

M7 EZMBEERELN

SO ARERR _Z_NE+
A=+—HmMERGNERNR
E4£%718,020,4138 1 (ZF
=4 1 133,890,661 7T) o A ER
Sk cEEEEBEETR
Bt TERABRBERELN
ZAEEER LR (5 B AR R
KIZHE A0 o R > AR EE EEITHIRS
BEREANEEEBEERBESE
R+ ZEABHEEFEZSE
FTE-ERNBEE T #EiE
FEERESNBIEFYES
LEEANEBYNAKRTEAN F
LB EREANTBHEERE
WREK o
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BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEE
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. TRITH (ﬁg)
Financial risk management objectives and policies BMERAGESIEEEREE (B
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE R #EFEE (48)
The following table shows the movement in allowance for ECL TRITSTESERZTIE L
that has been recognised for trade receivables, contract assets BENEKREDNEIINIBHREE
and loans receivable. BB EH o
Loans Loans
Trade Contract receivable receivable
receivables  assets under under under
under lifetime lifetime ECL 12-month lifetime ECL
ECL (not credit- (not credit- ECL (not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) impaired) impaired) Total
B2 HEN HEHER BT-EREH BEHES
FEBRIIRY EEHRIRN EEHEIEN SEBRTIRD
B ARKRE BNEE EWER EWER
(RER (RER (RER (BER
ZERE) EERME) EERE) EERE) fazt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B B B
As at 1 January 2023 RZE-=ZF—-F—H 722,114 159,275 930,302 - 1,811,691
Changes due to financial R —A—BHER0
instruments recognised SHMTAHBRNES.
as at 1 January:
~ Impairment loss reversed ~ — B &I ERE (722,114) (159,275) (403,524) - (1,284,913)
New financial assets originated 32 E4E S E & 1,102,304 514,088 14,150 - 1,630,542
Exchange adjustments ERHE (12,479) (958) - - (13,437
Asat 31 December 2023  RIZI=H
+ZB=+-H 1,089,825 513,130 540,928 - 2,143,883
Changes due to financial RR—B— BN
instruments recognised SHMTAHBRNEE .
as at 1 January:
- Transferred to —ERETEHR
credit-impaired EEHE - - (84,900) 84,900 -
— Net impairment loss —BRERAE
recognised BEAE - - 293,520 2,960,100 3,253,620
— Net impairment loss —BBEHE
reversed BiERE (1,089,825) (513,130) (14,548) - (1,617,503)
New financial assets originated 3i&B4E SR EE 837,353 171,094 - - 1,008,447
Exchange adjustments ERHE (18,178) (5,429) - - (23,607)
As at 31 December 2024 RZIZZME
+-B=+—-H 819,175 165,665 735,000 3,045,000 4,764,840
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im e SRR R M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z_NE+_A=+—HILEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are mainly due to:

36.

ERT A (8)
MIERAREEBRIZREER (8)

/5,5/7 R B EF A C#E)

‘f’ A= —f’ EIJJ:fﬁEE’J,%%WE
WRIBEGEEEEESEEHAN

(Decrease) increase in lifetime ECL

SHTAEAE E SR (AL 151

2024 2023
—E_E TET=&
Not credit- Not credit-
impaired impaired
RHREERE FHIREERE
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivable with a gross carrying B 5 FEWIBAEEREE
Settlement in trade receivables BEYREEEREES
with gross carrying amounts 106,716,1367871 (Z =
HK$106,716,136 (2023: =4 193,003,027
HK$93,003,027) since 7T) 2 B 5 EUWGRIE
beginning of the year (1,089,825) (722,114)
Impairment allowance recognised for  FERFIEREE FIE
new originated trade receivables WRIE (MEREES
with gross carrying amounts 130,552,2248 75 (ZF
HK$130,552,224 T =% 1:106,716,136%8
(2023: HK$106,716,136) 7)) HESRZ B
during the year 837,353 1,102,304
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AR M BRI R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NE+_A=+—HIEEE
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for contract assets during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are mainly due to:

36.

ERT A (8)
MIERAREEBRIZREER (8)

/5,5/7 R B EF A C#E)

—f— ﬁ —f— EthﬁE .:ln’]ﬁ

(Decrease) increase in lifetime ECL
ZHATERRS E /518 (R2L) 1

Not credit-impaired

FHREERE
2024 2023
—E-OmE —E=%F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Settlement in contract assets with gross B E4IEAS HAREREE A
carrying amounts HK$26,847,507 26,847,507/8 7T
(2023: HK$30,424,210) since the (B =%:
beginning of the year 30,424,210 7T)
ZENEE (513,130) (159,275)
Impairment allowance recognised FERNMERESNEE
for new originated contract (fEREER
assets with gross carrying 24,145,59678 7T
amounts HK$24,145,596 (2023: (B =%"
HK$26,847,507) during the year 26,847,507 7T) FERR
ZRERE 171,094 514,088
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A

mh 3

M HwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

36.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for loans receivable during the

ERT A (8)
MIERAREEBRIZREER (8)

15 B R EF S ()
REE_Z_NFAR_ZE-=F

years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are mainly due to: +—_B=+—HUItEE EKE
MHEEEEESETEAN .
Increase in 12-month ECL
+ZE A FRERE EE5181E M
Not credit-impaired
FHREERE
2024 2023
—TmE “BC=HF
HK$ HK$
#HIT BIT
Settlement in loans receivable with a B E4JE4E EARREES
gross carrying amount HK$469,080 469,08078 7T
(2023: HK$10,229,498) since (CEBEZ=F:
beginning of the year 10,229,498787T)
Z P E R (14,548) (403,524)
Impairment allowance recognised for Bt N EIEMER 2 B E
- new financial assets originated BE-8BEZZ"=F
with gross carrying amounts +ZA=+—HIEFE
HK$8,231,870 during the year 4BERTH{E738,231,8708
ended 31 December 2023 TR RESMEE = 14,150

The estimated loss rates on loans receivable are estimated
based on historical credit loss experience of the debtors and
study of other corporates’ default and recovery data from
international credit-rating agencies including Moody’s and
Standard and Poor’s, and are adjusted for forward-looking
information (for example, the forecasted default rate expected
by the international credit-rating agencies) that is available

without undue cost or effort.

BWREMZESHBERDERE
BARNBREEEBEERKER
EEFRIEE (BEBERRE

B HHEHMEEEN KRB
BRAVR TR R b 5t WL B AT
8% a4 5055 77 RN I EAS BI AT
EEER (BN ERE & 5T R %
BRI TERIE A LER) fFHEH

o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

36.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

As disclosed in note 21, the loans receivable with gross
carrying amounts of HK$3,045,000, was defaulted in
repayment and the management of the Group considered
that the credit risk on these loans receivable was significantly
increased and also started to assess the ECL on these loans
receivable from 12-month ECL to lifetime ECL during the
year ended 31 December 2024. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group has recognised additional
impairment loss of HK$2,960,100 on these loans receivable.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages its liquidity risk by monitoring and
maintaining a level of cash and cash equivalents secured
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensure compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the financial institutions choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other financial liabilities and
lease liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from prevailing market rate at
the end of the reporting period.
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MBEREERRRBE (&

1= B /m 52 B B B 5T 1S (48)

AANMIEE21PR I ABEBREE A
3,045,0008 T 2 EINE KR 1%
RBFEE BAEERSEERAZ
EEWERZEERMBEY
m R E_T_MW&E+_4
—t+—HIEFEERZEERKRER
ZHEBEEFERT _EREE
HEEFEBALHEREE
EE-REE_ZT_MWE+_A4
—t+—HLEEE - xEBEEMZ
LR EREREIINBERSIE
2,960,100 7T

TEEZ R

rERBEERBET AR ZTTE
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im e SRR R M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEFE

- = ==
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. ERITH (8)
Financial risk management objectives and policies MEAGSIEEEREE (&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) BB R ()
Liquidity tables BB
Weighted Carrying
average 3 months 1 year 2 years Total amount at
effective Within to to to Over undiscounted 31 December
interest rate  On demand 3 months 1 year 2 years 5 years Syears  cash flows 2024
ZECmE
B +ZA
mETs RenE =t-A2
f{ES HER Z@AR Z@ERE-% —EEME WEERE BRLE L kEfE
% HK$ HKS HKS HKS HK$ HKS HKS HKS
AT A BT AT AT A BT AT
2024 Z3IpE
Trade payables BRREATE N/A = 57,556,051 = = = = 57,556,051 57,556,051
FER
Other payables and accruals AR RERE A N/A - 133,676,564 - - - - 133676564 133,676,564
FER
Amount due to a non-controlling Ef-BHBAR N/A
shareholder of a subsidiary —FERRRE TER  15947,268 - - - - - 15947268 15,947,268
Bank borrowings RiTEE 56 96,415,460 10,882,989 11,747,928 31,827,696 = - 150,874,073 147,395,504
Lease liabilities HEEE 48 - 3,388,673 10,137,314 6,501,852 9,167,672 38,036,000 67,231,511 50,122,195
Financial quarantee contracts (note) BBERaS () NA 18020413 - - - - - 18020413 -
FER

130,383,141 205,504,277 21,885,242 38,329,548 9,167,672 38,036,000 443305880 404,697,582

Weighted Carrying
average 3 months 1 year 2 years Total amount at
effective Within to to to Over  undiscounted 31 December

interestrate  On demand 3 months 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows 2023

ZECCE

RER 128

METH B&fig  =t-Hz

BIRA= BEX AR ZERE-E& —EEME WEELE BBRE #E KEE

% HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS

AT AT AT A AT AT A AT

2023 ZEIZE

Trade payables ERETE NA - 55,541,958 1,989,695 - - - 57531653 57531653
TER

Other payables and accruals HftEfTIEREN B NA - 64629923 - - - - 64629923 64629923
Sl

Amount due to a non-controlling Ef-EHBAR NA 16,499,835 - - - - - 16499835 16,499,835
shareholder of a subsidiary —EERERNE TEB

Bank borrowings HiTEE 66 68380802 1,119,176 2,126,391 8312746 16754473 - 96693588 93,548,550

Lease liabilities HEEE 46 - 3646466 10,690,836 9,680,125 7040000 40544000 71601427 53,373,038

Financial guarantee contracts (note) HHBERES (D) WA 133,890,661 - - - - - 133,890,661 -

TER

218771298 124937523 14,806,922 17,992,871 23,794,473 40,544,000 440,847,087 285,582,999
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

36.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liguidity tables (Continued)

Note:

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts were
the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if the mortgage loans
are defaulted by the counterparties. Based on expectations at the end
of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than
not that no amount will be payable under that arrangement. However,
this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of
the counterparties would default on the relevant loans under the
guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by banks which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are included in the “on demand”
time band in the above maturity analysis. The carrying amount
of the bank borrowings amounted to HK$96,415,460 (2023:
HK$68,380,802) as at 31 December 2024. Taking into account
the Group’s financial position and assets pledged for the bank
borrowings, the directors of the Company do not believe that
it is probable that the financial institutions would exercise the
discretionary rights to demand immediate payment. As at 31
December 2024, the directors of the Company believed that
such bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
The aggregate principal and interest cash outflows amounted
to HK$103,359,764 (2023: HK$76,901,742) as at 31
December 2024. The repayment schedule based on the
scheduled repayment dates is set out below:
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AR e B Rk R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

36.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

ERMIA @)
MBEREERRRBE (&

FEEZmEE (B)

2024 2023
—EWME BT
HKS$ HK$
BT BIT
Within one year —FR 71,089,993 57,305,743
Over one year but less than two years  BiB—FEB/ LR WE 7,934,744 2,720,091
Over two years but less than five years BBEMEEB/DRAE 24,335,027 6,782,867
Over five years BiaE A F - 10,093,041
103,359,764 76,901,742
Fair value measurements of financial instruments EHTEREZAFEZE
This note provides information about how the Group s IRt AR EE WA BT 18
determines fair values of various financial assets. THEEANTFEZER -
Fair value measurement and valuation process RN EEFEREAEERE

The financial director of the Company is responsible to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and key inputs
for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1
inputs are not available, the Group engaged independent
qualified professional valuers to perform the valuation. The
financial director works closely with independent qualified
professional valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and key inputs to the model. Financial director
reports to executive directors semi-annually to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

Information about the valuation techniques and key inputs
used in determining the fair value of various assets are
disclosed below.

AARHHREEEEEEEN
BETERAFEFETEZRA
iz o

RESAEENRFER  ~&EH
AHEHAESHBER TERATHZA
BRIEB - RAEESTF—REA
Bk AEBRZEBIGER
HEGEMETHE -MHRERE
HBUSERERLEMRERES
RELBENGEER ERELR
TEHABE - UHRESFF
MARTEFERINEEEELT
BEXREBRA -

BEREEFREEATEFAN
HMESERIEHABIBENER
PSR SIREE °
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im e SRR R M E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these financial assets
are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and
key inputs used).

36.

T A (8)
EMTIAZAFES= (B

FEFEZEALE ERERL

E EFEZEHEEZLF

rEBBDEHMEENRSHR
BAFEFE- T%?‘Juﬁﬁ%ﬁ?ﬂ
EZETMBEEATEREZE
B (LHEFRBGERMREE
WA o

Fair value as at Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 31 December hierarchy  and key input(s) Sensitivity
EHEE R+ZB=+—HZATE ATEER FHERNRIESARE HRE
2024 2023
—EomE “2T=E
HK$ HK$
AT BT
Investments in listed equity in Hong Kong 9,488,068 15,770,920 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active N/A
as financial assets at FVTPL market
PEABBBRARATEIRzEHE 1R BRETE EZEARE TEA
EZREBLTNRALE
Investments in equity securities 13,087,402 22,193,495 Level 3 Asset-based approach with key

established in Hong Kong, the PRC
and overseas measured at FVTOCI

BRZABARATEIRAEZNE £34R
B PE AL RAESEE
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inputs of

BES TZRAREAR

Fair value of the underlying A 10% increase/decrease

assets of the investees in the fair value of the

underlying assets of the

investees would result in
a HK$1,308,740 (2023:

HK$2,219,350) increase/
decrease in fair value.

RREFNEREEATE REREFNEMEELT

ELEF/TEI10% &
BATELF T8
1,308,740 75 (ZEZ=
12,219,350 70)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

im e SRR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

36. SRT A (B
TRTAZAFES=Z (B

BB T EEBHIEIR

Equity
instruments
at FVTOCI
BiEHEME2E
AR AT ETER
ZRRETH
HK$
BT
At 1 January 2023 A2 -=%—HF—H 22,285,289
Exchange adjustment BE 2 FE %L (91,794)
At 31 December 2023 N _E_=F+_A=+—H 22,193,495
Fair value loss charged to other BEMEEWANGRA T EERE
comprehensive income (9,000,000)
Exchange adjustment PE A EE (106,093)
At 31 December 2024 AR TMFE+"A=+—H 13,087,402
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during the RER B4R~ 24K K 5534k A
years. R B T o
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial 7K £E [F] 1 FE 15 BB A 214 Lt )
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a FHEAEZDHEERTHEE
recurring basis ZAFE

The directors of the Company estimate the fair value of its
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost using the discounted cash flows analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their fair values.

AABDESFHARRREARED
ittt BN AFTEZEME
EhktREBEZAFE

RRBIEERR BREBIH LT

ANGEEMBRREERZEMEE
Ez‘i\n?&ﬁéffzﬁﬁz@ﬁé—iﬁ NFE
RE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A

mh 3

MBHwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

37.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, A KENR (Bi=)
BPRAHE (“Zhongda Qingyuan”) entered into cooperation
agreements with banks, pursuant to which Zhongda Qingyuan
agreed to provide the transitional guarantees for the
mortgage loans granted to the purchasers of properties under
development for sale. Accordingly, the Group is required to
pay 5% to 12% out of the granted guarantees amount to the
banks as pledged bank deposits. As at 31 December 2024,
the guarantees given to banks by the Group in respect of the
mortgage loans granted to property purchasers amounted to
HK$18,020,413 (31 December 2023: HK$133,890,661) and
the pledged bank deposits paid to the banks amounted to
HK$1,504,319 (31 December 2023: HK$16,274,798).
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37.

MR

BHE_ZE_MFE+_HB=+—H
IEEE > P REIR CB&) BREA
B (M ARERE)) BHIRTTEI L& 1F
WE B PABFERERT
E#ER EP%%E’JEE&%&&&%
ERRMEMEEMEER FIL ) &
%l//azm%?*#ﬁé%ﬁm%
E1N2%FIRITIEACEFIRTE
RoR_E_WEFE+_B=+—
H > AEBREIEITEH ERF
MIERTFTYEEFNRBERS
%818,020,4138 7 (ZE =
+—-B=+—H :133,890,661%&
7o) REAIRITHEEFIRITF
M4 %81,504,319% T (CTE_=
F+-"B=+—H":16,274,798
B °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
—ERTF+ " BA=+—HLFE

BE

38.

RS J—

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 38. MMBEEEFFELXEENSH
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES Bk
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRV AAXEENNE ZEAE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- TEENEHFE giEReN
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are JEIRE & B TEFTELE DN
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be BEARSERENRAKIEESRE
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows @R AERGSREREHRERTD
as cash flows from financing activities. woEARE IFRESRENE
Fo
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings Total
HEaf RITEE k]
HK$ HK$ HK$
ABIT BT BT
At 1 January 2023 R_E_=F—F—H 67,698,111 111,214,278 178,912,389
Financing cash flows (note) RERERE (Wit (16,961,373) (20,705,167) (37,666,540)
Finance costs RO B A 2,337,173 4,188,174 6,525,347
Modifications &R 269,157 - 269,157
New lease entered HIVEiEish= 921,409 - 921,409
Exchange adjustments fE R (891,439) (1,148,735) (2,040,174)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+"F=+—H 53,373,038 93,548,550 146,921,588
Financing cash flows (note) MEBREME (Wit (14,760,241) 49,932,789 35,172,548
Finance costs 1% 1,981,356 4,803,420 6,784,776
Modifications 1&es 9,974,237 - 9,974,237
Exchange adjustments FERAE (446,195) (889,255) (1,335,450)
At 31 December 2024 RZEWE+_B=+—H 50,122,195 147,395,504 197,517,699
Note: The cash flows in relation to repayments for lease liabilities Mzt AR EaEMIRITENENERS

and bank borrowings and finance costs.

BIRERBURE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
RN+ "A=1+—HLEFE

BE

39.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December

2024 and 2023.

39. XEMBATZHE

KRBMBAENR B MMFR
—E=HF+"RA=+—HZ=

=3
1
=] o

Effective percentage

Place of Paidup  of issued share capital/
incorporation/ issued/registered registered capital held
Name of subsidiaries registration share capital by the Company Principal activities
FARFMFERTRE/
WEAE%E EMEI RS BRERT/HBRA AMESERASL IBEH
2024 2023
“gpE “TC-F
% %
Chung Tai Printing Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands HK$10,000 ordinary 100 100 Investment holding
RARHBIEEERAT ("BVI") 10,0008 & &R REER
RERUES
(HERLHEE))
Chung Tai Printing Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 ordinary 100 100 Investment holding
RRERIBRAT BA HK$500,000 deferred REER
non-voting
1,000 T ERR
500,000 TERRE
RIER:
AT ERAETREERAR The PRC RMB1,000,000 100 100 Testing of printing
(note 1) (Hz1) s registered capital products
AE#1,000,0007 ENRl iR
SRER
HWEER (RN BRRAT The PRC HK$30,000,000 100 100 Label and paper
(note 1) (B5#1) s registered capital products printing
30,000,000/ 7T BRERARRER
HAEEN
Chung Tai Printing (China) Hong Kong HK$1,000 ordinary 100 100 Investment holding
Company Limited Bl HK$10,000 deferred REZK
FARENR (FE) BRAF non-voting
1,000 T EER
10,0008t BE T
RIER
Chung Tai Smart Labelling Company Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100 100 Trading of label and
Limited BE 1ETLER printing products
RARREREBRAT BERBRIRIM
Chung Tai Printing (International) Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100 100 Trading of printing
Company Limited B TETEER products

RAER (EF) BRAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Effective percentage

39. XEMBATZH1E (@)

Place of Paidup  of issued share capital/
incorporation/ issued/registered registered capital held
Name of subsidiaries registration share capital by the Company Principal activities
FARFMBEEETRE
WEAERE AMAL MR BRERT/EREE AMEFERESL IBEH
2024 2023
ZEImE “ZC=F
% %
RERADR (R BIRAE The PRC HK$98,000,000 100 100 Label, packaging and
(note 1) (fz#1) e registered capital paper products
98,000,000 75 printing
SRER RE ORRERM
EIF
Delight Source Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 ordinary 100 100 Trading of printing
SIMBRAT /E 200,000 T & @K% products
BEHRm
Green Links Global Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100 100 Trading
- BIRERAT 5% TATEER BER
Star Entertainment (Universe) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100 100 Provision of artists
218% (RF) BRAR B TETEER management and
music licensing
services and sales of
music aloums
REEN\EEREY
RHARBRHEES
%R
Neway Group Assets Management Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100 100 Property management
Company Limited B TETLER and project
FEEREEEERERAT investment
WEEERERRE
Neway Smart Technology Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary 100 100 RFID printing products
(International) Company Limited oy 10,0007 75 & & % and RFID label
RERRRE ER) 5ERAF BIRSTIREDRIE @ &
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4o A
1177 [ |

BE

39.

— i —

e

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

MBHwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
mE+=A=+—HILER

Effective percentage

39. XEMBATZH1E (@)

Place of Paidup  of issued share capital/
incorporation/ issued/registered registered capital held
Name of subsidiaries registration share capital by the Company Principal activities
FARFMBEEETRE
WEAERE ML R BRERT/HRRA AMEXERAESL IBEH
2024 2023
ZEImE “ZC=F
% %
Neway Star Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary 100 100 Provision of music
HEREIRERAR 5E 10,0008 T BBRK licensing services,
sales of music
albums and
investment holding
REF LRS-
HESRER KRR
BTk
Neway Star Artiste Management Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary 100 100 Provision of artists
Limited A 10,0007 75 Z & % management
HRRESEEERAR services
B ANEERE
Showtimes (Asia) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100 100 Organisation and
BERA G BRAF B TATEER investment of
concerts and shows
EMRREREER
KR
Kingbay Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100 100 Securities trading
LREEBRAT &% BT EBR BERS
Grand Prospects Finance Hong Kong HK$100,000 ordinary 100 100 Money lending
International Limited B 100,000 T BB K WE
EXUBERERAT
Supreme Cycle Inc. BVI US$1 ordinary 100 100 Property investment
HERUHS [ESm=ral MERE

Neway Group Holdings Limited FE2&£EZERBMRAE | Annual Report 2024 F iR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A
177 [ |

M HwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

39.

— i —

RS J—

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

M+ A=+—HILEE

Effective percentage

39. XEMBATZH1E (@)

Place of Paidup  of issued share capital/
incorporation/ issued/registered registered capital held
Name of subsidiaries registration share capital by the Company Principal activities
FARFMBEEETRE
WEAERE AMAL MR BRERT/EREE AMEFERESL IBEH
2024 2023
ZEImE “ZC=F
% %
Zhongxing Guosheng (note 2) The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
FERE Hz2) f registered capital RERKR
A #2,000,00070
SRER
Zhongging (note 2) The PRC RMB2,000,000 60 60  Property development
HE (fi2) ] registered capital WEER
RMB2,000,000
SRER
Zhongda Qingyuan (note 1) The PRC HK$230,000,000 100 100 Property development
hRER WiET) I registered capital MEERE
230,000,000 7t
SHRER
Mercury Global Packaging & Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100 100 Trading of printing
Solutions Limited 5% TETLER products
AEEREZERAR BERM
Mecury Global Packaging Solutions United Kingdom GBP10,000 ordinary 100 100 Trading of printing
(UK) Limited HE 10,0005 52 EBR products
BB m
FYp R HEREEERAR The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Trading of printing
(note 1) (Hzt1) HE registered capital products
A E%2,000,00070 EEHRI®
SRER
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A

mh 3

MBHwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

39.

RN+ _A=+—HLFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notes:

(1) These subsidiaries are wholly foreign owned enterprises in the
PRC.

2) These subsidiaries are domestic-invested enterprises

established in the PRC.

The operations of all subsidiaries are the same as the place
of incorporation/registration, except that those subsidiaries
registered in BVI are primarily operated in Hong Kong.

Save for Chung Tai Printing Holdings Limited, which is directly
owned by the Company, all other subsidiaries are indirectly
owned by the Company.

The above table only includes those subsidiaries which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results of the Group for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of all subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length. The
deferred non-voting shares, which are not held by the Group,
practically carry no rights to dividends nor to receive notice of
nor to attend or vote at any general meeting of the relevant
companies or to participate in any distribution on winding up.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
the end of the year or at any time during the years.
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Ra MBI

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZNE+-B=1+—HIFE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. QBB RERTR
COMPANY
2024 2023
—E_ME TET=4F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERHEE
Investments in subsidiaries RRBABZEKRE 42,671,966 42,671,966
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE IS B [&8 A B 3R 18 629,607,502 726,493,251
672,279,468 769,165,217
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables, deposits and HEWHIE 5]
prepayments K FEAT =R I8 801,172 1,295,699
Cash and cash equivalents B KIS E 6,915,593 618,712
7,716,765 1,914,411
Liabilities afE
Current liabilities REAaRE
Other payables and accrued charges HMMEARIER
FESTER 672,194 838,741
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI EEYNEIESE 88,110,698 87,961,798
88,782,892 88,800,539
Net current liabilities MBBEPRE (81,066,127) (86,886,128)
Total assets less total liabilities WEEREAE 591,213,341 682,279,089
Capital and reserves BRR#E
Share capital [N 2,533,595 2,533,595
Reserves (Note) &% (WaL) 588,679,746 679,745,494
Total equity e R 591,213,341 682,279,089
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im e SRR R M E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z-_NE+ZA=+—HILEE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. AT HAF R AT (BB)
COMPANY (Continued)

Note: W
Reserves 53]
Capital
Share  redemption  Contributed Reorganisation Retained
premium reserve surplus reserve profits Total
RiVEE BErBRGEE BARER EfE REEF gt
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
o BT AT AT AT AT
At 1 January 2023 RIEZ=F
—H—H 368,851,377 62,400 103,571,033 19,782,427 259,590,973 751,858,210
Loss and total comprehensive expense  Z< FE 538 K 2 EIFE
for the year “ags - - - - (n2716)  (72,112,716)
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=F
+—-B=+—H 368,851,377 62,400 103,571,033 19,782,427 187,478,257 679,745,494
Loss and total comprehensive expense 7 £F 548 Kz
for the year 2 ER e - - - - (91,065,748 (91,065,748)
At 31 December 2024 RIZZ2ZIME
+—-A=+—H 368,851,377 62,400 103,571,033 19,782,427 96,412,509 588,679,746
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Principal Properties

FEWE

At 31 December 2024
A —EFE+_"_HB=+—H

A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

REYE

Location

bk

Group'’s effective

interest in

the properties
TEERYE
ZER R

Approximate
gross

floor area
BEAY IR E
ER

(sg. m)
(EHK)

Usage

A&

Category of
lease

HAER

Yuen Long Town Lot No. 292, 100%
Units 21, 22, 23, 41 and 77 of

1/F and the whole of 3/F,

Hop Yick Commercial Centre (Phase 1),

No. 33 Hop Choi Street, Yuen Long,

New Territories, Hong Kong

BB R TTEBAE M 3358

BmEERL (—H) —1822122

B NKTTFREMN R =IE2E

JCRATI I EZ2925%

No. 1801, 15/F, 100%
Block 4, Yard 89,

89 Jianguo Road, Chaoyang District,

Beijing, the PRC

FREIE REAR & 22 B B85k

8955 Fr4Ei2 15/ 1801 E

Block No.3 of an 100%
industrial complex erected on

land lot No. G08218-9 located at

No. 6275 Longgang Avenue,

Bao'an Village, Henggang Town,

Longgang District, Shenzhen, the PRC

R BRI BE e & 4% e $E

RENBERAE62755E 2

#15£G08218-95%

TEGREREE3E

Certain buildings located at Lot No. 100%
N32000004 of northern side of Lianhu

Industrial Park, Qingcheng District,

Qingyuan City, the PRC

AR HEBFRMBENEENEX

Bz ETERERY MERRSE

N320000045%)

1,063.82 Commercial

[GES

175.66  Commercial

[GES

13,245 Industrial

I

7,239.55 Industrial

I

Medium-term
lease

FRERFRAY

Medium-term
lease

FRERFRAY

Medium-term
lease

FRERFRAY

Medium-term
lease

FRERFRAY
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Principal Properties

E LY/ S

At 31 December 2024
A TENE+ "B =+—H

B. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR

SALE

Group's
effective
interests

in the

Location properties
FEERMEZ

ha EREL

Approximate
site area (sq.m)
BanBER
(FAX)

Total GFA
(sq.m)
BEEER
(FAK)

Stage of
construction

TRER

FEERPYE

Expected
completion
date

RERTRE

Usage

ikl

Category
of lease

RHER

Tiwo parcels of land designated 60%
located at Lot No. B19001-
1*1 and No. B19001-2*1 of
Villagers Committee of Lian
Tang Village, Dong Cheng
Sub-district Office, Qingcheng
District, Qingyuan City, the
PRC
Mgt REEEHAHE
ROENERERNTRS
BRVEETH (RERE
B19007-1413ER £819001-
2415%)

Certain buildings located at 100%
Lot No. N32000004 of

northern side of Lianhu

Industrial Park, Qingcheng

District, Qingyuan City, the

PRC

IR PERETAREEY
EXRLAIZETERY O
ERIE5EEN320000045%)

Certain buildings under 100%
construction located at Lot

No. N32000004 of northern

side of Lianhu Industrial Park,

Qingcheng District, Qingyuan

City, the PRC

IR AR AN EEN
EERLAZETEREEY

(¥R EB 32 N320000045%)

A parcel of land designated 100%
located at Lot No. N32000004
of northern side of Lianhu
Industrial Park, Qingcheng
District, Qingyuan City, the
PRC
m lﬁ/\q]l/ﬁ};ﬁ?/ﬁtﬁz[
ENEXESAZET I
(M 4B 3 55N3200000455)

5,853.40

Note (a)
)

Note ()
)

Note (b)
BizH(D)

To be determined
BET

36,981

13,765

To be determined
S

Not yet
developed

HARE

Completed
BT

In progress

B&H

Not yet
developed

HA%E
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To be
determined
BET

N/A
AER

On or before 30
June 2026

RIEZRE
~AZt+H
YA

Tobe
determined
HET

Mixed
Residential

Industrial Use
I£R8k

Industrial Use
T£R3%

Industrial Use

T4£A%

Medium-term
lease

mEED

Medium-term
ease

AR

Medium-term
lease

mEED

Medium-term
lease

hEED



Principal Properties

FEWE

At 31 December 2024
A —EFE+_"_HB=+—H

B. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE (Continued)

Note (a):

Note (b):

These buildings are located on a parcel of land with a
site area of 208,000 sq.m which is designated at Lot No.
N32000004 of northern side of Lianhu Industrial Park,
Qingcheng District, Qingyuan City, the PRC.

This portion of land is part and parcel of a piece of land
which has a total site area of approximately 208,000 sg.m.
The whole piece of land is developed in different stages,
among which certain buildings constructed thereon have
already been completed and sold to purchasers. There are
also certain unsold buildings which are either completed
or under construction on the land (details of which are set
out in the tables above), while the remaining portion of
the land is still undeveloped.

B.

FEXETYE (B

Hiata):

BraEb):

ZEEFTH AR — 18 # BE
HEEmANEENEXE
1648 2 B3 E #&208,000F /5
KZIEE T MERRES
N32000004%5%) °

B BB 73 4 #th 25 — 1@ 4B sth A
T849208,000F 75 Kz T #HY
BB Fe 3 158 o FEME 1 IR A [F]
MR EhETRIERER
WEFERITETES &%
T ETFEETERITNE
BRRRERT (BRIEHAH
MER) > MZLHERT D
A RER -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hEMBHE

RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 December
HE+_A=+—HALEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TECEF B R F ZEBI=HE —EmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FERT FET FAET
Revenue e 532,674 623,577 449,403 548,689 480,544
Loss before taxation PR RIS 18 (88,438) (11,752) (5,051) (74,717) (72,515)
Taxation (charge) credit RE D) K% 1,121 618 2,650 (7,355) (4,586)
Loss for the year KEBHE (87,317) (11,134) (2,401) (82,072) (77,101)
Attributable to: DR AL FEL :
Owners of the Company EATEEA (87,187) (10,706) (1,942) (81,962) (76,993)
Non-controlling interests FFPERR A R (130) (428) (459) (110) (108)
(87,317) (11,134) (2,401) (82,072) (77,101)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENREE
As at 31 December
®K+=-—B=+—8
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TECEF —EC—F R F ZEBCI=HE —ElmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FET FAET FHET
Total assets BHEAE 1,126,722 1,156,303 1,143,761 1,068,154 1,077,092
Total liabilities BEEH (296,794) (324,245) (355,620) (345,352) (451,303)
Total equity TERIBEE 829,928 832,058 788,141 722,802 625,789
Equity attributable to owners AT HAE A
of the Company FE(LHE S 833,202 835,714 791,974 726,639 629,606
Non-controlling interests FEERR S (3,274) (3,656) (3,833) (3,837) (3,817)
829,928 832,058 788,141 722,802 625,789
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